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MACY’S, INC. IS ONE OF THE NATION’S PREMIER RETAILERS.

Macy’s, Inc. is one of the nation’s premier retailers, with fiscal 2018 sales of
$24.971 billion and approximately 130,000 employees. The company operates
approximately 680 department stores under the nameplates Macy’s and Bloomingdale’s,
and nearly 190 specialty stores that include Bloomingdale’s The Outlet, Bluemercury,
Macy’s Backstage and STORY. Macy’s, Inc. operates stores in 43 states, the District of
Columbia, Guam and Puerto Rico, as well as macys.com, bloomingdales.com
and bluemercury.com. Bloomingdale’s stores in Dubai and Kuwait are operated by
Al Tayer Group LLC under license agreements. Macy’s, Inc. has corporate offices in
Cincinnati, Ohio, and New York, New York.



TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

2018 was an important year for Macy’s, Inc. as we changed the trajectory
of the company and returned to comparable sales growth. All three brands -
Macy’s, Bloomingdale’s and Bluemercury — delivered solid results for the

full year.

Macy’s, Inc. delivered positive full-year comparable sales growth for the first
time in four years. 2018 comparable sales on an owned basis increased by
1.7%. On an owned plus licensed basis, comparable sales for 2018 increased
by 2.0%. 2018 earnings per diluted share were $3.56 compared to $5.10 in
2017, and adjusted earnings (excluding certain items) were $4.18 per diluted
share as compared to $3.79 in 2017. (See pages 29 to 32 of the company’s
2018 Form 10-K for information on our non-GAAP financial measures.)

We also maintained our commitment to a flexible, durable balance sheet. In
2018, we voluntarily repurchased approximately $1.1 billion of debt, including

Jeff Gennette

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer  in December.

MACY’S - AMERICA’S STORE FOR LIFE

Macy’s believes in fashion, celebration and community.
Our winning recipe is healthy brick and mortar, a
robust digital business and a mobile strategy that
ties it all together. In 2018, we saw improvement
across our store fleet led by the Growth50 stores.
We also experienced our 38th consecutive quarter

of double-digit sales growth in digital. We continued
to support our e-commerce strategy through
improvements in the online experience, enhanced
delivery options and expanded assortment. Mobile is
our fastest growing channel, and we delivered more

than $1 billion in sales in 2018 through our mobile apps.

Strategic Initiatives

We know that when we listen to our customers, we
win. And when we invest in our business, we grow.

In 2018, we identified five strategic initiatives to drive
growth. These initiatives put extra weight against areas
that have the biggest impact on our customers and

on sales growth. We're pleased with the results of

our strategic initiatives, which were all additive to our
comparable sales growth.

Loyalty

In 2018, our goal was to strengthen the relationship
with our Macy’s proprietary customer, and we
focused on the Platinum tier of our Star Rewards
loyalty program. Our Platinum customers, our best
customers, generated nearly 30% of sales. They
shopped more frequently in 2018 and spent 10%
more. In an effort to bring new customers into the
brand, we launched a tender-neutral Bronze tier in
the spring of 2018. The program brought more than
3 million new customers into the brand since its
launch. Loyalty is outperforming our expectations.

$344 million in the open market and a $750 million tender offer completed

Store Pickup

2018 was a strong year for our buy online pick up

in store (BOPS) and buy online ship to store (BOSS)
strategies. We expanded BOPS and launched BOSS,
which was a big hit with our customers. Store pickup
now accounts for approximately 7% of our online
sales, and we continue to see approximately 25%
associated sales on BOSS and BOPS orders. Our
customers love the convenience and security of
in-store pickup.

Backstage

We expanded Backstage, Macy’s on-mall, off-price
concept, to more than 120 new locations within
Macy’s stores in 2018. We are seeing a more than 5%
average lift to the total box, and approximately 15% of
our customers are shopping both Backstage and their
main store. It’s encouraging to see that, in locations
opened for more than one year, the Backstage portion
of the store is delivering double-digit comparable sales
growth. We are getting better at off-price every day.

Vendor Direct

We vastly expanded our Vendor Direct business

on macys.com, nearly doubling our online SKU’s.
Vendor Direct allows us to offer our customer a wider
assortment online, while keeping our stores localized
and curated. In 2018, approximately 10% of our
online sales came from Vendor Direct. Our expanded
assortment includes new brands and categories that
we know our customers will love, while also including
an expanded product selection from our existing
national brand partners.

Growth50
In 2018, we selected 50 Macy'’s stores — a mix of
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size and geography — to receive significant upgrades,
from facilities and fixtures to assortment and customer
service. The Growth50 stores outperformed and
delivered higher comparable sales, customer

retention rates and satisfaction scores. This gives us
confidence that the Growth50 stores will carry their
sales momentum into 2019. The performance of these
50 stores also confirms our investment thesis for our
growth stores in the future.

Innovation

2018 was a strong year of innovation for Macy’s. We
innovated to create engaging customer experiences.
We acquired STORY, a concept store in New York City
that reinvents itself every six to eight weeks,
highlighting new themes and products. STORY

has a heightened focus on customer experience,
engagement and collaboration, and we’re excited for
the potential of STORY in Macy'’s stores.

We also continued to test and iterate The Market

@ Macy’s — our retail as a service model that helps
emerging and established brands reach new
audiences and customers. We invested in b8ta, a
technology-powered retailer, which will help us scale
The Market @ Macy’s.

We also innovated to apply technology to customer
friction points. We launched the largest virtual reality
rollout in retail history by expanding Macy’s virtual
reality furniture experience to more than 100 stores.
Virtual reality enables customers to discover products
and make more informed buying decisions in furniture.
We saw return rates that are 25% lower and basket
sizes 44% greater compared to customers who did
not utilize virtual reality.

BLOOMINGDALE’S - LIKE NO OTHER STORE
IN THE WORLD

In 2018, Bloomingdale’s focused on reenergizing

the brand and enhancing the customer experience.
Bloomingdale’s continued to see double-digit sales
growth online and an improved trend in stores
performance. The newly renovated Bloomingdale’s
59th Street flagship had its best year since 2013 and
offered customers new energy, products and in-store
experiences.

BLUEMERCURY - YOUR NEIGHBORHOOD
BEAUTY DESTINATION

Bluemercury had a strong year and experienced
robust growth in standalone locations and locations
within Macy’s stores. Bluemercury expanded its
footprint by adding 26 new standalone stores,
increased online sales by more than 50% and
experienced a double-digit increase in total sales.
Bluemercury also continued to expand its private

MACY’S, INC. 2018 ANNUAL REPORT | 2

brands Lune+Aster and M-61, which now account for
more than 10% of total Bluemercury sales.

THE YEAR AHEAD FOR MACY’S, INC.

We are headed into 2019 a stronger business than
we were a year ago — with healthier stores, a growing
e-commerce business and a mobile experience that
is resonating with our customers. In 2019, we will
place an intense focus on bringing new customers
into the brand and keeping them engaged once
they’re with us.

Similar to 2018, 2019 will be another year of
investment for Macy’s, Inc. We continue to take a
balanced approach that directs investment towards
five strategic initiatives that we believe will have the
strongest return on investment:

e Growth150: expand our successful Growth50
concept to another 100 stores this year.

e Backstage: roll out Backstage to approximately 50
more Macy'’s stores.

e Vendor Direct: aggressively grow vendor direct by
continuing to expand vendors and SKUs.

* Mobile: improve our mobile platform by enhancing
the Macy'’s app with new features to improve
payment, shopping and style advice.

e Destination Businesses: place additional
resources against six areas where we have top
three market share (dresses, fine jewelry, big ticket,
men’s tailored clothing, women’s shoes and beauty).

In addition to driving sales growth, we know that we
must begin to grow profitability over time. To support
this, we have launched a multi-year productivity
program called Funding Our Future. The program

is a comprehensive end-to-end review focused on
growing our profitability rate by improving productivity
across the enterprise. Funding Our Future includes
initiatives to improve gross margin across multiple
work streams, including enhanced inventory planning
and operations, supply chain efficiencies, pricing
optimization and improved private brand sourcing.

It also includes a thorough review of our expense
structure as we evaluate how work gets done across
areas like stores, marketing, logistics and nonretail
procurement.

Overall, | am pleased with the progress we made in
2018. We have the right plan in place and 130,000
colleagues who are rowing in the same direction.

In 2019, we will continue to drive sales growth
through our strategic initiatives. We are confident
that Macy’s, Inc. is on the path to deliver sustainable,
profitable growth and will continue to create
shareholder value.

==

Jeff Gennette
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
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Unless the context requires otherwise, references to “Macy’s” or the “Company” are references to Macy s and its subsidiaries
and references to “2018,” “2017,” “2016,” “2015” and “2014” are references to the Company s fiscal years ended February 2, 2019,
February 3, 2018, January 28, 2017, January 30, 2016 and January 31, 2015, respectively. Fiscal year 2017 included 53 weeks; fiscal
vears 2018, 2016, 2015 and 2014 included 52 weeks.

Forward-Looking Statements

This report and other reports, statements and information previously or subsequently filed by the Company with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) contain or may contain forward-looking statements. Such statements
are based upon the beliefs and assumptions of, and on information available to, the management of the Company at the
time such statements are made. The following are or may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995: (i) statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words “may,”

“will,” “could,” “should,” “believe,” “expect,” ‘future,’
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“potential,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “think,”

“estimate” or “continue” or the negative or other variations thereof, and (ii) statements regarding matters that are not
historical facts. Such forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including risks and
uncertainties relating to:

the possible invalidity of the underlying beliefs and assumptions;

the success of the Company s operational decisions, such as product sourcing, merchandise mix and pricing,
and marketing, and strategic initiatives, such as Growth stores, Backstage on-mall off-price business, and
vendor direct expansion,

general consumer-spending levels, including the impact of general economic conditions, consumer
disposable income levels, consumer confidence levels, the availability, cost and level of consumer debt, the
costs of basic necessities and other goods and the effects of the weather or natural disasters;

competitive pressures from department stores, specialty stores, general merchandise stores, manufacturers’
outlets, off-price and discount stores, and all other retail channels, including the Internet, catalogs and
television;

the Company's ability to remain competitive and relevant as consumers’shopping behaviors migrate to other
shopping channels and to maintain its brand and reputation,

possible systems failures and/or security breaches, including any security breach that results in the theft,
transfer or unauthorized disclosure of customer, employee or company information, or the failure to comply
with various laws applicable to the Company in the event of such a breach;

the cost of employee benefits as well as attracting and retaining quality employees;
transactions and strategy involving the Company's real estate portfolio;
the seasonal nature of the Company s business;

conditions to, or changes in the timing of, proposed transactions, and changes in expected synergies, cost
savings and non-recurring charges;

possible changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, market, legal and regulatory
circumstances and conditions;

possible actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including customers, suppliers, business
partners, competitors and legislative, regulatory, judicial and other governmental authorities and officials,

changes in relationships with vendors and other product and service providers;
currency, interest and exchange rates and other capital market, economic and geo-political conditions,
unstable political conditions, civil unrest, terrorist activities and armed conflicts;

the possible inability of the Company s manufacturers or transporters to deliver products in a timely manner
or meet the Company § quality standards;

the Company's reliance on foreign sources of production, including risks related to the disruption of imports
by labor disputes, regional health pandemics, and regional political and economic conditions; and

duties, taxes, other charges and quotas on imports.
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In addition to any risks and uncertainties specifically identified in the text surrounding such forward-looking
statements, the statements in the immediately preceding sentence and the statements under captions such as “Risk
Factors” in reports, statements and information filed by the Company with the SEC from time to time constitute cautionary
statements identifying important factors that could cause actual amounts, results, events and circumstances to differ
materially from those expressed in or implied by such forward-looking statements.

Item 1. Business.
General

The Company is a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware in 1985. The Company and its
predecessors have been operating department stores since 1830. The Company operates 867 stores in 43 states, the District
of Columbia, Puerto Rico and Guam. As of February 2, 2019, the Company's operations were conducted through Macy's,
Bloomingdale's, Bloomingdale’s The Outlet, Macy’s Backstage, and bluemercury. In addition, Bloomingdale's in Dubai,
United Arab Emirates and Al Zahra, Kuwait are operated under license agreements with Al Tayer Insignia, a company of Al
Tayer Group, LLC.

The Company sells a wide range of merchandise, including apparel and accessories (men’s, women’s and kids'),
cosmetics, home furnishings and other consumer goods. The specific assortments vary by size of store, merchandising
assortments and character of customers in the trade areas. Most stores are located at urban or suburban sites, principally in
densely populated areas across the United States.

Disaggregation of the Company's net sales by family of business for 2018, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2018 2017 2016
Women’s Accessories, Intimate Apparel, Shoes, Cosmetics and Fragrances... $ 9,500 $ 9483 $ 9,795
WOMEN’S APPATEL....eiiiiiiieiiiiiteei ettt 5,675 5,807 6,009
MeEN’S ANd KIS ....couvviiiiiiieieeeeeee et 5,712 5,629 5,844
HOME/OLNET (@) ...vvenviieieieeieiesie ettt ettt sttt sa s se e essensenes 4,084 4,020 4,260
Total $ 24971 $ 24939 § 25908

(a) Other primarily includes restaurant sales, certain loyalty program income and breakage income from unredeemed gift cards.

In 2018, the Company’s subsidiaries provided various support functions to the Company’s retail operations on an
integrated, company-wide basis.

. The Company’s wholly-owned bank subsidiary, FDS Bank, provides certain collections, customer service
and credit marketing services in respect of all credit card accounts that are owned either by Department
Stores National Bank (“DSNB”), a subsidiary of Citibank, N.A., or FDS Bank and that constitute a part of
the credit programs of the Company’s retail operations.

. Macy’s Systems and Technology, Inc. (“MST”), a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of the Company,
provides operational electronic data processing and management information services to all of the
Company’s operations other than bluemercury.

. Macy’s Merchandising Group, Inc. (“MMG”), a wholly-owned direct subsidiary of the Company, and its
subsidiary Macy's Merchandising Group International, LLC, are responsible for the design, development and
marketing of Macy’s private label brands and certain licensed brands. Bloomingdale’s uses MMG for a
small portion of its private label merchandise. The Company believes that its private label merchandise
differentiates its merchandise assortments from those of its competitors and delivers exceptional value to its
customers. MMG also offers its services, either directly or indirectly, to unrelated third parties.

. Macy’s Logistics and Operations (“Macy’s Logistics”), a division of a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of
the Company, provides warehousing and merchandise distribution services for the Company’s operations
and digital customer fulfillment.

The Company’s executive offices are located at 7 West Seventh Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 45202, telephone number:
(513) 579-7000 and 151 West 34" Street, New York, New York 10001, telephone number: (212) 494-1602.



Employees

As of February 2, 2019, excluding seasonal employees, the Company had approximately 130,000 employees,
primarily including regular full-time and part-time. Because of the seasonal nature of the retail business, the number of
employees peaks in the holiday season. Approximately 7% of the Company’s employees were represented by unions as of
February 2, 2019.

Seasonality

The retail business is seasonal in nature with a high proportion of sales and operating income generated in the months
of November and December. Working capital requirements fluctuate during the year, increasing in mid-summer in
anticipation of the fall merchandising season and increasing substantially prior to the holiday season when the Company
carries significantly higher inventory levels.

Purchasing

The Company purchases merchandise from many suppliers, no one of which accounted for more than 5% of the
Company’s purchases during 2018. The Company has no material long-term purchase commitments with any of its
suppliers, and believes that it is not dependent on any one supplier. The Company considers its relations with its suppliers
to be good.

Private Label Brands and Related Trademarks

The principal private label brands currently offered by the Company include Alfani, American Rag, Aqua, Bar III,
Belgique, Charter Club, Club Room, Epic Threads, first impressions, Giani Bernini, Greg Norman for Tasso Elba, Holiday
Lane, Home Design, Hotel Collection, Hudson Park, Ideology, I-N-C, jenni, JM Collection, John Ashford, Karen Scott,
lunetaster, M-61, Maison Jules, Martha Stewart Collection, Material Girl, Morgan Taylor, Oake, Sky, Style & Co., Sutton
Studio, Tasso Elba, Thalia Sodi, the cellar, and Tools of the Trade.

The trademarks associated with the Company's aforementioned private label brands, other than American Rag, Greg
Norman for Tasso Elba, Martha Stewart Collection, Material Girl and Thalia Sodi, are owned by the Company. The
American Rag, Greg Norman, Martha Stewart Collection, Material Girl and Thalia Sodi brands are owned by third parties,
which license the trademarks associated with such brands to Macy’s pursuant to agreements. The agreements for American
Rag, Greg Norman, Material Girl, and Thalia Sodi expire at the end of 2019, while the Martha Stewart agreement has
renewal rights that extend through 2025.

Competition

The retail industry is highly competitive. The Company’s operations compete with many retail formats on the
national and local level, including department stores, specialty stores, general merchandise stores, manufacturers' outlets,
off-price and discount stores, online retailers, catalogs and television shopping, among others. The Company seeks to
attract customers by offering desirable selections, obvious value, and distinctive marketing in stores that are located in
premier locations, and by providing an exciting shopping environment and superior service through an omnichannel
experience. Other retailers may compete for customers on some or all of these bases, or on other bases, and may be
perceived by some potential customers as being better aligned with their particular preferences.

Available Information

The Company makes its annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K
and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act available free of
charge through its internet website at https.//www.macysinc.com as soon as reasonably practicable after it electronically
files such material with, or furnishes it to, the SEC. The SEC also maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC; the address of that
site is https://www.sec.gov. In addition, the Company has made the following available free of charge through its website at
https://www.macysinc.com:

. Charters of the Audit Committee, Compensation and Management Development Committee, Finance
Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee,

. Corporate Governance Principles,
. Lead Independent Director Policy,
. Non-Employee Director Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,
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. Code of Conduct,

. Standards for Director Independence,

. Related Person Transactions Policy,

. Method to Facilitate Receipt, Retention and Treatment of Communications, and
. Proxy Access By-Laws.

Any of these items are also available in print to any shareholder who requests them. Requests should be sent to the
Corporate Secretary of Macy’s, Inc. at 7 West Seventh Street, Cincinnati, OH 45202.
Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth certain information as of March 21, 2019 regarding the Executive Officers of the
Company:

Name Age Position with the Company

Jeff Gennette...................... 57 Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board and Director
Paula A. Price ......cccceneeee. 57 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Harry A. Lawton III........... 44 President

Elisa D. Garcia...........c....... 61 Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary
Danielle L. Kirgan............. 43 Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer
Felicia Williams................. 53 Senior Vice President, Controller and Enterprise Risk Officer

Executive Officer Biographies

Jeff Gennette has been Chief Executive Officer of the Company since March 2017 and Chairman of the Board since
January 2018; prior thereto he was President from March 2014 to August 2017, Chief Merchandising Officer from
February 2009 to March 2014, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Macy’s West in San Francisco from February
2008 to February 2009 and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Seattle-based Macy’s Northwest from February 2006
through February 2008.

Paula A. Price has been Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since July 2018; prior
thereto she was a full-time lecturer in the Accounting and Management Unit at Harvard Business School from January
2014 to July 2018 and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Ahold USA from May 2009 to January
2014.

Harry (Hal) A. Lawton III has been President of the Company since September 2017; prior thereto he served as
Senior Vice President, North America at eBay, Inc. from April 2015 to September 2017 and held a number of leadership
positions at Home Depot, Inc. from 2005 to 2015, including Senior Vice President of Merchandising and head of Home
Depot’s online business.

Elisa D. Garcia has been Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary of the Company since
September 2016; prior thereto she served as Chief Legal Officer of Office Depot, Inc. from December 2013 to September
2016, Executive Vice President and Secretary from July 2007 to September 2016 and General Counsel from July 2007 to
December 2013.

Danielle L. Kirgan has been Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer of the Company since
October 2017; prior thereto she served as Senior Vice President, People at American Airlines Group, Inc. from October
2016 to October 2017, Chief Human Resources Officer at Darden Restaurants, Inc. from January 2015 to October 2016 and
Senior Vice President from May 2010, Vice President, Global Human Resources at ACI Worldwide, Inc. from January
2009 to December 2009, and Vice President, Human Resources at Conagra Foods, Inc. from 2004 to 2008.

Felicia Williams has been Senior Vice President, Controller and Enterprise Risk Officer of the Company since June
2016; prior thereto she served as Senior Vice President, Finance and Risk Management from February 2011 to June 2016,
Senior Vice President, Treasury and Risk Management from September 2009 to February 2011, Vice President, Finance
and Risk Management from October 2008 to September 2009, and Vice President, Internal Audit from March 2004 to
October 2008.



Item 1A. Risk Factors.

In evaluating Macy's, the risks described below and the matters described in “Forward-Looking Statements” should
be considered carefully. Such risks and matters are numerous and diverse, may be experienced continuously or
intermittently, and may vary in intensity and effect. Any of such risks and matters, individually or in combination, could
have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, as well
as on the attractiveness and value of an investment in Macy's securities.

Strategic, Operational and Competitive Risks

Our strategic initiatives may not be successful, which could negatively affect our profitability and growth.

We are pursuing strategic initiatives to achieve our objective of accelerating profitable growth in our stores and our
digital operations. This includes the adoption of new technologies, merchandising strategies and customer service
initiatives all designed to improve the shopping experience. Our ability to achieve profitable growth is subject to the
successful implementation of our strategic plans. If these investments or initiatives do not perform as expected or create
implementation or operational difficulties, we may incur impairment charges and our profitability and growth could suffer.

Our sales and operating results depend on consumer preferences and consumer spending.

The fashion and retail industries are subject to sudden shifts in consumer trends and consumer spending. Our sales
and operating results depend in part on our ability to predict or respond to changes in fashion trends and consumer
preferences in a timely manner. We develop new retail concepts and continuously adjust our industry position in certain
major and private-label brands and product categories in an effort to attract and retain customers. Any sustained failure to
anticipate, identify and respond to emerging trends in lifestyle and consumer preferences could negatively affect our
business and results of operations.

Our sales are significantly affected by discretionary spending by consumers. Consumer spending may be affected by
many factors outside of our control, including general economic conditions, consumer disposable income levels, consumer
confidence levels, the availability, cost and level of consumer debt, consumer behaviors towards incurring and paying debt,
the cost of basic necessities and other goods, the strength of the U.S. Dollar relative to foreign currencies and the effects of
the weather or natural disasters. These factors can have psychological or economic impacts on consumers that affect their
discretionary spending habits. Any decline in discretionary spending by consumers could negatively affect our business and
results of operations.

We face significant competition in the retail industry.

We conduct our retail merchandising business under highly competitive conditions. Although Macy's is one of the
nation’s largest retailers, we have numerous and varied competitors at the national and local levels, including department
stores, specialty stores, general merchandise stores, manufacturers’ outlets, off-price and discount stores, online retailers,
catalogs and television shopping, among others. Competition is characterized by many factors, including assortment,
advertising, price, quality, service, location, reputation and credit availability. Any failure by us to compete effectively
could negatively affect our business and results of operations.

We face challenges as consumers migrate to online shopping and we depend on our ability to differentiate Macy's in
retail's ever-changing environment.

As consumers continue to migrate online, we face pressures to not only compete from a price perspective with our
competitors, some of whom sell the same products, but also to differentiate Macy's to stay relevant in retail's ever-changing
environment. We continue to significantly invest in our omnichannel capabilities to provide a seamless shopping
experience to our customers between our brick and mortar locations and our online and mobile environments. Insufficient,
untimely or misguided investments in this area could significantly impact our profitability and growth and affect our ability
to attract new customers, as well as maintain our existing ones.

In addition, declining customer store traffic and migration of sales from brick and mortar stores to digital platforms
could lead to store closures, restructuring and other costs that could adversely impact our results of operations and cash
flows.

Our ability to grow depends in part on our brick and mortar stores remaining relevant to customers.

We are investing in facilities and fixtures upgrades, merchandise assortment and customer service in selected stores
to improve customer retention rates and overall customer satisfaction. Some stores are receiving targeted local marketing
plans to drive customer traffic. While these “Growth” stores have outperformed the remainder of our store fleet, there can
be no assurance that we will be able to achieve continued improvement in our brick and mortar business.
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Because we rely on the ability of our physical retail locations to remain relevant to customers, providing desirable
and sought-out shopping experiences is critical to our financial success. Changes in consumer shopping habits, financial
difficulties at other anchor tenants, significant mall vacancy issues, mall violence and new mall developments could each
adversely impact the traffic at current retail locations and lead to a decline in our financial condition or performance.

We may not be able to successfully execute our real estate strategy.

We continue to explore opportunities to monetize our real estate portfolio, including sales of stores as well as non-
store real estate such as warehouses, outparcels and parking garages. We also continue to evaluate our real estate portfolio
to identify opportunities where the redevelopment value of our real estate exceeds the value of non-strategic operating
locations. This strategy is multi-pronged and may include transactions, strategic alliances or other arrangements with mall
developers or other unrelated third-parties. Due to the cyclical nature of real estate markets, the performance of our real
estate strategy is inherently volatile and could have a significant impact on our results of operations or financial condition.

Our revenues and cash requirements are affected by the seasonal nature of our business.

Our business is seasonal, with a high proportion of revenues and operating cash flows generated during the second
half of the year, which includes the fall and holiday selling seasons. A disproportionate amount of our revenues is in the
fourth quarter, which coincides with the holiday season. Should holiday sales fall below our expectations, a
disproportionately negative impact on our results of operations could occur.

We incur significant additional expenses in the period leading up to the months of November and December in
anticipation of higher sales volume in those periods, including costs for additional inventory, advertising and employees. If
we are not successful in selling inventory, we may have to sell the inventory at significantly reduced prices or may not be
able to sell the inventory at all, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and cash flows.

We depend on our ability to attract, train, develop and retain quality employees.

Our business is dependent upon attracting, training, developing and retaining quality employees. Macy's has a large
number of employees, many of whom are in entry level or part-time positions with historically high rates of turnover. The
ability to meet our labor needs while controlling costs associated with hiring and training new employees is subject to
external factors such as unemployment levels, prevailing wage rates, minimum wage legislation and changing
demographics. In addition, as a large and complex enterprise operating in a highly competitive and challenging business
environment, Macy's is highly dependent upon management personnel to develop and effectively execute successful
business strategies and tactics. Any circumstances that adversely impact our ability to attract, train, develop and retain
quality employees throughout the organization could negatively affect our business and results of operations.

We depend on the success of advertising and marketing programs.

Our business depends on effective marketing to create high customer traffic at stores and online. Macy's has many
initiatives in this area, and we often change advertising and marketing programs to attract customers and increase sales.
There can be no assurance as to our continued ability to effectively execute our advertising and marketing programs, and
any failure to do so could negatively affect our business and results of operations.

If cash flows from our private label credit card decrease, our financial and operational results may be negatively
impacted.

We previously sold most of our credit accounts and related receivables to Citibank. Following the sale, we share in
the economic performance of the credit card program with Citibank. Deterioration in economic or political conditions
could adversely affect the volume of new credit accounts, the amount of credit card program balances and the ability of
credit card holders to pay their balances. These conditions could result in Macy’s receiving lower payments under the credit
card program.

Credit card operations are subject to many federal and state laws that may impose certain requirements and
limitations on credit card providers. Citibank and our subsidiary bank, FDS Bank, may be required to comply with
regulations that may negatively impact the operation of our private label credit card. This negative impact may affect our
revenue streams derived from the sale of such credit card accounts and our financial results.

Gross margins could suffer if we are unable to effectively manage our inventory.

Our profitability depends on our ability to manage inventory levels and respond to shifts in consumer demand
patterns. Overestimating customer demand for merchandise will likely result in the need to record inventory markdowns
and sell excess inventory at clearance prices which would negatively impact our gross margins and operating results.
Underestimating customer demand for merchandise can lead to inventory shortages, missed sales opportunities and
negative customer experiences.



Our defined benefit plan funding requirements or plan settlement expense could impact our financial results and cash
flow.

Significant changes in interest rates, decreases in the fair value of plan assets and timing and amount of benefit
payments could affect the funded status of our plans and could increase future funding requirements of the plans. A
significant increase in future funding requirements could have a negative impact on our cash flows, financial condition or
results of operations.

These plans allow eligible retiring employees to receive lump sum distributions of benefits earned. Under applicable
accounting rules, if annual lump sum distributions exceed an actuarially determined threshold of the total of the annual
service and interest costs, we would be required to recognize in the current period of operations a settlement expense of a
portion of the unrecognized actuarial loss and could have a negative impact on our results of operations.

Increases in the cost of employee benefits could impact our financial results and cash flow.

Our expenses relating to employee health benefits are significant. Unfavorable changes in the cost of such benefits
could negatively affect our financial results and cash flow. Healthcare costs have risen significantly in recent years, and
recent legislative and private sector initiatives regarding healthcare reform have resulted and could continue to result in
significant changes to the U.S. healthcare system. Due to uncertainty regarding legislative or regulatory changes, we are
not able to fully determine the impact that future healthcare reform will have on our company-sponsored medical plans.

If our company’s reputation and brand are not maintained at a high level, our operations and financial results may
suffer.

We believe our reputation and brand are partially based on the perception that we act equitably and honestly in
dealing with our customers, employees, business partners and shareholders. Our reputation and brand may be deteriorated
by any incident that erodes the trust or confidence of our customers or the general public, particularly if the incident results
in significant adverse publicity or governmental inquiry. In addition, information concerning us, whether or not true, may
be instantly and easily posted on social media platforms at any time, which information may be adverse to our reputation or
brand. The harm may be immediate without affording us an opportunity for redress or correction. If our reputation or
brand is damaged, our customers may refuse to continue shopping with us, potential employees may be unwilling to work
for us, business partners may be discouraged from seeking future business dealings with us and, as a result, our operations
and financial results may suffer.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our brands and business could be damaged.

We believe that our copyrights, trademarks, trade dress, trade secrets and similar intellectual property are important
assets and key elements of our strategy, including those related to our private brand merchandise. We rely on copyright and
trademark law, trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, vendors and others
to protect our proprietary rights. If the steps we take to protect our proprietary rights are inadequate, or if we are unable to
protect or preserve the value of our copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and other proprietary rights for any reason, our
merchandise brands and business could be negatively affected.

Our sales and operating results could be adversely affected by product safety concerns.

If Macy's merchandise offerings do not meet applicable safety standards or consumers' expectations regarding safety,
we could experience decreased sales, increased costs and/or be exposed to legal and reputational risk. Events that give rise
to actual, potential or perceived product safety concerns could expose Macy's to government enforcement action and/or
private litigation. Reputational damage caused by real or perceived product safety concerns could negatively affect our
business and results of operations.

A shutdown or disruption in our distribution and fulfillment centers could have an adverse impact on our business and
operations.

Our business depends on the orderly receipt and distribution of merchandise and effective management of our
distribution and fulfillment centers. Unforeseen disruptions in operations due to fire, severe weather conditions, natural
disasters or other catastrophic events, labor disagreements, or other shipping problems may result in the loss or
unavailability of inventory and/or delays in the delivery of merchandise to our stores and customers.



Technology and Data Security Risks

A material disruption in our computer systems could adversely affect our business or results of operations.

We rely extensively on our computer systems to process transactions, summarize results and manage our business.
Our computer systems are subject to damage or interruption from power outages, computer and telecommunications
failures, computer viruses, cyber-attack or other security breaches, catastrophic events such as fires, floods, earthquakes,
tornadoes, hurricanes, acts of war or terrorism, and usage errors by our employees. If our computer systems are damaged or
cease to function properly, including a material disruption in our ability to authorize and process transactions at our stores
or on our online systems, we may have to make a significant investment to fix or replace them, and we may suffer loss of
critical data and interruptions or delays in our operations. Any material interruption in our computer systems could
negatively affect our business and results of operations.

If our technology-based e-commerce systems do not function properly, our operating results could be negatively
affected.

Customers are increasingly using computers, tablets and smart phones to shop online and to do price and comparison
shopping. We strive to anticipate and meet our customers’ changing expectations and are focused on building a seamless
shopping experience across our omnichannel business. Any failure to provide user-friendly, secure e-commerce platforms
that offer a variety of merchandise at competitive prices with low cost and quick delivery options that meet customers’
expectations could place us at a competitive disadvantage, result in the loss of e-commerce and other sales, harm our
reputation with customers and have a material adverse impact on the growth of our business and our operating results.

A breach of information technology systems could adversely affect our reputation, business partner and customer
relationships and operations, and result in high costs.

Through our sales, marketing activities, and use of third-party information, we collect and store certain non-public
personal information that customers provide to purchase products or services, enroll in promotional programs, register on
websites, or otherwise communicate to us. This may include phone numbers, driver license numbers, contact preferences,
personal information stored on electronic devices, and payment information, including credit and debit card data. We
gather and retain information about employees in the normal course of business. We may share information about such
persons with vendors that assist with certain aspects of our business. In addition, our online operations depend upon the
transmission of confidential information over the Internet, such as information permitting cashless payments.

We employ safeguards for the protection of this information and have made significant investments to secure access
to our information technology network. For instance, we have implemented authentication protocols, installed firewalls
and anti-virus/anti-malware software, conducted continuous risk assessments, and established data security breach
preparedness and response plans. We also employ encryption and other methods to protect our data, promote security
awareness with our associates and work with business partners in an effort to create secure and compliant systems.

However, these protections may be compromised as a result of third-party security breaches, burglaries, cyberattacks,
errors by employees or employees of third-party vendors, or contractors, misappropriation of data by employees, vendors
or unaffiliated third-parties, or other irregularities that may result in persons obtaining unauthorized access to company
data.

Retail data frequently targeted by cybercriminals includes consumer credit card data, personally identifiable
information, including social security numbers, and health care information. For retailers, point of sale and e-commerce
websites are often attacked through compromised credentials, including those obtained through phishing, vishing and
credential stuffing. Other methods of attack include advanced malware, the exploitation of software and operating
vulnerabilities, and physical device tampering/skimming at card reader units. We believe these attack methods will
continue to evolve.

Despite instituting controls for the protection of such information, no commercial or government entity can be
entirely free of vulnerability to attack or compromise given that the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable
or degrade service change frequently. During the normal course of business, we have experienced and expect to continue to
experience attempts to compromise our information systems. Unauthorized parties may attempt to gain access to our
systems or facilities, or those of third parties with whom we do business, through fraud, trickery, or other forms of
deception to employees, contractors, vendors and temporary staff. We may be unable to protect the integrity of our systems
or company data. An alleged or actual unauthorized access or unauthorized disclosure of non-public personal information
could:



* materially damage our reputation and brand, negatively affect customer satisfaction and loyalty, expose us to
individual claims or consumer class actions, administrative, civil or criminal investigations or actions, and
infringe on proprietary information; and

» cause us to incur substantial costs, including costs associated with remediation of information technology systems,
customer protection costs and incentive payments for the maintenance of business relationships, litigation costs,
lost revenues resulting from negative changes in consumer shopping patterns, unauthorized use of proprietary
information or the failure to retain or attract customers following an attack. While we maintain insurance coverage
that may, subject to policy terms and conditions, cover certain aspects of cyber risks, such insurance coverage may
be unavailable or insufficient to cover all losses or all types of claims that may arise in the continually evolving
area of cyber risk.

Supply Chain and Third Party Risks

We depend upon designers, vendors and other sources of merchandise, goods and services. Our business could be
affected by disruptions in, or other legal, regulatory, political or economic issues associated with, our supply network.

Our relationships with established and emerging designers have been significant contributors to Macy's past success.
Our ability to find qualified vendors and access products in a timely and efficient manner is often challenging, particularly
with respect to goods sourced outside the United States. We source the majority of our merchandise from manufacturers
located outside the U.S., primarily Asia. Any major changes in tax policy, such as the disallowance of tax deductions for
imported merchandise could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and liquidity.

The procurement of all our goods and services are subject to the effects of price increases which we may or may not
be able to pass through to our customers. In addition, our procurement of goods and services from outside the U.S. is
subject to risks associated with political or financial instability, trade restrictions, tariffs, currency exchange rates, transport
capacity and costs and other factors relating to foreign trade. All of these factors may affect our ability to access suitable
merchandise on acceptable terms, are beyond our control and could negatively affect our business and results of operations.

On September 18, 2018, the Office of the U.S. Trade Representative announced that the current U.S. Administration
would impose a 10% tariff on approximately $200 billion worth of imports from China into the U.S. effective September
24,2018, which was expected to increase to 25% starting January 1, 2019. On December 19, 2018, the U.S. Trade
representative announced a modification to the effective date of the 25% tariffs on China goods from January 1, 2019 to
March 2, 2019. We are evaluating the potential impact of the effective and proposed tariffs as well as other recent changes
in foreign trade policy on our supply chain, costs, sales and profitability and are considering strategies to mitigate such
impact, including reviewing sourcing options and working with our vendors and merchants. While it is too early to predict
how these changes in foreign trade policy and any recently enacted, proposed and future tariffs on products imported by us
from China will affect our business, these changes could negatively impact our business and results of operations if they
seriously disrupt the movement of products through our supply chain or increase their cost. In addition, while we may be
able to shift our sourcing options, executing such a shift would be time consuming and would be difficult or impracticable
for many products and may result in an increase in our manufacturing costs. The adoption and expansion of trade
restrictions, retaliatory tariffs, or other governmental action related to tariffs or international trade agreements or policies
has the potential to adversely impact demand for our products, our costs, our customers, our suppliers, and/or the U.S.
economy, which in turn could adversely impact our results of operations and business.

Disruption of global sourcing activities and quality concerns over our own brands could negatively impact brand
reputation and earnings.

Economic and civil unrest in areas of the world where we source products, as well as shipping and dockage issues,
could adversely impact the availability or cost of our products, or both. Most of Macy’s goods imported to the U.S. arrive
from Asia through ports located on the U.S. west coast and are subject to potential disruption due to labor unrest, security
issues or natural disasters affecting any or all of these ports. In addition, in recent years, we have substantially increased
the number and types of merchandise that are sold under Macy’s proprietary brands. While we have focused on the quality
of our proprietary branded products, we rely on third-parties to manufacture these products. Such third-party
manufacturers may prove to be unreliable, the quality of our globally sourced products may vary from expectations and
standards, the products may not meet applicable regulatory requirements which may require us to recall these products, or
the products may infringe upon the intellectual property rights of third-parties. We face challenges in seeking indemnities
from manufacturers of these products, including the uncertainty of recovering on such indemnity and the lack of
understanding by manufacturers of U.S. product liability laws in certain foreign jurisdictions.
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Parties with whom Macy's does business may be subject to insolvency risks or may otherwise become unable or
unwilling to perform on their obligations to us.

Macy's is a party to contracts, transactions and business relationships with various third parties, including, without
limitation, vendors, suppliers, service providers, lenders and participants in joint ventures, strategic alliances and other joint
commercial relationships, pursuant to which such third parties have performance, payment and other obligations to Macy's.
In some cases, we depend upon such third parties to provide essential leaseholds, products, services or other benefits,
including with respect to store and distribution center locations, merchandise, advertising, software development and
support, logistics, other agreements for goods and services to operate our business in the ordinary course, extensions of
credit, credit card accounts and related receivables, and other vital matters. Current economic, industry and market
conditions could result in increased risks to Macy's associated with the potential financial distress or insolvency of such
third parties. If any of these third parties were to become subject to bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings, the
rights and benefits with respect to our contracts, transactions and business relationships with such third parties could be
terminated, modified in a manner adverse to us, or otherwise impaired. We may be unable to arrange for alternate or
replacement contracts, transactions or business relationships on terms as favorable as existing contracts, transactions or
business relationships. Our inability to do so could negatively affect our cash flows, financial condition and results of
operations.

Global, Legal and External Risks

Macy’s business is subject to unfavorable economic and political conditions and other related risks.

Unfavorable global, domestic or regional economic or political conditions and other developments and risks could
negatively affect our business and results of operations. For example, unfavorable changes related to interest rates, rates of
economic growth, fiscal and monetary policies of governments, inflation, deflation, consumer credit availability, consumer
debt levels, consumer debt payment behaviors, tax rates and policy, unemployment trends, energy prices, and other matters
that influence the availability and cost of merchandise, consumer confidence, spending and tourism could negatively affect
our business and results of operations. In addition, unstable political conditions, civil unrest, terrorist activities and armed
conflicts may disrupt commerce and could negatively affect our business and results of operations.

Our effective tax rate is impacted by a number of factors, including changes in federal or state tax law, interpretation
of existing laws and the ability to defend and support the tax positions taken on historical tax returns. Certain changes in
any of these factors could materially impact the effective tax rate and net income.

Our business could be affected by extreme weather conditions, regional or global health pandemics or natural disasters.

Extreme weather conditions in the areas in which our stores are located could negatively affect our business and
results of operations. For example, frequent or unusually heavy snowfall, ice storms, rainstorms or other extreme weather
conditions over a prolonged period could make it difficult for our customers to travel to our stores and thereby reduce our
sales and profitability. Our business is also susceptible to unseasonable weather conditions. For example, extended periods
of unseasonably warm temperatures during the winter season or cool weather during the summer season could reduce
demand for a portion of our inventory and thereby reduce our sales and profitability. In addition, extreme weather
conditions could result in disruption or delay of production and delivery of materials and products in our supply chain and
cause staffing shortages in our stores.

Our business and results of operations could also be negatively affected if a regional or global health pandemic were
to occur, depending upon its location, duration and severity. Customers might avoid public places, such as our stores, or in
extreme cases governments might limit or ban public gatherings or travel. A regional or global health pandemic might also
result in disruption or delay of production and delivery of materials and products in our supply chain and cause staffing
shortages in our stores.

Natural disasters such as hurricanes, tornadoes and earthquakes, or a combination of these or other factors, could
damage or destroy our facilities or make it difficult for customers to travel to our stores, thereby negatively affecting our
business and results of operations.

Litigation, legislation or regulatory developments could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We are subject to various federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations, inquiries and initiatives in connection with
both our core business operations and our credit card and other ancillary operations (including the Credit Card Act of 2009
and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010). Recent and future developments relating to
such matters could increase our compliance costs and adversely affect the profitability of our credit card and other
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operations. We are also subject to anti-bribery, customs, child labor, truth-in-advertising and other laws, including
consumer protection regulations and zoning and occupancy ordinances that regulate retailers generally and/or govern the
importation, promotion and sale of merchandise and the operation of retail stores and warehouse facilities. Although we
undertake to monitor changes in these laws, if these laws change without our knowledge, or are violated by importers,
designers, manufacturers, distributors or agents, we could experience delays in shipments and receipt of goods or be
subject to fines or other penalties under the controlling regulations, any of which could negatively affect our business and
results of operations. In addition, we are regularly involved in various litigation matters that arise in the ordinary course of
our business. Adverse outcomes in current or future litigation could negatively affect our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

Financial Risks

Inability to access capital markets could adversely affect our business or financial condition.

Changes in the credit and capital markets, including market disruptions, limited liquidity and interest rate
fluctuations, may increase the cost of financing or restrict our access to this potential source of future liquidity. A decrease
in the ratings that rating agencies assign to Macy’s short and long-term debt may negatively impact our access to the debt
capital markets and increase our cost of borrowing. In addition, our bank credit agreements require us to maintain specified
interest coverage and leverage ratios. Our ability to comply with the ratios may be affected by events beyond our control,
including prevailing economic, financial and industry conditions. If our results of operations or operating ratios deteriorate
to a point where we are not in compliance with our debt covenants, and we are unable to obtain a waiver, much of our debt
would be in default and could become due and payable immediately. Our assets may not be sufficient to repay in full this
indebtedness, resulting in a need for an alternate source of funding. We cannot make any assurances that we would be able
to obtain such an alternate source of funding on satisfactory terms, if at all, and our inability to do so could cause the
holders of our securities to experience a partial or total loss of their investments in Macy's.

Factors beyond our control could affect Macy's stock price.

Macy’s stock price, like that of other retail companies, is subject to significant volatility because of many factors,
including factors beyond our control. These factors may include:

. general economic, stock, credit and real estate market conditions;

. risks relating to Macy’s business and industry, including those discussed above;

. strategic actions by us or our competitors;

. adverse business announcements by our competitors;

. variations in our quarterly results of operations;

. future sales or purchases of Macy’s common stock; and

. investor perceptions of the investment opportunity associated with Macy’s common stock relative to

other investment alternatives.

We may fail to meet the expectations of our stockholders or of analysts at some time in the future. If the analysts who
regularly follow Macy’s stock lower their rating or lower their projections for future growth and financial performance,
Macy’s stock price could decline. Also, sales of a substantial number of shares of Macy’s common stock in the public
market or the appearance that these shares are available for sale could adversely affect the market price of Macy’s common
stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
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Item 2. Properties.

The properties of the Company consist primarily of stores and related facilities, including a logistics network. The
Company also owns or leases other properties, including corporate office space in Cincinnati and New York and other
facilities at which centralized operational support functions are conducted. As of February 2, 2019, the operations of the
Company included 867 stores in 43 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico and Guam, comprising a total of
approximately 126 million square feet. Of such stores, 360 were owned, 386 were leased, 117 stores were operated under
arrangements where the Company owned the building and leased the land and four stores were comprised of partly owned
and partly leased buildings. All owned properties are held free and clear of mortgages. Pursuant to various shopping center
agreements, the Company is obligated to operate certain stores for periods of up to 15 years. Some of these agreements
require that the stores be operated under a particular name. Most leases require the Company to pay real estate taxes,
maintenance and other costs; some also require additional payments based on percentages of sales and some contain
purchase options. Certain of the Company’s real estate leases have terms that extend for a significant number of years and
provide for rental rates that increase or decrease over time.

The Company's operations were conducted through the following branded store locations:

2018 2017 2016
IMLACY'S ..ttt sttt ettt sttt sttt et ettt st saaesnte e e saee e 649 660 673
Bloomingdale's ...........ceeerireiiieieieei e 55 55 55
DIUCIMEICULY ...ttt ettt et e ebeebe e eane s 163 137 101
867 852 829
Store count activity was as follows:
2018 2017 2016
Store count at beginning of fiscal year........c..coceecvevinineniniieninncnnens 852 829 868
Stores opened Or ACQUITEd .......ecvevvireirieieierieeeeeee et eeenens 27 38 27
Stores closed or consolidated into existing Centers ...........cccceverereeenns (12) (15) (66)
Store count at end of fiscal Year .........cccccveveeeienienieniecieceeseeeeeene 867 852 829

Additional information about the Company’s stores as of February 2, 2019 is as follows:

Partly
Subject to Owned
a Ground and Partly

Geographic Region Total Owned Leased Lease Leased
North Central.........ccccviriiriiiiiniineeee e 144 76 48 19 1
NOTEREASE ... 258 84 144 30 —
NOTERWESE 1.t 136 43 71 20 2
SOULNL 1.ttt 195 110 60 25 —
SOUTRWEST ..ot 134 47 63 23

867 360 386 117 4

The five geographic regions detailed in the foregoing table are based on the Company’s Macy’s-branded operational
structure. The Company’s retail stores are located at urban or suburban sites, principally in densely populated areas across
the United States.
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Additional information about the Company’s logistics network as of February 2, 2019 is as follows:

Owned or Square Footage
Location Primary Function Leased (thousands)
Cheshire, CT......ooiiiiiieciiecieeeeeee ettt Direct to customer Owned 700
Chicago, TL ..ot Stores Owned 861
Denver, CO ...t Stores Leased 20
GOOAYCAL, AZ ..ottt sttt eneas Direct to customer Owned 1,560
Hayward, CA ......oooieee e Stores Owned 386
HoUStoN, TX .o e svr e e e Stores Owned 1,124
JOPPA, MDD .o Stores Owned 850
Kapoled, HI ....oooiiiiiiee et Stores Leased 260
LS ANGELES, CA....oiiiiieiiieieteicreeeeete ettt Stores Owned 1,178
Martinsburg, WV ...ooo et Direct to customer Owned 2,060
Miami, FL ..o Stores Leased 535
Portland, TN ......oovioiieeiceeeeeee ettt Direct to customer Owned 1,455
Raritan, NJ........oooiioieeee e Stores Owned 980
Sacramento, CA......c..ooviieieeieee ettt Direct to customer Leased 385
SecaUCUS, N ..ot e Stores Leased 675
South Windsor, CT .......oooieviiiiiiieieee et Stores Owned 670
Stone Mountain, GA..........cccooovievieiiieieeie e Stores Owned 1,000
Tampa, FL...cooiiiiiie et Stores Owned 670
TUISA, OK ..oeeiiiiiiieteeteetee ettt ae v beebeenbeenre s Direct to customer Owned 2,195
Tukwila, WA ... Stores Leased 500
UnIon City, CA ..ot Stores Leased 165
Youngstown, OH .......ccccooiiiiiiniiiiieieeeeee e Stores Owned 851

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

The Company and its subsidiaries are involved in various proceedings that are incidental to the normal course of their
businesses. As of the date of this report, the Company does not expect that any of such proceedings will have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
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PART 1I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

The Company's common stock is listed on the NYSE under the trading symbol “M.” As of February 2, 2019, the
Company had approximately 14,625 stockholders of record.

The declaration and payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors, are
subject to restrictions under the Company’s credit facility and may be affected by various other factors, including the
Company’s earnings, financial condition and legal or contractual restrictions.

The following table provides information regarding the Company’s purchases of common stock during the fourth
quarter of 2018.

Total
Number Average Number of Shares Open
of Shares Price per Purchased under Authorization
Purchased Share ($) Program (1) Remaining ($)(1)
(thousands) (thousands) (millions)
November 4, 2018 - December 1, 2018..........ccoueeen..... — — — 1,716
December 2, 2018 - January 5, 2019 ......ccceevvevveevennne — — — 1,716
January 6, 2019 - February 2, 2019 ....ccccocevvveencncnenns — — — 1,716

(1) Commencing in January 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors has from time to time approved authorizations to
purchase, in the aggregate, up to $18 billion of Common Stock. All authorizations are cumulative and do not have an
expiration date. As of February 2, 2019, $1,716 million of authorization remained unused. The Company may
continue, discontinue or resume purchases of Common Stock under these or possible future authorizations in the open
market, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise at any time and from time to time without prior notice.
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The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company's common stock with the
Standard & Poor's 500 Composite Index and the Company's peer group for the period from February 1, 2014 through
February 2, 2019, assuming an initial investment of $100 and the reinvestment of all dividends, if any.

The companies included in the peer group are Bed, Bath & Beyond, Dillard's, Gap, J.C. Penney, Kohl's, L Brands,
Nordstrom, Ross Stores, Sears Holdings, Target, TJX Companies and Wal-Mart.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The selected financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements
and the notes thereto and the other information contained elsewhere in this report. The Company adopted the Financial
Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, on February 4, 2018 using the full retrospective transition method and recast results from 2017 and 2016.
Results from periods prior to 2016 have not been recast for the adoption of this standard.

2018 2017* 2016 2015 2014

(millions, except per share)

Consolidated Statement of Income Data:

INEE SALES ...t $ 24971 $ 24939 $ 25,908 $ 27,079 $ 28,105

GroSS MATZIN (Q) ...o.oeveeverirerireeieieeeeee ettt erens 9,756 9,758 10,242 10,583 11,242

Operating INCOME............ocoeerveuerreniieeeereeeteeeteesee e esens 1,738 1,864 1,371 2,028 2,773

Net income 1,098 1,555 619 1,070 1,526

Net income attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders................. 1,108 1,566 627 1,072 1,526
Basic earnings per share attributable to

Macy's, Inc. shareholders ............c.ccocveivveiveiieeieeeeeceeee $ 360 $ 513 § 203 $ 326 $§ 4.30
Diluted earnings per share attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders ..............c.ccooeveeeieieeeeecceeeeeeeeee $ 356 $ 510 §$ 202 $ 322§ 4.22

Average number of shares outstanding...............ccccceveverreeiererereinnnnnn. 307.7 305.4 308.5 328.4 355.2
Cash dividends paid per share............ccccovvvererereninirieeeeiseeeeens $ 1.5100 $ 1.5100 $ 1.4925 $ 1.3925  $ 1.1875
Depreciation and amortization.................c.cceeeereeeveieecreeeeeeeeeeeeeens $ 962 $ 91 $ 1,058 $ 1,061 $ 1,036
Capital eXpenditires..............c.cieveieveieeeieeeeiereeeeeeee e enens $ 932 § 760 $ 912 $ 1,113 $ 1,068
Balance Sheet Data (at year end):

Cash and cash equivalents .............ccccooevevereeieeierereeieieeeeane $ 1,162 $ 1,455 $ 1,297 $ 1,109 $ 2,246

Property and equipment - N€t.............c..cocveevveiereeireeeeeeereeenne 6,637 6,672 7,017 7,616 7,800

TOtAL ASSELS ......vveviiieeeieieie ettt 19,194 19,583 20,082 20,576 21,330

Short-term debt ..........cccoviriiiiiiieiee e 43 22 309 642 76

Long-term debt............c.ccoeveiereiiieeeeeceeeeceeeee e 4,708 5,861 6,562 6,995 7,233

Total Shareholders’ equity ............cooooeerueueieiriniriieeeeeeeaes 6,436 5,733 4,375 4,253 5,378
* 53 weeks

(a) Gross margin is defined as net sales less cost of sales.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The discussion in this Item 7 should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
related notes included elsewhere in this report. The discussion in this Item 7 contains forward-looking statements that
reflect the Company's plans, estimates and beliefs. The Company's actual results could materially differ from those
discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to those differences include, but are
not limited to, those discussed below and elsewhere in this report, particularly in “Risk Factors” and “Forward-Looking
Statements.”

Company Overview

The Company is an omnichannel retail organization operating stores, websites and mobile applications under three
brands (Macy's, Bloomingdale's and bluemercury) that sell a wide range of merchandise, including apparel and accessories
(men's, women's and kids'), cosmetics, home furnishings and other consumer goods. The Company operates 867 stores in
43 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico and Guam. As of February 2, 2019, the Company's operations were
conducted through Macy's, Bloomingdale's, Bloomingdale’s The Outlet, Macy’s Backstage, and bluemercury, which are
aggregated into one reporting segment in accordance with the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic
280, Segment Reporting.

Bloomingdale's in Dubai, United Arab Emirates and Al Zahra, Kuwait are operated under a license agreement with Al
Tayer Insignia, a company of the Al Tayer Group, LLC.

Strategic Initiatives and 2018 Summary

The Company continues to implement its North Star strategy to transform its omnichannel business and focus on key
growth areas, embrace customer centricity, and optimize value in its real estate portfolio. The components to this strategy
are:

1. From Familiar to Favorite includes everything the Company does to further its brand awareness and identity to
its core customers. Actions include understanding and anticipating customers’ needs, strengthening the
Company's fashion authority and executing initiatives around its loyalty and pricing strategies. It celebrates the
Company's iconic events and includes strategies to appeal to more value-oriented customers.

2. It Must Be Macy’s encompasses delivering the products and experiences customers love and are exclusive to the
Company. This includes styles and home fashion for every day and special occasions, from the Company's leading
private brands, as well as exclusive national brands or assortments.

3. Every Experience Matters, in-store and online. The Company's competitive advantage is the ability to combine
the human touch in its physical stores with cutting-edge technology in its mobile applications and websites. Key
to this point is the enhancement of a customer's experience as they explore the Company's stores, mobile
applications and websites, find their favorite styles, sizes and colors, and receive their purchases through the
shopping channels they prefer.

4.  Funding our Future represents the decisions and actions the Company takes to identify and realize resources to
fuel growth. This involves a focus on cost reduction and reinvestment as well as creating value from the
Company's real estate portfolio.

5. What’s New, What’s Next explores and develops innovations to turn consumer and technology trends to the
Company's advantage and to drive growth. This includes exploring previously unmet customer needs and making
smart investment decisions based on customer insights and analytics.

During 2018, the Company completed the foundational work for five key strategic initiatives underlying components
of the North Star strategy. This activity resulted in positive contributions from each initiative during the fiscal year.

i The Macy's Star Rewards loyalty program marked its one-year anniversary and continued to offer improved
benefits to its members, including exclusive experiences for the program's platinum loyalty members. Loyalty
program members are shopping more and spending more in total, resulting in increased penetration of the
Company's proprietary credit card. Additionally, a tender-neutral option was launched during 2018, resulting in
the addition of more than three million new members to the loyalty program.

. Continuing the aggressive expansion of Backstage, Macy's mall-based off-price business, the Company opened
more than 120 new Backstage locations within Macy’s stores. This expansion brings the total Backstage locations
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to 172 (seven freestanding and 165 inside Macy's stores) as of February 2, 2019. The Company will expand to at
least 45 more Backstage locations within Macy's stores in 2019.

. The Company enhanced customer options for pick-up, delivery and checkout at Macy's, including the expansion
of Buy Online Pickup in Stores ("BOPS"), launch of Buy Online Ship to Store ("BOSS") and creation of At Your
Service stations in all stores.

. The Company's vendor direct program (merchandise purchased from the Company's websites and digital
applications and shipped directly to customers from the respective vendor) continued its expansion during 2018,
with increased assortment and the addition of new categories and brands. This program will continue its
expansion into more categories and brands in 2019.

. The Growth50 locations (a mix of stores where the Company accelerated a number of successful store initiatives,
such as facility upgrades, merchandising strategies, and localized marketing) contributed to the strong operating
results for 2018, with sales results outperforming the other Macy's locations. As a result of the performance of the
Growth50 locations, the Company will expand the initiative to another 100 stores in 2019, creating the
Growth150.

2018 was also a year of innovation. The Company acquired STORY and invested in b8ta to integrate in-store
experiences with innovative technology and increase customer engagement. STORY is a concept store in New York City
that reinvents itself every few weeks to attract new customers and retain existing ones. b8ta is a technology-powered
retailer whose software platform provides an automated and seamless experience for emerging brands launching a physical
retail presence. This technology platform allows the Company to implement its Market @ Macy's concept, also launched
during 2018, across its store base at a faster pace. The Company also delivered the first national virtual reality roll-out in
retail, opening over 100 virtual reality furniture galleries in 2018.

The Company will carry three of its 2018 strategic initiatives forward into 2019 (Growth150, Backstage, and vendor
direct) and will add two new initiatives: 1) the enhancement of the Company's mobile platforms and 2) investment in
destination businesses comprising six merchandise categories (dresses, fine jewelry, big ticket, men's tailored, women's
shoes and beauty).

As part of the Company's commitment to increased productivity to fund investment in the business, in February 2019
the Company launched a comprehensive, multi-year program focused on growing its profitability rate by improving
productivity across the enterprise. The program includes initiatives to improve margin through enhanced inventory
planning and operations, supply chain efficiencies, pricing optimization, improved private brand sourcing and customer
acquisition and retention strategies.

As an initial step, the Company developed a plan in 2018 that reduces the complexity of the upper management
structure to increase the speed of decision making, reduce costs and respond to changing customer expectations. Beginning
in 2019, the Company expects the announced restructuring actions to generate annual expense savings of $100 million. In
addition to the expected 2019 savings, the Company anticipates that these activities will fuel the productivity plan over the
next three to five years and contribute significantly to profitable growth. For 2018, the Company recorded expense of
approximately $80 million of severance and other human resource-related costs associated with these restructuring
activities.

In 2018, the Company continued to execute on its real estate strategy through both monetization and redevelopment
of certain assets. Overall, the Company had asset sale gains of $389 million, totaling $474 million in cash proceeds in
2018. Included in these gains and proceeds are the sale of the former I. Magnin building in Union Square San Francisco,
the sale of the upper seven floors of the Macy's State Street store in Chicago, as well as the continued recognition of the
deferred gain from Macy's Brooklyn transaction executed in 2015.

During 2018, the Company announced a retail store strategy for Macy's that focuses on identifying a scalable
investment strategy for all of the brand's stores, improving the customer's experience and growing total sales profitably.
This strategy includes categorization of the Company's Macy's stores into three groups: Flagship, Magnet and
Neighborhood stores.

*  Flagship stores include Herald Square and 10 other regional flagship stores which serve as premier retail
destinations within their respective regions.

*  Magnet stores are retail destinations within major markets that offer an expanded selection of merchandise.
Included within these stores are the Growth50 stores, which, as noted previously, will be expanded to another 100
stores in 2019.
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*  Neighborhood stores are smaller locations that are visited primarily for convenience and on-line order fulfillment.

Bloomingdale's had a strong 2018, including an improved trend in stores performance and online growth. Notably,
the renovation of Bloomingdale’s flagship store at 59™ Street brought new energy, products and experiences to this
location, serving as a shopping destination for both locals and tourists.

The Company continued its growth of its luxury beauty products and spa retailer, bluemercury, by opening additional
freestanding bluemercury stores in urban and suburban markets and adding bluemercury products and boutiques to Macy's
stores. As of February 2, 2019, the Company is operating 183 bluemercury locations (163 freestanding and 20 inside
Macy's stores).

In January 2019, the Company ended the joint venture with Fung Retailing Limited after winding down the
operations of Macy's China Limited earlier in 2018. In conjunction with the termination of the joint venture, the Company
acquired the noncontrolling interest in Macy's China Limited from Fung Retailing Limited, resulting in one hundred
percent ownership. For the period of time prior to the acquisition of the noncontrolling interest, Fung Retailing Limited's
thirty-five percent proportionate share of the results of Macy's China Limited was reported as noncontrolling interest in the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Overview of 2018 Financial Results

2018 saw the execution of the Company's North Star strategy which resulted in healthier stores and continued e-
commerce growth. 2018 ended with a solid fourth quarter and selected results of 2018 include:

* Net sales increased 0.1% compared to 2017, which included a 53rd week of operations.

» Comparable sales on an owned basis increased 1.7% and comparable sales on an owned plus licensed basis
increased 2.0%.

* Asset sale gains decreased $155 million to $389 million compared to 2017.

» Federal, state, and local income tax expense for 2018 was $322 million compared to a benefit of $39 million in
2017, which included a non-cash tax benefit of $584 million associated with the remeasurement of the
Company's deferred tax balances due to U.S. federal tax reform enacted in 2017. As a result of U.S. federal tax
reform, the Company's federal statutory effective tax rate declined to 21% in January 2018 from 35%.

* Net income attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders for 2018 was $1,108 million, a decrease of $458 million
from $1,566 million in 2017.

+ Diluted earnings per share attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders decreased to $3.56 in 2018 compared to
$5.10 in 2017. Excluding restructuring, impairment, store closing and other costs, settlement charges, losses and
gains on early retirement of debt and the deferred tax effects of U.S. federal tax reform, adjusted diluted earnings
per share attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders increased to $4.18 in 2018 from $3.79 in 2017. In addition,
excluding asset sales gains, adjusted diluted earnings per share attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders increased
to $3.26 in 2018 from $2.69 in 2017.

» Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization excluding restructuring, impairment, store closing
and other costs and settlement charges ("Adjusted EBITDA") was $2,877 million in 2018, as compared to $3,109
million in 2017.

* Return on invested capital ("ROIC"), a key measure of operating productivity, was 19.9% for 2018 compared to
20.8% for 2017.

* The Company repurchased $1,094 million of debt in 2018, consisting of $344 million of debt repurchased in the
open market and $750 million of debt repurchased in a tender offer ("tender offer").

See pages 29 to 32 for reconciliations of the non-GAAP financial measures presented above to the most comparable
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") financial measures and other important information.
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Results of Operations

NEt SALES ..o

Increase (decrease) in comparable sales..............

Credit card revenues, Net..........cccevvvvveevviuveeeeecnneennns

COSt O SALCS ..ovvevieeieieieeeeeeee e
Selling, general and administrative expenses.........
Gains on sale of real estate..........ccceeeveeereeiieeieennns

Restructuring, impairment, store closing and
OthET COSES ..ottt

Operating iNCOME ........cceevveerreerreerreeireereesieeseeeneens
Benefit plan income, net............cocceevevverneieereennnnn.
Settlement charges............cccoevevveerieeevieniierieeeeenns
Interest eXpense - Net.........cceeceevvrieenieeniirenieenieens
Gains (losses) on early retirement of debt..............
Income before income taxes...........eceevververreeeeennennn.

Federal, state and local income tax benefit
(EXPEIISE) ..ttt
NEt INCOME ....veeviiiieiieciiecieecte et

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest ......

Net income attributable to Macy's, Inc.
shareholders .........ccvveveniiinincnnecccs

Diluted earnings per share attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders...........cccceveervrvrnennne.

Supplemental Financial Measure ...............c.........

GTOSS MATZIN ..eouveenvieieeieereeieeieeieereereesaeeaesereens

Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Increase (decrease) in comparable sales on
an owned plus licensed basis..........c.ccecveeveennenen.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders...........ccccccvevverreeneennen.

Adjusted EBITDA.........cccoveieiiiceceeee e,

2018 2017 2016
% to % to % to
Amount Sales Amount Sales Amount Sales
(dollars in millions, except per share figures)
$24,971 $24,939 $25,908

1.7 % (2.2) % (3.5) %

768 3.1 % 702 2.8 % 656 25 %
(15215)  (60.9) % (15,181)  (60.9) % (15,666)  (60.5) %
(9,039)  (362)% (8,954) (359 % (9257) (35.7) %

389 1.5 % 544 22 % 209 0.8 %

(136)  (0.5)%  (186) (0.7)%  (479)  (1.8)%

1,738 70 % 1,864 75 % 1,371 53 %

39 57 55

(88) (105) (98)

(236) (310) (363)

(33) 10 —

1,420 1,516 965
(322) 39 (346)
1,098 1,555 619
10 11 8
$ 1,108 44 % $ 1,566 63 % $ 627 24 %
§ 3.56 $§ 510 $ 2.02
$ 9,756 39.1 % $ 9,758 39.1 % $10,242 39.5 %
2.0 % (1.9) % (2.9) %
§ 418 $§ 3.79 § 3.14
$ 2,877 $ 3,109 $ 2,971
199 % 20.8 % 185 %

See pages 29 to 32 for a reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures to their most comparable GAAP financial

measure and for other important information.

Store information (at year-end):

Stores operated............ceevvererieieienieeeeeeens
Square footage (in millions)
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Comparison of 2018 and 2017

Net Sales and Comparable Sales

Net sales for 2018 were $24,971 million, an increase of $32 million, or 0.1%, from 2017, which included a 53rd
week of operations. The increase in comparable sales on an owned basis, which excludes the 53rd week of sales in 2017,
for 2018 was 1.7% compared to 2017. The increase in comparable sales on an owned plus licensed basis for 2018 was
2.0% compared to 2017. Geographically, sales in 2018 were strongest in the South, Southwest and Northeast regions of the
country. Digital sales continued to be strong in 2018 and experienced double digit growth. By family of business, sales in
2018 were strongest in active apparel, fine jewelry, fragrances, men's tailored clothing, kids', women's shoes, dresses and
furniture. Sales in 2018 were less strong in women's sportswear collections, handbags, fashion watches and color
cosmetics. Sales of the Company's private label brands represented approximately 20% of net sales in the Macy's-branded
operations in both 2018 and 2017.

Credit Card Revenues, Net

Net credit card revenues were $768 million for 2018, an increase of $66 million compared to $702 million recognized
in 2017. Increased proprietary card usage driven by the enhanced Macy's Star Rewards loyalty program and higher
consumer credit balances drove the favorable results. Proprietary card penetration increased to 46.9% in 2018 from 46.2%
in 2017.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales for 2018 increased $34 million from 2017. The cost of sales rate as a percent to net sales of 60.9% in
2018 was flat to 2017, primarily due to lower merchandise costs, including lower markdowns, which offset higher delivery
expenses associated with the Company's omnichannel activities, free shipping promotions and loyalty programs.

Selling, General, and Administrative (SG&A) Expenses

SG&A expenses for 2018 increased $85 million from 2017 and the SG&A rate as a percent to net sales increased 30
basis points to 36.2% as compared to 2017. The dollar and rate increase compared to 2017 was primarily reflective of
investments in the Company's strategic initiatives, technology and the Company's new employee incentive plan. In
addition, advertising expense, net of cooperative advertising allowances, increased to $1,162 million in 2018 from $1,108
million in 2017.

Gains on Sale of Real Estate

The Company recognized gains of $389 million in 2018 associated with sales of real estate, as compared to $544
million in 2017. 2018 included gains of $178 million related to the I. Magnin building in Union Square San Francisco and
$58 million related to the continued recognition of the deferred gain from the Macy's Brooklyn transaction which closed in
2015. 2017 included gains of $234 million related to the Macy's Union Square location, $71 million related to the Macy's
Brooklyn transaction, $47 million related to the downtown Minneapolis properties and $40 million related to the
downtown Seattle Macy's location.

Restructuring, Impairment, Store Closing and Other Costs

Restructuring, impairment, store closing and other costs for 2018 and 2017 of $136 million and $186 million,
respectively, included severance and other human resource-related costs, asset impairment charges and other costs
associated with organizational changes and store closings. 2018 included costs and expenses primarily associated with the
organizational changes and store closings announced in January 2019, while 2017 included costs and expenses primarily
associated with the organizational changes and store closings announced in August 2017 and January 2018.

Benefit Plan Income, Net

2018 and 2017 included $39 million and $57 million, respectively, of non-cash net benefit plan income relating to the
Company's defined benefit plans. This income includes the net of: interest cost, expected return on plan assets and
amortization of prior service costs or credits and actuarial gains and losses.

Settlement Charges

$88 million and $105 million of non-cash settlement charges were recognized in 2018 and 2017, respectively. These
charges relate to the pro-rata recognition of net actuarial losses associated with the Company’s defined benefit retirement
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plans and are the result of an increase in lump sum distributions associated with retiree distribution elections and
restructuring activity.

Net Interest Expense

Net interest expense, excluding losses and gains on early retirement of debt, for 2018 decreased $74 million from
2017. This decrease was primarily driven by the reduction in the Company's debt resulting from the tender offer
repurchases in 2017 and open market repurchases in 2018.

Losses and Gains on Early Retirement of Debt

In 2018, the Company repurchased approximately $344 million face value of senior notes and debentures and
completed a tender offer debt repurchase of $750 million face value of senior notes and debentures. As a result of these
transactions, the Company recognized $33 million in expenses and fees net of the write-off of unamortized debt premiums.

In 2017, the Company repurchased approximately $247 million face value of senior notes and debentures and
completed a tender offer debt repurchase of $400 million face value of senior notes and debentures. As a result of these
transactions, the Company recognized a $10 million benefit related to the write-off of the unamortized premium associated
with the debt repayments, net of the premium costs and other expenses.

Effective Tax Rate

The Company's effective tax rate was expense of 22.7% for 2018 and a benefit of 2.6% for 2017. On a comparative
basis, the 2018 rate reflects the Company's lower federal income tax statutory rate of 21% as compared to 35% resulting
from the U.S. federal tax reform enacted in 2017. 2017 included the recognition of a non-cash tax benefit of $584 million
associated with the remeasurement of the Company's deferred tax balances due to U.S. federal tax reform. Further, 2017
included the recognition of approximately $15 million of net tax shortfalls associated with share-based payment awards.

Net Income Attributable to Macy's, Inc. Shareholders

Net income attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders for 2018 decreased $458 million compared to 2017, driven by
higher taxes and lower earnings before interest and taxes ("EBIT"), partially offset by higher credit card revenue and lower
net interest expense.

Comparison of 2017 and 2016

Net Sales and Comparable Sales

Net sales for 2017, which included a 53rd week, decreased $969 million or 3.7% compared to 2016. The decrease in
comparable sales on an owned basis for 2017 was 2.2% compared to 2016. The decrease in comparable sales on an owned
plus licensed basis for 2017 was 1.9% compared to 2016. Geographically, sales in 2017 were strongest in Florida, Eastern
Texas, Louisiana, Hawaii, Oregon, Southern California and Arizona. Digital sales continued to be strong in 2017 and
experienced double digit growth. By family of business, sales in 2017 were strongest in active apparel, fine jewelry,
fragrances, dresses and men's tailored clothing. Sales in 2017 were less strong in handbags although the trend improved in
the second half of the year. Sales of the Company's private label brands represented approximately 20% of net sales in the
Macy's-branded operations in 2017 and 2016.

Credit Card Revenues, Net

Credit card revenues, net were $702 million for 2017, an increase of $46 million compared to $656 million
recognized in 2016. Increased proprietary card usage driven by the enhanced Macy's Star Rewards loyalty program drove
the favorable results.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales for 2017 decreased $485 million from 2016. The cost of sales rate as a percent to net sales of 60.9%
was 40 basis points higher in 2017, as compared to 60.5% in 2016, primarily due to higher delivery expenses associated
with the Company's omnichannel activities and free shipping promotions.

SG&A Expenses

SG&A expenses for 2017 decreased $303 million from 2016, however, the SG&A rate as a percent to net sales of
35.9% was 20 basis points higher in 2017, as compared to 2016. The dollar decrease from 2016 was mainly due to store
closings and the restructuring activities announced in 2016 and 2017, offset slightly by higher expenses associated with the
continued investments in the Company's omnichannel operations, and investments in bluemercury and Macy's Backstage.
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Adpvertising expense, net of cooperative advertising allowances, was $1,108 million for 2017 compared to $1,153 million
for 2016.

Gains on Sale of Real Estate

The Company recognized gains of $544 million in 2017 associated with sales of real estate, as compared to $209
million in 2016. 2017 included gains of $234 million related to the Macy's Union Square location, $71 million related to
the Macy's Brooklyn transaction, $47 million related to the downtown Minneapolis properties and $40 million related to
the downtown Seattle Macy's location. 2016 included $33 million of gains related to the Macy's Brooklyn transaction.

Restructuring, Impairment, Store Closing and Other Costs

Restructuring, impairment, store closing and other costs for 2017 and 2016 of $186 million and $479 million,
respectively, included severance and other human resource-related costs, asset impairment charges and other costs
associated with organizational changes and store closings. 2017 included costs and expenses primarily associated with the
organizational changes and store closings announced in August 2017 and January 2018, while 2016 included costs and

expenses primarily associated with the organizational changes and store closings announced in August 2016 and January
2017.

Benefit Plan Income, Net

2017 and 2016 included $57 million and $55 million, respectively, of non-cash net benefit plan income relating to the
Company's defined benefit plans. This income includes the net of: interest cost, expected return on plan assets and
amortization of prior service costs or credits and actuarial gains and losses.

Settlement Charges

$105 million and $98 million of non-cash settlement charges were recognized in 2017 and 2016, respectively. These
charges relate to the pro-rata recognition of net actuarial losses associated with the Company’s defined benefit retirement
plans and are the result of an increase in lump sum distributions associated with retiree distribution elections and
restructuring activity.

Net Interest Expense

Net interest expense, excluding gains on early retirement of debt, for 2017 decreased $53 million from 2016. This
decrease was primarily driven by the early repayment of $647 million of debt and the repayment at maturity of $300
million of debt in 2017.

Gains on Early Retirement of Debt

In 2017, the Company repurchased approximately $247 million face value of senior notes and debentures and
completed a tender offer debt repurchase of $400 million face value of senior notes and debentures. As a result of these
transactions, the Company recognized a $10 million benefit related to the write-off of the unamortized premium associated
with the debt repayments, net of the premium costs and other expenses.

Effective Tax Rate

The Company's effective tax rate was a benefit of 2.6% for 2017 and expense of 35.9% for 2016. As previously
discussed, 2017 differs from the federal income tax statutory rate of 33.7%, principally due to U.S. federal tax reform
enacted in 2017 that led to the recognition of a non-cash tax benefit of $584 million associated with the remeasurement of
the Company's deferred tax balances. Further, 2017 included the recognition of approximately $15 million of net tax
shortfalls associated with share-based payment awards.

Net Income Attributable to Macy's, Inc. Shareholders

Net income attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders for 2017 increased compared to 2016, driven by higher
operating income due to higher asset sale gains, lower SG&A expenses, restructuring, impairment, store closing and other
costs, partially offset by lower sales and gross margin. Coupled with higher credit card revenue, lower net interest expense
and a net income tax benefit resulted in net income attributable to Macy's Inc. shareholders increasing by $939 million in
2017 as compared to 2016.
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Guidance

The Company's operations are impacted by competitive pressures from department stores, specialty stores, general
merchandise stores, manufacturers' outlets, off-price and discount stores, online retailers, catalogs and television shopping,
among others. The Company's operations are also impacted by general consumer spending levels, including the impact of
general economic conditions, consumer disposable income levels, consumer confidence levels, the availability, cost and
level of consumer debt, the costs of basic necessities and other goods and the effects of weather or natural disasters and
other factors over which the Company has little or no control.

In recent years, consumer spending levels have been affected to varying degrees by a number of factors, including
modest economic growth, uncertainty regarding governmental spending and tax policies, unemployment levels, tightened
consumer credit, and a fluctuating housing and stock market. In addition, consumer spending levels of international
customers are impacted by the strength of the U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies. These factors have affected, to
varying degrees, the amount of funds that consumers are willing and able to spend for discretionary purchases, including
purchases of some of the merchandise offered by the Company.

All economic conditions ultimately affect the Company's overall operations. However, the effects of economic
conditions can be experienced differently and at different times, in the various geographic regions in which the Company
operates, in relation to the different types of merchandise that the Company offers for sale, or in relation to each of the
Company's branded operations.

Based on its assessment of current and anticipated market conditions and its recent performance, the Company's 2019
guidance assumptions include the following:
* Net sales are estimated to be approximately flat to 2018.
« Comparable sales on both an owned and owned plus licensed basis are estimated to be flat to up 1.0%.
+ Credit revenue is estimated to be approximately $740 million to $765 million.

* Gross margin rate is estimated to be down moderately in the first half and down slightly in the second half of the
year.

*  SG&A expense rate is expected to be up slightly with expense savings increasing throughout the year and
helping to offset incremental investment spend.

+ Benefit plan income is estimated to be approximately $25 million.
» Estimated asset sale gains of approximately $100 million.

» Estimated interest expense of approximately $190 million.

+ Effective tax rate is expected to be 23.0%.

* Adjusted diluted earnings per share is expected to be $3.05 to $3.25. Adjusted diluted earnings per share,
excluding asset sale gains, is expected to be $2.80 to $3.00.

» Estimated depreciation and amortization of approximately $975 million.

» Capital expenditures are estimated at approximately $1 billion.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company's principal sources of liquidity are cash from operations, cash on hand and the credit facility described
below.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $1,735 million in 2018 compared to $1,976 million in 2017. The
decline was driven by lower earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") and higher net
inventory investment. These declines in operating cash flows were partially offset by lower cash paid for taxes in 2018
compared to 2017.

Investing Activities

Net cash used by investing activities for 2018 was $456 million, compared to net cash used by investing activities of
$351 million for 2017. Investing activities for 2018 included purchases of property and equipment totaling $657 million
and capitalized software of $275 million, compared to purchases of property and equipment totaling $487 million and
capitalized software of $273 million for 2017.

Capital expenditures were higher by $172 million in 2018 as compared to 2017. This increase in capital expenditures
was largely driven by the Company's Growth50 and Backstage strategic initiatives.

In 2018, the Company continued to execute on its real estate strategy that includes creating value through
monetization and, in some cases, redevelopment of real estate assets. Overall, property and equipment sales, primarily
related to real estate, generated cash proceeds of $474 million in 2018 compared to $411 million in 2017.

Financing Activities

Net cash used by the Company for financing activities was $1,544 million for 2018, including the repayment of
$1,149 million of debt and the payment of $463 million of cash dividends, partially offset by the issuance of $45 million of
common stock, primarily related to the exercise of stock options, and proceeds of $7 million received from Macy's China
Limited's noncontrolling interest shareholder.

During December 2018, the Company completed a tender offer and purchased $750 million in aggregate principal
amount of certain senior unsecured notes and debentures. The purchased senior unsecured notes and debentures included
$164 million of 6.65% senior debentures due 2024, $155 million of 7.0% senior debentures due 2028, $114 million of
6.9% senior debentures due 2029, $103 million of 4.5% senior notes due 2034, $94 million of 6.79% senior debentures due
2027, $35 million of 6.7% senior debentures due 2034, $34 million of 6.375% senior notes due 2037, $34 million of 6.7%
senior debentures due 2028, $10 million of 6.9% senior debentures due 2032, $5 million of 8.75% senior debentures due
2029, and $2 million of 7.875% senior debentures due 2030. The total cash cost for the tender offer was $789 million. The
Company recognized $28 million of expense related to the recognition of the tender premium and other costs partially
offset by the unamortized debt premium associated with this debt. This expense is presented as losses on early retirement
of debt on the Consolidated Statements of Income during 2018.

During 2018, the Company repurchased $344 million face value of senior notes and debentures. The debt
repurchases were made in the open market for a total cost of $354 million, including expenses and other fees related to the
transactions. Such repurchases resulted in the recognition of expense of $5 million during 2018 presented as losses on early
retirement of debt on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Net cash used by the Company for financing activities was $1,446 million for 2017, including the repayment of $988
million of debt and the payment of $461 million of cash dividends, partially offset by the issuance of $6 million of
common stock, primarily related to the exercise of stock options, and proceeds of $13 million received from Macy's China
Limited's noncontrolling interest shareholder.

During December 2017, the Company completed a tender offer and purchased $400 million in aggregate principal
amount of certain senior unsecured notes and debentures. The purchased senior unsecured notes and debentures included
$147 million of 6.9% senior debentures due 2032, $108 million of 6.7% senior debentures due 2034, $96 million of
6.375% senior notes due 2037, $43 million of 8.75% senior debentures due 2029, and $6 million of 7.875% senior
debentures due 2030. The total cash cost for the tender offer was $423 million. The Company recognized $11 million of
income related to the recognition of the unamortized debt premium partially offset by the tender premium and other costs
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associated with this debt. This income is presented as gains on early retirement of debt on the Consolidated Statements of
Income during 2017.

In July 2017, the Company paid $300 million of debt at maturity. During the first and second quarters of 2017, the
Company repurchased $247 million face value of senior notes and debentures. The debt repurchases were made in the open
market for a total cash cost of $257 million, including expenses related to the transactions. Such repurchases resulted in the
recognition of expense of $1 million during 2017 presented as losses on early retirement of debt on the Consolidated
Statements of Income.

The Company entered into a credit agreement with certain financial institutions as of May 6, 2016 providing for
revolving credit borrowings and letters of credit in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1,500 million (which may be
increased to $1,750 million at the option of the Company, subject to the willingness of existing or new lenders to provide
commitments for such additional financing) outstanding at any particular time. This agreement is set to expire May 6, 2021
and replaced the prior agreement which was set to expire May 10, 2018.

As of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, there were no revolving credit loans outstanding under this credit
agreement, and there were no borrowings under the agreement during 2018 and 2017. In addition, there were no standby
letters of credit outstanding at February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018. Revolving loans under the credit agreement bear
interest based on various published rates.

The Company is party to a $1,500 million unsecured commercial paper program. The Company may issue and sell
commercial paper in an aggregate amount outstanding at any particular time not to exceed its then-current combined
borrowing availability under the bank credit agreement with certain financial institutions. There were no borrowings under
the program during 2018 and 2017. As of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, there were no remaining borrowings
outstanding under the commercial paper program.

The credit agreement requires the Company to maintain a specified interest coverage ratio for the latest four quarters
of no less than 3.25 and a specified leverage ratio as of and for the latest four quarters of no more than 3.75. The
Company's interest coverage ratio for 2018 was 11.22 and its leverage ratio at February 2, 2019 was 1.74, in each case as
calculated in accordance with the credit agreement. The interest coverage ratio is defined as EBITDA divided by net
interest expense and the leverage ratio is defined as debt divided by EBITDA. For purposes of these calculations EBITDA
is calculated as net income plus interest expense, taxes, depreciation, amortization, non-cash impairment of goodwill,
intangibles and real estate, non-recurring cash charges not to exceed in the aggregate $300 million and extraordinary losses
less interest income and non-recurring or extraordinary gains. Debt is adjusted to exclude the premium on acquired debt
and net interest is adjusted to exclude the amortization of premium on acquired debt and premium on early retirement of
debt.

A breach of a restrictive covenant in the Company's credit agreement or the inability of the Company to maintain the
financial ratios described above could result in an event of default under the credit agreement. In addition, an event of
default would occur under the credit agreement if any indebtedness of the Company in excess of an aggregate principal
amount of $150 million becomes due prior to its stated maturity or the holders of such indebtedness become able to cause it
to become due prior to its stated maturity. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the lenders could, subject to the
terms and conditions of the credit agreement, elect to declare the outstanding principal, together with accrued interest, to be
immediately due and payable. Moreover, most of the Company's senior notes and debentures contain cross-default
provisions based on the non-payment at maturity, or other default after an applicable grace period, of any other debt, the
unpaid principal amount of which is not less than $100 million that could be triggered by an event of default under the
credit agreement. In such an event, the Company's senior notes and debentures that contain cross-default provisions would
also be subject to acceleration.

At February 2, 2019, no notes or debentures contain provisions requiring acceleration of payment upon a debt rating
downgrade. However, the terms of approximately $3,759 million in aggregate principal amount of the Company's senior
notes outstanding at that date require the Company to offer to purchase such notes at a price equal to 101% of their
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest in specified circumstances involving both a change of control (as defined
in the applicable indenture) of the Company and the rating of the notes by specified rating agencies at a level below
investment grade.
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As of February 2, 2019, the Company had $1,716 million of authorization remaining under its share repurchase
program. The Company may continue or, from time to time, suspend repurchases of shares under its share repurchase
program, depending on prevailing market conditions, alternate uses of capital and other factors.

On February 22, 2019, the Company's board of directors declared a quarterly dividend of 37.75 cents per share on its
common stock, payable April 1, 2019, to shareholders of record at the close of business on March 15, 2019.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

At February 2, 2019, the Company had contractual obligations (within the scope of Item 303(a)(5) of Regulation S-
K) as follows:

Obligations Due, by Period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(millions)
Short-term debt.......ooviieiieeeeeeee e $ 42 $ 42 S — — 3 —
Long-term debt........cccovvieiieiieiiiiicieeeee e 4,671 — 1,092 1,150 2,429
Interest on debt.......coeviiiiieniininineee e 2,069 214 402 327 1,126
Capital lease obligations..........c.cceeeeeveeneneninienenenencene. 46 3 6 6 31
OPEIAtING LEASES (@) -+ svvrrssssssmsmsmsevseveesensnnnnnenesssssssssssssssssisssene 4254 325 624 547 2,758
Letters of Credit ....o.veveirerieirieneiccrieceeeeesceeee 28 28 — — —
Other 0bligations ..........ccoeuivirieirieiiineieceseeeeeeees 5,022 3,188 825 299 710

$ 16,132 § 3800 § 2949 § 2329 § 7,054

(a) Operating leases include executed leases not yet commenced.

“Other obligations” in the foregoing table includes post employment and postretirement benefits, self-insurance
reserves, group medical/dental/life insurance programs, merchandise purchase obligations and obligations under
outsourcing arrangements, construction contracts, energy and other supply agreements identified by the Company and
liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits that the Company expects to settle in cash in the next year excluding interest and
penalties. The Company's merchandise purchase obligations fluctuate on a seasonal basis, typically being higher in the
summer and early fall and being lower in the late winter and early spring. The Company purchases a substantial portion of
its merchandise inventories and other goods and services otherwise than through binding contracts. Consequently, the
amounts shown as “Other obligations” in the foregoing table do not reflect the total amounts that the Company would need
to spend on goods and services in order to operate its businesses in the ordinary course.

Of the Company's $149 million of unrecognized tax benefits at February 2, 2019, within "other obligations" in the
foregoing table, the Company has excluded $4 million of deferred tax assets and $117 million of long-term liabilities for
unrecognized tax benefits for various tax positions taken. The table also excludes federal, state and local interest and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits of $56 million. These liabilities may increase or decrease over time as a result
of tax examinations, and given the status of examinations, the Company cannot reliably estimate the period of any cash
settlement with the respective taxing authorities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources Outlook

Management believes that, with respect to the Company's current operations, cash on hand and funds from
operations, together with its credit facility and other capital resources, will be sufficient to cover the Company's reasonably
foreseeable working capital, capital expenditure and debt service requirements and other cash requirements in both the near
term and over the longer term. The Company's ability to generate funds from operations may be affected by numerous
factors, including general economic conditions and levels of consumer confidence and demand; however, the Company
expects to be able to manage its working capital levels and capital expenditure amounts so as to maintain sufficient levels
of liquidity. To the extent that the Company's cash balances from time to time exceed amounts that are needed to fund its
immediate liquidity requirements, the Company will consider alternative uses of some or all of such excess cash. Such
alternative uses may include, among others, the redemption or repurchase of debt, equity or other securities through open
market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise, and the funding of pension related obligations. Depending
upon its actual and anticipated sources and uses of liquidity, conditions in the capital markets and other factors, the
Company will from time to time consider the issuance of debt or other securities, or other possible capital markets
transactions, for the purpose of raising capital which could be used to refinance current indebtedness or for other corporate
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purposes including the redemption or repurchase of debt, equity or other securities through open market purchases,
privately negotiated transactions or otherwise, and the funding of pension related obligations.

The Company intends from time to time to consider additional acquisitions of, and investments in, retail businesses
and other complementary assets and companies. Acquisition transactions, if any, are expected to be financed from one or
more of the following sources: cash on hand, cash from operations, borrowings under existing or new credit facilities and
the issuance of long-term debt or other securities, including common stock.

Important Information Regarding Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The Company reports its financial results in accordance with GAAP. However, management believes that certain
non-GAAP financial measures provide users of the Company's financial information with additional useful information in
evaluating operating performance. Management believes that providing supplemental changes in comparable sales on an
owned plus licensed basis, which includes the impact of growth in comparable sales of departments licensed to third
parties, assists in evaluating the Company's ability to generate sales growth, whether through owned businesses or
departments licensed to third parties, on a comparable basis, and in evaluating the impact of changes in the manner in
which certain departments are operated. In addition, management believes that excluding certain items that are not
associated with the Company's core operations and that may vary substantially in frequency and magnitude period-to-
period from diluted earnings per share attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders, EBIT and EBITDA, including as a percent
to sales, provide useful supplemental measures that assist in evaluating the Company's ability to generate earnings and
leverage sales, respectively, and to more readily compare these metrics between past and future periods. Management also
believes that EBIT, EBITDA, Adjusted EBIT and Adjusted EBITDA are frequently used by investors and securities
analysts in their evaluations of companies, and that such supplemental measures facilitate comparisons between companies
that have different capital and financing structures and/or tax rates. In addition, management believes that ROIC is a useful
supplemental measure in evaluating how efficiently the Company employs its capital. The Company uses some of these
non-GAAP financial measures as performance measures for components of executive compensation.

The reconciliation of the forward-looking non-GAAP financial measure of changes in comparable sales on an owned
plus licensed basis to GAAP comparable sales (i.e., on an owned basis) is in the same manner as illustrated below, where
the impact of growth in comparable sales of departments licensed to third parties is the only reconciling item. In addition,
the Company does not provide the most directly comparable forward-looking GAAP measure of diluted earnings per share
attributable to Macy’s, Inc. shareholders excluding certain items because the timing and amount of excluded items are
unreasonably difficult to fully and accurately estimate.

Non-GAAP financial measures should be viewed as supplementing, and not as an alternative or substitute for, the
Company's financial results prepared in accordance with GAAP. Certain of the items that may be excluded or included in
non-GAAP financial measures may be significant items that could impact the Company's financial position, results of
operations or cash flows and should therefore be considered in assessing the Company's actual and future financial
condition and performance. Additionally, the amounts received by the Company on account of sales of departments
licensed to third parties are limited to commissions received on such sales. The methods used by the Company to calculate
its non-GA AP financial measures may differ significantly from methods used by other companies to compute similar
measures. As a result, any non-GAAP financial measures presented herein may not be comparable to similar measures
provided by other companies.
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Changes in Comparable Sales

The following is a tabular reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measure of changes in comparable sales on an
owned plus licensed basis, to GAAP comparable sales (i.e., on an owned basis), which the Company believes to be the
most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.

2018 2017 2016
Increase (decrease) in comparable sales on an owned basis (note 1) ..........cceevevverierrenenne. 1.7% 2.2)% (3.5%
Impact of growth in comparable sales of departments licensed to third parties (note 2) ... 0.3% 0.3 % 0.6 %
Increase (decrease) in comparable sales on an owned plus licensed basis......................... 2.0% (1.9% 2.9%

Notes:

(1) Represents the period-to-period percentage change in net sales from stores in operation throughout the year presented
and the immediately preceding year and all online sales, adjusting for the 53rd week in 2017, excluding commissions
from departments licensed to third parties. Stores impacted by a natural disaster or undergoing significant expansion or
shrinkage remain in the comparable sales calculation unless the store, or a material portion of the store, is closed for a
significant period of time. Definitions and calculations of comparable sales differ among companies in the retail
industry.

(2) Represents the impact of including the sales of departments licensed to third parties occurring in stores in operation
throughout the year presented and the immediately preceding year and all online sales, adjusting for the 53rd week in
2017, in the calculation of comparable sales. The Company licenses third parties to operate certain departments in its
stores and online and receives commissions from these third parties based on a percentage of their net sales. In its
financial statements prepared in conformity with GAAP, the Company includes these commissions (rather than sales
of the departments licensed to third parties) in its net sales. The Company does not, however, include any amounts in
respect of licensed department sales (or any commissions earned on such sales) in its comparable sales in accordance
with GAAP (i.e., on an owned basis). The amounts of commissions earned on sales of departments licensed to third
parties are not material to its net sales for the periods presented.

Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share Attributable to Macy's, Inc. Shareholders

The following is a tabular reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measure diluted earnings per share attributable
to Macy's, Inc. shareholders, excluding certain items, to GAAP diluted earnings per share attributable to Macy's, Inc.
shareholders, which the Company believes to be the most directly comparable GAAP measure.

2018 2017 2016
ASTEPOILEA ...t $ 356 $ 510 $ 2.02
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and other costs (a) ----- 0.41 0.61 1.54
Settlement Charges...........cccceeeevieviiriieieieiese e 0.28 0.34 0.31
Losses (gains) on early retirement of debt ...........c.ccccevveveeenn. 0.11 (0.03) —
Income tax impact of certain items identified above................. (0.18) (0.33) (0.73)
Deferred tax effects of federal tax reform............ccocvevvvevriennnn. — (1.90) —
AS AQJUSEEd ... $ 418 $ 379§ 3.14
Gains on sale of real eState .........cceeeevieiiieieeieeie e (1.25) §$ (1.77) 0.67)
Income tax impact of gains on sale of real estate...................... 033 $ 0.67 0.26
As adjusted excluding gains on sale of real estate .................... $ 326 $ 269 $ 2.73

(a) 2018 excludes impairment, restructuring, and other costs attributable to the noncontrollling interest shareholder of $8 million.
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Adjusted EBIT and EBITDA as a Percent to Net Sales

The following is a tabular reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measure EBIT and EBITDA, as adjusted to
exclude certain items ("Adjusted EBIT and Adjusted EBITDA"), as a percent to net sales to GAAP net income attributable
to Macy's, Inc. shareholders as a percent to net sales, which the Company believes to be the most directly comparable
GAAP financial measure.

2018 2017 2016
(millions, except percentages)

INEE SALES ...ttt ettt e et eeeeae e e et e et e saeseeanens $ 24971  $ 24939 $ 25,908
Net income attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders............c..cccovernenens $ 1,108 $ 1,566 $ 627
Net income attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders

as @ Percent t0 Nt SAIES........ccverierierieiieieriese et 4.4% 6.3% 2.4%
Net income attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders...............cccevennennee. $ 1,108  $ 1,566 $ 627
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and other costs (a) - weweeeene. 128 186 479
Settlement Charges ........ccceeveviiiiieieeece e 88 105 98
INterest EXPENSE = NEL .....ccvervieiieieeie ettt ete et ae e ere e esae e 236 310 363
Losses (gains) on early retirement of debt............ccceevveviieiiceevienienreennne, 33 (10) —
Federal, state and local income tax expense (benefit) .............ccocvervrnnenne. 322 39) 346
Adjusted EBIT ...c..cooiiiiiiiieceeeteree et $ 1915 § 2,118  § 1,913
Adjusted EBIT as a percent to net sales..........ccoovveveienenenieierienieneeeenne 7.7% 8.5% 7.4%
Add back depreciation and amortization ..............cceeceeeeeecriesreerreesveennennn 962 991 1,058
Adjusted EBITDA......couoiiieeeee et $ 2,877 $ 3,109 $ 2,971
Adjusted EBITDA as a percent to net sales..........cccceeevereneeeneneceennenes 11.5% 12.5% 11.5%

(a) 2018 excludes impairment, restructuring, and other costs attributable to the noncontrollling interest shareholder of $8 million.
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ROIC

The Company defines ROIC as adjusted EBITDA, excluding net rent expense, as a percent to average invested
capital. Average invested capital is comprised of an annual two-point (i.e., end of the year presented and the immediately
preceding year) average of gross property and equipment, a capitalized value of non-capitalized leases equal to periodic
annual reported net rent expense multiplied by a factor of eight and a four-point (i.e., end of each quarter within the period
presented) average of other selected assets and liabilities. The calculation of the capitalized value of non-capitalized leases
is consistent with industry and credit rating agency practice and the specified assets are subject to a four-point average to

compensate for seasonal fluctuations.

The following is a tabular reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measure of ROIC to net income as a percent to
property and equipment - net, which the Company believes to be the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.

2018 2017 2016
(millions, except percentages)

INEt INCOME ..ottt ettt et re v eveeebeeveenseeareas $ 1,098  § 1,555  §$ 619
Property and equipment - Net..........cccoevevrereeeerienrereeeeennnns $ 6,655 § 6,845 § 7,317
Net income as a percent to property and

CUIPIMENE = NET...c.vivieeieiieieeeieeetetete et ere et eeeeeeneens 16.5% 22.7% 8.5%
INEEINCOME ... $ 1,098 § 1,555  § 619
Add back interest eXpense, Net..........cceeveevreerreerreeseesreenn 236 310 363
Add back (deduct) losses (gains) on early retirement of

EDE .t 33 (10) —
Add back (deduct) federal, state and local tax expense

(DENETIt) c.evieiiciece e 322 (39) 346
Add back restructuring, impairment, store closing and

OtHET COSES ...ttt 136 186 479
Add back settlement charges...........ccccooeevrvevienieneeieieens 88 105 98
Add back depreciation and amortization.................cceueenee. 962 991 1,058
Add back rent expense, net

Real €State. ... ..cooueeireieieee e 327 310 306

Personal Property........cccceeveeveeeeierienriereeeeieereereeeeeenens 9 10 11

Deferred rent amortization ...............cceeeeeeeverreereeeeeennns 14 14 9
Adjusted EBITDA.......coccoiiiiiiiieeet e $ 3225  § 3432 § 3,289
Property and equipment - N€t..........ccecveerieeeeerienieieeeieeenne. $ 6,655 § 6,845  § 7,317
Add back accumulated depreciation and amortization ....... 4,553 4,733 5,088
Add capitalized value of non-capitalized leases ................. 2,800 2,672 2,608
Add (deduct) other selected assets and liabilities:

ReECeIVADIES.......eoieiieieiiiciieeeeeeee e 273 327 402

MerchandiSe INVENLOTIES. ........eevveuvvieeieieieeeeeeeeeeeieeeeeennes 5,664 5,712 6,012

Prepaid expenses and other current assets....................... 608 616 687

Oher @SSELS......cuerveieiriiieieienteteeee et 803 830 881

Merchandise accounts payable (2,219) (2,115) (2,173)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ............cccu.ee... (2,917) (3,127) (3,075)
Total average invested capital............cccoeveeveivreveerieriirennane. $ 16,220 $ 16493  §$ 17,747
ROIC ..ttt 19.9% 20.8% 18.5%
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Critical Accounting Policies
Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) retail inventory
method. Under the retail inventory method, inventory is segregated into departments of merchandise having similar
characteristics, and is stated at its current retail selling value. The retail inventory method inherently requires management
judgments and estimates, such as the amount and timing of permanent markdowns to clear unproductive or slow-moving
inventory, which may impact the ending inventory valuation as well as gross margins.

Permanent markdowns designated for clearance activity are recorded when the utility of the inventory has
diminished. Factors considered in the determination of permanent markdowns include current and anticipated demand,
customer preferences, age of the merchandise and fashion trends. When a decision is made to permanently mark down
merchandise, the resulting gross margin reduction is recognized in the period the markdown is recorded.

Long-Lived Asset Impairment and Restructuring Charges

The carrying values of long-lived assets are periodically reviewed by the Company whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable, such as historical operating losses or plans to close
stores before the end of their previously estimated useful lives. Additionally, on an annual basis, the recoverability of the
carrying values of individual stores is evaluated. A potential impairment has occurred if projected future undiscounted cash
flows are less than the carrying value of the assets. The estimate of cash flows includes management's assumptions of cash
inflows and outflows directly resulting from the use of those assets in operations. When a potential impairment has
occurred, an impairment write-down is recorded if the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. The
Company believes its estimated cash flows are sufficient to support the carrying value of its long-lived assets. If estimated
cash flows significantly differ in the future, the Company may be required to record asset impairment write-downs.

If the Company commits to a plan to dispose of a long-lived asset before the end of its previously estimated useful
life, estimated cash flows are revised accordingly, and the Company may be required to record an asset impairment write-
down. Additionally, related liabilities arise such as severance, contractual obligations and other accruals associated with
store closings from decisions to dispose of assets. The Company estimates these liabilities based on the facts and
circumstances in existence for each restructuring decision. The amounts the Company will ultimately realize or disburse
could differ from the amounts assumed in arriving at the asset impairment and restructuring charge recorded.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are estimated based on the tax statutes, regulations and case law of the various jurisdictions in which
the Company operates. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases, and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. Deferred income tax assets are evaluated for recoverability based on all available
evidence, including past operating results, estimates of future taxable income, and the feasibility of tax planning strategies.
Deferred income tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion of the
deferred income tax assets will not be realized.

Uncertain tax positions are recognized if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that
the tax position will be sustained on examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based
on the technical merits of the position. Uncertain tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are
then measured to determine the amount of benefit eligible for recognition in the financial statements. Each uncertain tax
position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate settlement.
Uncertain tax positions are evaluated and adjusted as appropriate, while taking into account the progress of audits of
various taxing jurisdictions. Resolution of these matters could have a material impact on the Company's consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Significant judgment is required in evaluating the Company's uncertain tax positions, provision for income taxes, and
any valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets. Although the Company believes that its judgments are
reasonable, no assurance can be given that the final tax outcome of these matters will not be different from that which is
reflected in the Company's historical income provisions and accruals.
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Pension and Supplementary Retirement Plans

The Company has a funded defined benefit pension plan (the “Pension Plan”) and an unfunded defined benefit
supplementary retirement plan (the “SERP”). The Company accounts for these plans in accordance with ASC Topic 715,
Compensation - Retirement Benefits. Under ASC Topic 715, an employer recognizes the funded status of a defined benefit
postretirement plan as an asset or liability on the balance sheet and recognizes changes in that funded status in the year in
which the changes occur through comprehensive income. Additionally, pension expense is generally recognized on an
accrual basis over the average remaining lifetime of participants. The pension expense calculation is generally independent
of funding decisions or requirements.

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 provides the funding requirements for the Pension Plan which are different from
the employer's accounting for the plan as outlined in ASC Topic 715. No funding contributions were required, and the
Company made no funding contributions to the Pension Plan in 2018 and 2017. As of the date of this report, the Company
does not anticipate making funding contributions to the Pension Plan in 2019. Management believes that, with respect to
the Company's current operations, cash on hand and funds from operations, together with available borrowing under its
credit facility and other capital resources, will be sufficient to cover the Company's Pension Plan cash requirements in both
the near term and also over the longer term.

The calculation of pension expense and pension liabilities requires the use of a number of assumptions. Changes in
these assumptions can result in different expense and liability amounts, and future actual experience may differ
significantly from current expectations. The Company believes that the most critical assumptions relate to the long-term
rate of return on plan assets (in the case of the Pension Plan) and the discount rate used to determine the present value of
projected benefit obligations.

The Company's assumed annual long-term rate of return for the Pension Plan's assets was 6.75% for 2018, and
7.00% for 2017 and 2016 based on expected future returns on the portfolio of assets. For 2019, the Company is lowering
the assumed annual long-term rate of return to 6.50% based on expected future returns of the portfolio of assets. The
Company develops its expected long-term rate of return assumption by evaluating input from several professional advisors
taking into account the asset allocation of the portfolio and long-term asset class return expectations, as well as long-term
inflation assumptions. Pension expense increases or decreases as the expected rate of return on the assets of the Pension
Plan decreases or increases, respectively. Lowering or raising the expected long-term rate of return assumption on the
Pension Plan's assets by 0.25% would increase or decrease the estimated 2019 pension expense by approximately $7
million.

The Company discounted its future pension obligations using a weighted-average rate of 4.03% at February 2, 2019
and 3.74% at February 3, 2018 for the Pension Plan and 4.10% at February 2, 2019 and 3.78% at February 3, 2018 for the
SERP. The discount rate used to determine the present value of the Company's Pension Plan and SERP obligations is based
on a yield curve constructed from a portfolio of high quality corporate debt securities with various maturities. Each year's
expected future benefit payments are discounted to their present value at the appropriate yield curve rate, thereby
generating the overall discount rate for Pension Plan and SERP obligations. As the discount rate is reduced or increased,
the pension liability would increase or decrease, respectively, and future pension expense would decrease or increase,
respectively. Lowering the discount rates by 0.25% would increase the projected benefit obligations at February 2, 2019 by
approximately $77 million and would decrease estimated 2019 pension expense by approximately $3 million. Increasing
the discount rates by 0.25% would decrease the projected benefit obligations at February 2, 2019 by approximately $72
million and would increase estimated 2019 pension expense by approximately $3 million.

The Company estimates the service and interest cost components of net periodic benefit costs for the Pension Plan
and SERP. This method uses a full yield curve approach in the estimation of these components of net periodic benefit
costs. Under this approach, the Company applies discounting using individual spot rates from the yield curve composed of
the rates of return from a portfolio of high quality corporate debt securities available at the measurement date. These spot
rates align to each of the projected benefit obligation and service cost cash flows.

New Pronouncements

See Note 1, "Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies," of the Consolidated Financial
Statements for discussion on new accounting pronouncements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates that may adversely affect its financial position,
results of operations and cash flows. In seeking to minimize the risks from interest rate fluctuations, the Company manages
exposures through its regular operating and financing activities and, when deemed appropriate, through the use of
derivative financial instruments. The Company does not use financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes
and is not a party to any leveraged financial instruments.

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through its borrowing activities, which are described in Note 6 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. All of the Company’s borrowings are under fixed rate instruments. However, the
Company, from time to time, may use interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements to help manage its exposure to
interest rate movements and reduce borrowing costs. At February 2, 2019, the Company was not a party to any derivative
financial instruments and based on the Company’s lack of market risk sensitive instruments outstanding at February 2,
2019, the Company has determined that there was no material market risk exposure to the Company’s consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows as of such date.

Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Information called for by this item is set forth in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and
supplementary data contained in this report and is incorporated herein by this reference. Specific financial statements and
supplementary data can be found at the pages listed in the following index:

INDEX
Page

REPOTt OFf MANAZEIMENL ......ecuviiiieiieie ettt ettt ete et e et e et eetaesabesabeesaeeseessbessseeseesseesssesssesssesseesssesssesseenseessens F-2
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting FirM ........c.cocuviierieriiiiiiiieeieciece et F-3
Consolidated Statements of Income for the fiscal years ended

February 2, 2019, February 3, 2018, and January 28, 2017 ......c.coceeieeiieiieeieeieeee ettt F-5
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the fiscal years ended

February 2, 2019, February 3, 2018, and January 28, 2017 .......ccverierierieniieeeieerieesieese e F-6
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018........cccccveieveienieieieeceeeeieiene F-7
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the fiscal years ended

February 2, 2019, February 3, 2018, and January 28, 2017 ........c.ccerieririeieienieeieeieiesie et sre e eseeaenne s F-8
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended

February 2, 2019, February 3, 2018, and January 28, 2017 ........cccereririeieierieeeeieiene et sre e eseeaenne s F-9
Notes to Consolidated Financial StatemeEnts..........c.eoeverieieriere ettt eeeeee e F-10
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
a. Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have carried out, as of February 2, 2019, with
the participation of the Company’s management, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based upon this evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of February 2, 2019 the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in
reports the Company files under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time
periods specified in the SEC rules and forms, and that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports
the Company files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management,
including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

b. Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). The Company’s management conducted an assessment of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the framework established by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment,
the Company’s management has concluded that, as of February 2, 2019, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting is effective.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has audited the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of February 2, 2019 and has issued an attestation report expressing
an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, as stated in their
report located on page F-3.

c. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

From time to time major organizational restructuring and realignment occurs for which the Company reviews its
internal control over financial reporting. As a result of this review, there were no changes in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s most recently completed quarter that materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this item for executive officers is set forth under “Item 1. Business - Executive Officers
of the Registrant” in this report. The other information called for by this item is set forth under “Item 1. Election of
Directors” and “Further Information Concerning the Board of Directors - Committees of the Board” and “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement to be delivered to stockholders in connection with
the 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “Proxy Statement”), and incorporated herein by reference.

The Company’s Code of Conduct is in compliance with the applicable rules of the SEC that apply to the principal
executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer or comptroller, or persons performing similar
functions. A copy of the Code of Conduct is available, free of charge, through the Company’s website at
https://www.macysinc.com. We intend to satisfy any disclosure requirement under Item 5 of Form 8-K regarding an
amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of the Code of Conduct by posting such information to the Company’s website
at the address and location specified above.
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Set forth below are the names, ages and principal occupations of the Company's non-employee directors as of March
21, 2019.

Director

Name Age Since Principal Occupation

David P. Abney......ccccccvvvveevnenne. 63 2018 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of UPS, Inc., a
multinational package delivery and supply chain management
company, since 2016 and 2014, respectively. Chief Operating
Officer of UPS, Inc. since 2007.

Francis S. Blake .........cccooeeee. 69 2015 Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of The Home
Depot, Inc., a multinational home improvement retailer.

John A. Bryant..........cccccceenenenn 53 2015 Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Kellogg
Company, a multinational cereal and snack food producer.

Deirdre P. Connelly................... 58 2008 Former President, North American Pharmaceuticals of
GlaxoSmithKline, a global pharmaceutical company.

Leslie D. Hale .......ccccovevuvnneeee. 46 2015 President and Chief Executive Officer of RLJ Lodging Trust, a
publicly-traded lodging real estate investment trust, since 2018.

William H. Lenehan.................. 42 2016 President and Chief Executive Officer of Four Corners Property
Trust, Inc., a real estate investment trust, since 2015.

Sara Levinson..........cccceverveenene 68 1997 Co-Founder and Director of Katapult, a digital entertainment
company making products for today's creative generation, since
2013.

Joyce M. Roché........ccceneenee. 72 2006 Former President and Chief Executive Officer of Girls
Incorporated, a national non-profit research, education and
advocacy organization.

Paul C. Varga.......cccccoevvvuveernnnne. 55 2012 Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Brown-
Forman Corporation, a spirits and wine company.

Marna C. Whittington ............... 71 1993 Former Chief Executive Officer of Allianz Global Investors
Capital, a diversified global investment firm.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information called for by this item is set forth under “Compensation Discussion & Analysis,” “Compensation of the
Named Executives for 2018,” “Compensation Committee Report,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider
Participation” and "Further Information Concerning the Board of Directors — Risk Oversight" in the Proxy Statement and
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

Information called for by this item is set forth under “Stock Ownership — Certain Beneficial Owners,” “Stock
Ownership — Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans,” and “Stock Ownership — Stock
Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers” in the Proxy Statement and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Information called for by this item is set forth under “Further Information Concerning the Board of Directors —
Director Independence” and “Policy on Related Person Transactions™ in the Proxy Statement and incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information called for by this item is set forth under “Item 2. Ratification of the Appointment of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Proxy Statement and incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 15.

PART IV

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements:

Supplementary Data” and is incorporated herein by reference.

2. Financial Statement Schedules:

the Consolidated Financial Statements or the notes thereto.

32

4.1

4.2
4.3

43.1

4.4

441

3. Exhibits:

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock

Article Seventh of the Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation

Amended and Restated By-Laws

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

Amended and Restated By-Laws

Indenture, dated as of January 15, 1991, among the
Company (as successor to The May Department Stores
Company (“May Delaware”)), Macy's Retail Holdings,
Inc. (“Macy's Retail”) (f/k/a The May Department
Stores Company (NY) or “May New York”) and The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.
(“BNY Mellon”, successor to J.P. Morgan Trust
Company and as successor to The First National Bank
of Chicago), as Trustee (“1991 Indenture”)

Guarantee of Securities, dated as of August 30, 2005,
by the Company relating to 1991 Indenture

Indenture, dated as of December 15, 1994, between the
Company and U.S. Bank National Association
(successor to State Street Bank and Trust Company
and The First National Bank of Boston), as Trustee
(“1994 Indenture”)

Ninth Supplemental Indenture to 1994 Indenture,
dated as of July 14, 1997, between the Company and
U.S. Bank National Association (successor to State
Street Bank and Trust Company and The First National
Bank of Boston), as Trustee
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The list of financial statements required by this item is set forth in Item 8 “Consolidated Financial Statements and

All schedules are omitted because they are inapplicable, not required, or the information is included elsewhere in

Document if Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed May 18, 2010

Exhibit 3.1.1 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 1-13536) for the fiscal year
ended January 28, 1995

Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed May 24, 2011

Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed September 30, 2016

See Exhibits 3.1,
3.1.1 and
3.1.2

See Exhibit 3.2

Exhibit 4(2) to May New York’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed January 15, 1991

Exhibit 10.13 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed August 30, 2005 (“August 30, 2005
Form 8-K”)

Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 33-88328)
filed January 9, 1995

Exhibit 3 to the Company's Current Report on Form
8-K filed July 15, 1997



Exhibit
Number

443

4.5

451

4.5.2

453

454

4.6

4.6.1

4.7

4.7.1

4.8

4.8.1

Description

Tenth Supplemental Indenture to 1994 Indenture,
dated as of August 30, 2005, among the Company,
Macy's Retail and U.S. Bank National Association (as
successor to State Street Bank and Trust Company and
as successor to The First National Bank of Boston), as
Trustee

Guarantee of Securities, dated as of August 30, 2005,
by the Company relating to 1994 Indenture

Indenture, dated as of September 10, 1997, between
the Company and U.S. Bank National Association
(successor to Citibank, N.A.), as Trustee (“1997
Indenture”)

First Supplemental Indenture to 1997 Indenture, dated
as of February 6, 1998, between the Company and
U.S. Bank National Association (successor to
Citibank, N.A.), as Trustee

Third Supplemental Indenture to 1997 Indenture, dated
as of March 24, 1999, between the Company and U.S.
Bank National Association (successor to Citibank,
N.A.), as Trustee

Seventh Supplemental Indenture to 1997 Indenture,
dated as of August 30, 2005 among the Company,
Macy's Retail and U.S. Bank National Association
(successor to Citibank, N.A.), as Trustee

Guarantee of Securities, dated as of August 30, 2005,
by the Company relating to 1997 Indenture

Indenture, dated as of June 17, 1996, among the
Company (as successor to May Delaware), Macy's
Retail (f/k/a May New York) and The Bank of New
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (“BNY Mellon”,
successor to J.P. Morgan Trust Company), as Trustee
(“1996 Indenture’)

First Supplemental Indenture to 1996 Indenture, dated
as of August 30, 2005, by and among the Company (as
successor to May Delaware), Macy's Retail (f/k/a May
New York) and BNY Mellon (successor to J.P. Morgan
Trust Company, National Association), as Trustee

Indenture, dated as of July 20, 2004, among the
Company (as successor to May Delaware), Macy's
Retail (f/k/a May New York) and BNY Mellon, as
Trustee (“2004 Indenture”)

First Supplemental Indenture to 2004 Indenture, dated
as of August 30, 2005 among the Company (as
successor to May Delaware), Macy's Retail and BNY
Mellon (successor to J.P. Morgan Trust Company,
National Association), as Trustee

Indenture, dated as of November 2, 2006, by and
among Macy's Retail, the Company and U.S. Bank
National Association, as Trustee (“2006 Indenture”)

Third Supplemental Indenture to 2006 Indenture, dated
March 12, 2007, among Macy's Retail, the Company
and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee
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Document if Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit 10.14 to August 30, 2005 Form 8-K

Exhibit 10.16 to August 30, 2005 Form §8-K

Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's Amendment No. 1 to
Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-34321) filed
September 11, 1997

Exhibit 2 to the Company's Current Report on Form

8-K filed February 6, 1998

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration
No. 333-76795) filed April 22, 1999

Exhibit 10.15 to August 30, 2005 Form 8-K

Exhibit 10.17 to August 30, 2005 Form 8-K

Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-06171) filed
June 18, 1996 by May Delaware

Exhibit 10.9 to August 30, 2005 Form 8-K

Exhibit 4.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K (File
No. 001-00079) filed July 22, 2004 by May
Delaware

Exhibit 10.10 to August 30, 2005 Form 8-K

Exhibit 4.6 to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-3ASR (Registration
No. 333-138376) filed November 2, 2006

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed March 12, 2007



Exhibit
Number

4.9

49.1

4.9.2

493

494

4.9.5

4.9.6

4.9.7

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4+

10.5

Description

Sixth Supplemental Indenture to 2006 Indenture, dated
December 10, 2015, among Macy's Retail, the
Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as
Trustee

Indenture, dated as of January 13, 2012, among Macy's
Retail, the Company and BNY Mellon, as Trustee
("2012 Indenture")

First Supplemental Trust Indenture to 2012 Indenture,
dated as of January 13,2012, among Macy's Retail, as
issuer, the Company, as guarantor, and BNY Mellon,
as trustee

Second Supplemental Trust Indenture to 2012
Indenture, dated as of January 13, 2012, among Macy's
Retail, as issuer, the Company, as guarantor, and BNY
Mellon, as trustee

Third Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as of
November 20, 2012, among Macy's Retail, as issuer,
the Company, as guarantor, and BNY Mellon, as
trustee

Fourth Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as of
November 20, 2012, among Macy's Retail, as issuer,
the Company, as guarantor, and BNY Mellon, as
trustee

Fifth Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as of
September 6, 2013, among Macy's Retail, as issuer, the
Company, as guarantor, and BNY Mellon, as trustee

Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as of May
23, 2014, among Macy's Retail, as issuer, the
Company, as guarantor, and BNY Mellon, as trustee

Seventh Supplemental Trust Indenture, dated as of
November 18, 2014, among Macy's Retail, as issuer,
the Company, as guarantor, and BNY Mellon, as
trustee

Credit Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2016, among the
Company, Macy's Retail, the lenders party thereto and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent
and paying agent, and Bank of America, N.A., as
administrative agent

Guarantee Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2016,
among the Company, Macy's Retail, certain subsidiary
guarantors and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as paying
agent

Tax Sharing Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2014,
among Macy's, Inc. and members of the Affiliated
Group

Amended and Restated Credit Card Program
Agreement, dated November 10, 2014, among the
Company, FDS Bank, Macy's Credit and Customer
Services, Inc. (“MCCS”), Macy's West Stores, Inc.,
Bloomingdales, Inc., Department Stores National
Bank ("DSNB") and Citibank, N.A.

Senior Executive Incentive Compensation Plan *
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Document if Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed December 10, 2015

Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed January 13, 2012 (“January 13,
2012 Form 8-K”)

Exhibit 4.2 to January 13, 2012 Form §8-K

Exhibit 4.3 to January 13, 2012 Form 8-K

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed November 20, 2012 (“November
20, 2012 Form 8-K”)

Exhibit 4.3 to November 20, 2012 Form 8-K

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on

Form 8-K filed September 6, 2013

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed May 23, 2014

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed November 18, 2014

Exhibit 10.01 to the Company's Current Report on

Form 8-K filed May 11, 2016 (“May 11, 2016 Form

8_K’ a)

Exhibit 10.02 to May 11, 2016 Form 8-K

Exhibit 10.7 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 1-13536) for the fiscal year
ended January 31, 2015 (“2014 Form 10-K”)

Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed December 8, 2014

Appendix B to the Company's Proxy Statement
dated March 31, 2017



Exhibit
Number

10.6

10.8

10.8.1

10.9

10.9.1

10.9.2

10.9.3

10.9.4

10.10

10.10.1

10.11

10.11.1

10.11.2

10.11.3

10.12

Description

1994 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as
of June 1, 2007 *

Form of Indemnification Agreement *

Executive Severance Plan, effective November 1,
2009, as revised and restated January 1, 2014 *

Senior Executive Severance Plan effective as of April
1,2018 *

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for
the 1994 Stock Incentive Plan *

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under
the 2009 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (for
Executives and Key Employees) *

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under
the Amended and Restated 2009 Omnibus Incentive
Compensation Plan (for Executives and Key
Employees) *

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under
the Amended and Restated 2009 Omnibus Incentive
Compensation Plan (for Executives and Key
Employees), as amended *

Form of Stock Option Terms and Conditions under the
2018 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan *

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for the 1994
Stock Incentive Plan *

Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Agreement
under the 2009 Omnibus Incentive Compensation
Plan *

2016-2018 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Terms and Conditions under the Amended and
Restated 2009 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan
*

2017-2019 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Terms and Conditions under the Amended and
Restated 2009 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan
*

2018-2020 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Terms and Conditions under the Amended and

Restated 2009 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan
*

2019-2021 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Terms and Conditions under the 2018 Equity and
Incentive Compensation Plan *

Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement

under the 2009 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan
*
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Document if Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit 10.13 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 1-13536) for the fiscal year
ended January 31, 2009 ("2008 Form 10-K")

Exhibit 10.14 to the Registration Statement on
Form 10 (File No. 1-10951), filed November 27,
1991

Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 1-13536) for the fiscal year
ended February 1, 2014 (“2013 Form 10-K”)
Exhibit 10.9.1 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 1-13536) for the fiscal year
ended February 3, 2018 ("2017 Form 10-K")
Exhibit 10.7 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 001-00079) filed March 23, 2005 by May
Delaware (“March 23, 2005 Form 8-K”)

Exhibit 10.15.3 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 1-13536) for the fiscal year
ended February 2, 2013 ("2012 Form 10-K")

Exhibit 10.14.4 to 2014 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.10.5 to 2017 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.4 to March 23, 2005 Form 8-K

Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed March 25, 2010

Exhibit 10.13.2 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 1-13536) for the fiscal year
ended January 30, 2016 ("2015 Form 10-K")

Exhibit 10.13.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed August 25, 2017

Exhibit 10.12.2 to 2017 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.19 to 2012 Form 10-K



Exhibit
Number

10.12.1

10.12.2

10.12.3

10.12.4

10.13
10.13.1

10.13.2

10.13.3

10.14
10.14.1

10.15

10.15.1

10.15.2

10.15.3

10.15.4

10.15.5

10.16
10.17

Description

Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement
under the Amended and Restated 2009 Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan *

Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement
under the Amended and Restated 2009 Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan (with dividend
equivalents) *

Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement
under the Amended and Restated 2009 Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended *

Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Terms and
Conditions under the 2018 Equity and Incentive
Compensation Plan *

Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan *

First Amendment to the Supplementary Executive
Retirement Plan effective January 1, 2012 *

Second Amendment to Supplementary Executive
Retirement Plan effective January 1, 2012 *

Third Amendment to Supplementary Executive
Retirement Plan effective December 31, 2013 *

Executive Deferred Compensation Plan *

First Amendment to Executive Deferred Compensation
Plan effective December 31, 2013 *

Macy's, Inc. 401(k) Retirement Investment Plan (the
"Plan") (amending and restating the Macy's, Inc.
401(k) Retirement Investment Plan) effective as of
January 1, 2014 *

First Amendment to the Plan regarding matching
contributions with respect to the Plan’s plan years
beginning on and after January 1, 2014, effective
January 1, 2014 *

Second Amendment to the Plan regarding marriage
status, effective January 1, 2014 *

Third Amendment to the Plan regarding matching
contributions with respect to the Plan’s plan years
beginning on and after January 1, 2014 *

Fourth Amendment to the Plan regarding rules
applicable to Puerto Rico participants effective
January 1, 2011 (and for the Plan's plan years
beginning on and after that date)*

Fifth Amendment to the Plan regarding eligible
associates to participate (pre-tax deferrals only, no
match) immediately upon hire effective as of January
1,2014*

Director Deferred Compensation Plan *

Macy's, Inc. Amended and Restated 2009 Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan *

4

Document if Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit 10.18.1 to 2014 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.13.2 to 2017 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.13.3 to 2017 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.29 to 2008 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.21.1 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K (File No. 1-13536) for the fiscal year
ended January 28, 2012

Exhibit 10.20.2 to 2012 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.20.3 to 2013 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.30 to 2008 Form 10-K
Exhibit 10.21.1 to 2013 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.22 to 2013 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.21.1 to 2014 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.21.2 to 2014 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.21.3 to 2014 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.17.4 to 2015 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.17.5 to 2015 Form 10-K

Exhibit 10.33 to 2008 Form 10-K

Appendix B to the Company's Proxy Statement
dated April 2, 2014



Exhibit

Number Description Document if Incorporated by Reference

10.18 Macy's, Inc. 2018 Equity and Incentive Compensation ~ Appendix B to the Company's Proxy Statement
Plan * dated April 4, 2018

10.19 Macy's, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan * Exhibit 4.5 to the Company's Registration

Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No.
333-192917) filed December 18, 2013

10.19.1 First Amendment to Deferred Compensation Plan Exhibit 10.24.1 to 2014 Form 10-K
regarding special rules of eligibility for newly eligible
participants, effective April 1, 2014 *

10.19.2 Second Amendment to Deferred Compensation Plan Exhibit 10.24.2 to 2014 Form 10-K
regarding payment rules for plan years that begin on
or after January 1, 2015, effective January 1, 2014 *

10.19.3 Third Amendment to Deferred Compensation Plan Exhibit 10.20.3 to 2015 Form 10-K
regarding a lump sum distribution from account if its
balance does not exceed a certain amount, effective
July 1, 2015%*

10.20 Change in Control Plan, effective November 1, 2009, Exhibit 10.20 to 2017 Form 10-K
as revised and restated effective April 1, 2018 *

10.21 Time Sharing Agreement between Macy's, Inc. and Exhibit 10.21.1 to 2017 Form 10-K
Jeff Gennette, dated June 14, 2017 *

10.22 Retention Letter Agreement between Macy's, Inc. and ~ Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on
Karen Hoguet dated April 3, 2018 * Form 8-K filed April 6, 2018

21 Subsidiaries

23 Consent of KPMG LLP

24 Powers of Attorney

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to

Rule 13a-14(a)

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a)

32.1 Certification by Chief Executive Officer under Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

322 Certification by Chief Financial Officer under Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

101 The following financial statements from Macy's, Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
February 2, 2019, filed April 3, 2019, formatted in
XBRL: (i) Consolidated Statements of Income, (ii)
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income,
(iii) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iv) Consolidated
Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, (v)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (vi) the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as
block of text and in detail.

+ Portions of the exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment. The confidential portions
have been provided to the SEC.
* Constitutes a compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MACY’S, INC.

By: /s/  ELISA D. GARCIA

Elisa D. Garcia
Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and
Secretary

Date: April 3, 2019

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on April 3, 2019.

% * *
Jeff Gennette Paula A. Price Felicia Williams
Chief Executive Officer (principal Executive Vice President and Chief ~ Senior Vice President, Controller
executive officer), Chairman of the  Financial Officer (principal and Enterprise Risk Officer
Board and Director financial officer) (principal accounting officer)
* * *
David P. Abney Francis S. Blake John A. Bryant
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

To the Shareholders of
Macy’s, Inc.:

The integrity and consistency of the Consolidated Financial Statements of Macy’s, Inc. and subsidiaries, which were
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, are the
responsibility of management and properly include some amounts that are based upon estimates and judgments.

The Company maintains a system of internal accounting controls, which is supported by a program of internal audits
with appropriate management follow-up action, to provide reasonable assurance, at appropriate cost, that the Company’s
assets are protected and transactions are properly recorded. Additionally, the integrity of the financial accounting system is
based on careful selection and training of qualified personnel, organizational arrangements which provide for appropriate
division of responsibilities and communication of established written policies and procedures.

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and has issued Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company have been audited by KPMG LLP. Their report expresses
their opinion as to the fair presentation, in all material respects, of the financial statements and is based upon their
independent audits.

The Audit Committee, composed solely of outside directors, meets periodically with KPMG LLP, the internal
auditors and representatives of management to discuss auditing and financial reporting matters. In addition, KPMG LLP
and the Company’s internal auditors meet periodically with the Audit Committee without management representatives
present and have free access to the Audit Committee at any time. The Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to
the Board of Directors the engagement of the independent registered public accounting firm and the general oversight
review of management’s discharge of its responsibilities with respect to the matters referred to above.

Jeff Gennette
Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board and Director

Paula A. Price
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Felicia Williams
Senior Vice President, Controller and Enterprise Risk Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Macy’s, Inc.:

Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Macy’s, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended February 2, 2019, and the related
notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of February 2, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended February 2, 2019, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of February 2, 2019 based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Item 9A(b), “Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.” Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
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that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1988.

Cincinnati, Ohio
April 3, 2019



MACY’S, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(millions, except per share data)

2018 2017 2016

INEE SALES ..eeuvieiieiieciieeee ettt et e et et e st e s e e saeesteesteeseaessaesseessaesssenseenseanes $ 24971 $ 24939 § 25,908
Credit card reVENUES, NET..........cooueeeeiieeieeeetie e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaeeeeaeeeeaee e 768 702 656
COSt OF SALLS ..enviveeiiiieiteeieeteer ettt e (15,215) (15,181) (15,666)
Selling, general and administrative €Xpenses.........cc.ceeveverrercereenenennene (9,039) (8,954) (9,257)
Gains on sale 0f 1eal ESLALe.......c.coveveuerveveirieerircereectrec e 389 544 209
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and other costs ........c..c.cc.ce.c.... (136) (186) (479)
OPErating IMCOIME .........cueeiiiiriciiieieiereeteee ettt 1,738 1,864 1,371
Benefit plan inCOmME, NEt........cccoerveirinieieinieireneeeeeeneeee e 39 57 55
Settlement Charges........cccvevveirinieieirenieeeesteeeseseee et (88) (105) (98)
INEEIESt EXPEINISE ...ttt ettt sttt s (261) (321) (367)
Gains (losses) on early retirement of debt..........ccoceecievinininiieiininenen, (33) 10 —
INtETest INCOME .....c.veuiiiiiiciiiiiieicrcce s 25 11 4
Income before INCOME tAXES.......eeieierierieriieieieriesieeeete e e ereaesaesseeenns 1,420 1,516 965
Federal, state and local income tax benefit (EXpense)..........cccceveveuereeuenene (322) 39 (346)
INEE INCOIMNE ...vviiiiiiieciieeteeeite sttt et e st et e et e ste e s teestaesaeesseesseesssansaenseanes 1,098 1,555 619
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest ...........cccooveeeeceerererennenns 10 11 8
Net income attributable to Macy's, Inc. shareholders ............cccccevueuenee. $ 1,108 $ 1,566 $ 627
Basic earnings per share attributable to

Macy's, Inc. shareholders..........ccvververeeininieinienenicniccsesceec e $ 360 $ 513 § 2.03
Diluted earnings per share attributable to

Macy's, Inc. shareholders...........coecueriiririeieriec e $ 356 $ 510 $ 2.02

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MACY’S, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(millions)
2018 2017 2016
NEE INCOIMNE ...ttt ettt e e e s ee s e e neeseesreeneens $ 1,098 $ 1,555 619
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
Net actuarial gain (loss) and prior service credit on post
employment and postretirement benefit plans, net of tax effect
of $52 million, $37 million and $42 million .........c.cccceeevrirrneneee (151) 82 65
Reclassifications to net income:
Net actuarial loss and prior service cost on post employment and
postretirement benefit plans, net of tax effect of $7 million, $13
million and $14 MillON .....ccooevirieiiiinieeee e 23 22 22
Settlement charges, net of tax effect of $23 million, $37 million
and $38 MIllION ......ocueoiiiiiee e 65 68 60
Total other comprehensive income (10SS)..........ccooovviiiniiiiiniiiinne (63) 172 147
ComPrehenSive IMCOME ......c.ceueiuerieeriirteietieterteeeee sttt eeneeees 1,035 1,727 766
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest..................... 10 11 8
Comprehensive income attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders.........coceecveviriiirieniniiieeeeeeeen $ 1,045 $ 1,738 774

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MACY’S, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(millions)
February 2,2019  February 3, 2018
ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS ..........cceviriiieieiere et $ 1,162  $ 1,455
RECEIVADIES .....veeevieeiieiie ettt ettt et et ebe et e esbeesbeesbeesbeenbeenaeenseenns 400 363
MerchandiSE INVENLOTIES ......eeivvviieiieereeeeecteeeeeeeeeeeeeae e e e eeteeeeeseaeeeeeesaaeeeseenteeeeesnaseessenes 5,263 5,178
Prepaid expenses and other CUITeNt aSSELS .......cecveeevierieerieerieeieeieeieere e eee e 620 650
TOtAl CUITEINT ASSELS ...ttt e eae e e e eveeeaeeeeaeeeenreeennes 7,445 7,646
Property and EQUIPMENt — NEt.......ccieieiieieiieieieeseeeeee e 6,637 6,672
GOOAWILL ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e st beeee e e st ete s eneesesaenens 3,908 3,897
Other Intangible ASSELS — NEL......ccueecuiiciieieeieeie et ete ettt e eesseeseaeseresaeenseesenas 478 488
OLHET ASSELS ..vveevieeieeietesiiete et et ettt et et et e s te et ese e besbeeseeseessessasseeseessessessesseessensessessenssansensens 726 880
Total Assets $ 19,194 § 19,583

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

SHOTE-EEITI AEDE ...ttt bbb senas $ 43 8 22
Merchandise accounts Payable .........cooioieierieriiieee e 1,655 1,590
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.........cccveeiieriierieerieecie e 3,366 3,271
TNCOMMIE tAXES ..coveireniiieiiieitetet ettt ettt ettt et e 168 296
Total Current Liabilities..........oveiiereeieieeceeeeeee e enns 5,232 5,179
LONE-TErM DEDL.....cueeieiieii ettt sttt eseeene e enee e 4,708 5,861
Deferred INCOME TAXES ....ccoioueiieiiieieeeeeeee ettt ettt eee e e et e e e sae e e e senaaeeeeenaaeeesenaees 1,238 1,148
Oher LIaDIIIEIES ..cueeveitiieeietiieeetsee ettt sttt 1,580 1,662
Shareholders’ Equity:
Common stock (307.5 and 304.8 shares outstanding)...........cccccevvreeeerenenenceeenne. 3 3
Additional paid-in CaPItAl ........cccuieriieriieiiieiieieee ettt eee 652 676
ACCUMUIALEA EQUILY ....veevveeiieeieeie ettt ettt ettt ettt eteesbeseaesebeenaesnnesnseenne 8,050 7,246
TTEASULY SEOCK ....utieiiiiieiieiieieee ettt ettt ettt et e st e e e e eseeseennensenes (1,318) (1,456)
Accumulated other comprehensive 10SS .......coovevirierieiinieieee e (951) (724)
Total Macy's, Inc. Shareholders’ EQUIty.........ccccoveviieveeciieiiieieeieeie e 6,436 5,745
NONCONTOIING INEEIEST .....eeuvieiiieiieiieiieiteteee ettt ettt ettt beebeebeebeebeenseenteens — (12)
Total Shareholders' EQUItY.......ccccveieierieriieieieiesiesie ettt 6,436 5,733
Total Liabilities and Shareholders” EQUILY ........cccooereieinenieirereeceeee e $ 19,194 § 19,583

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MACY’S, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(millions)
Accumulated Total
Additional Other Macy's, Inc. Non- Total
Common Paid-In Accumulated Treasury Comprehensive Shareholders’  controlling  Shareholders'
Stock Capital Equity Stock Income (Loss) Equity Interest Equity
Balance at January 30, 2016........ $ 33 621 $ 6,334 $(1,665) $ (1,043) 3 4250 $ 3 8 4,253
Cumulative-effect adjustment (a) 45 45 45
Net income (10SS) ...eovevierieveruennene 627 627 8) 619
Other comprehensive income...... 147 147 147
Common stock dividends
($1.4925 per share).................... (459) (459) (459)
Stock repurchases...........ccccceueeene (316) (316) (316)
Stock-based compensation
EXPENSE .ovvoverererereerrereerenesiesnens 60 60 60
Stock issued under stock plans.... (64) 81 17 17
Retirement of common stock ...... (406) 406 — —
Deferred compensation
plan distributions............c........... 5 5 5
Macy's China Limited.................. — 4 4
Balance at January 28, 2017........ 3 617 6,141 (1,489) (896) 4,376 (1) 4,375
Net income (10SS) .....ccevvevereruennnn 1,566 1,566 11 1,555
Other comprehensive income...... 172 172 172
Common stock dividends ($1.51
per share) ........cococeeveeverveeiennn. (461) (461) (461)
Stock repurchases............cceoee..e. )] (1) (1)
Stock-based compensation
EXPENSE .evvvreerriarieeieeeeieeeeens 58 58 58
Stock issued under stock plans.... 2% 27 3 3
Deferred compensation
plan distributions............c.......... 7 7 7
Other.....coovireeeeeeeeee 25 25 25
Balance at February 3, 2018........ 3 676 7,246 (1,456) (724) 5,745 (12) 5,733
Net income (10SS) ...cevvvrvereereenen. 1,108 1,108 (10) 1,098
Other comprehensive loss............ (63) (63) (63)
Common stock dividends ($1.51
per share) .......ccceeeeeeenencnennene. (468) (468) (468)
Stock-based compensation
EXPENSE ...oovoeeeeveeseeeereereeinann 63 63 63
Stock issued under stock plans.... 87 135 48 48
Deferred compensation
plan distributions...................... 3 3 3
Stranded tax costs (b) 164 (164) — _
Macy's China Limited.................. — 22 22
Balance at February 2, 2019........ $ 39 652 §$ 8,050 $(1,318) $ 951) $ 6,436 $ — 3 6,436

(a) Represents the cumulative-effect adjustment for the adoption of ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

(b) Represents the reclassification of stranded tax effects to retained earnings as a result of U.S. federal tax reform.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MACY’S, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(millions)

Cash flows from operating activities:

NEE INCOME ..ttt eaessene s

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Restructuring, impairment, store closing and other costs
Settlement Charges ..........ccocveeeeeeeerineneeeeeereeseee
Depreciation and amortization............cececceeeverreeneeenennes
Stock-based compensation eXpense.........ccveverrvererverruennn

Gains on sale of real estate.........ccocvevveeereeeeeeeeieeeiennns

Increase (decrease) in merchandise accounts payable.

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued

liabilities and other items not separately identified ..........c.cccccovureccnne

Increase (decrease) in current income taxes................

Increase (decrease) in deferred income taxes..............
Change in other assets and liabilities not separately identified

Net cash provided by operating activities....

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property and equipment............ccoeeevveereveereeennne
Capitalized SOftWArE........c.ooeeiiiniieieeeeeeeee e
Disposition of property and equipment............c.cocovevevevecnenenee
OthEr, NEL...ccviieieiieiieieieteee ettt st aens

Net cash used by investing activities ...........

Cash flows from financing activities:

Dbt 1ePAI.....c.eiuiieiirieiieieieiete e
Dividends paid ........c..coveiniiiiniiiee e

Increase (decrease) in outstanding checks ..

Acquisition of treasury StoCK .........cceeeererineneenieeneeneereen
Issuance of common StocK ..o
Proceeds from noncontrolling interest............cecvvervrervreeeeennne

Net cash used by financing activities...........

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash beginning of period.........

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash end of period...................

Supplemental cash flow information:

INterest PAId......c.evveuirieiiriiiitetee e
INtErest reCEIVEd ... ouvivirieririeieieiiieieieeeetee e

Income taxes paid (net of refunds received).........coeeueuecrennnnne

2018 2017 2016
1,098 $ 1,555 $ 619
136 186 479
88 105 98
962 991 1,058
63 58 61
(389) (544) (209)
(15) (45) (14)
(61) 120 )
(87) 221 107
21 17 37
55 162 (132)
44 (186) (185)
(136) (114) 125
112 (421) (134)
(156) (129) (108)
1,735 1,976 1,801
(657) (487) (596)
(275) (273) (316)
474 411 673
2 ) (4)
(456) (351) (243)
(1,149) (988) (754)
(463) (461) (459)
16 (15) 61
— (1 (316)
45 6 36
7 13 6
(1,544) (1,446) (1,426)
(265) 179 132
1,513 1,334 1,202
1,248 $ 1,513 $ 1,334
328§ 361 $ 396
25 12 4
345 496 352

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MACY’S, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

Macy’s, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) is an omnichannel retail organization operating stores, websites and
mobile applications under three brands (Macy’s, Bloomingdale’s and bluemercury) that sell a wide range of merchandise,
including apparel and accessories (men's, women's and kids'), cosmetics, home furnishings and other consumer goods. The
Company has stores in 43 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico and Guam. As of February 2, 2019, the Company’s
operations and operating segments were conducted through Macy’s, Bloomingdale’s, Bloomingdale’s The Outlet, Macy's
Backstage, and bluemercury, which are aggregated into one reporting segment in accordance with the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 280, Segment Reporting. The metrics used
by management to assess the performance of the Company’s operating divisions include sales trends, gross margin rates,
expense rates, and rates of earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”) and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA”). The Company’s operating divisions have historically had similar economic characteristics and
are expected to have similar economic characteristics and long-term financial performance in future periods.

Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31. Fiscal years 2018, 2017 and 2016 ended on
February 2, 2019, February 3, 2018 and January 28, 2017, respectively. Fiscal years 2018 and 2016 included 52 weeks and
fiscal year 2017 included 53 weeks. References to years in the Consolidated Financial Statements relate to fiscal years
rather than calendar years.

Basis of Presentation

In August 2015, the Company established a joint venture, Macy's China Limited, of which the Company held a sixty-
five percent ownership interest and Hong Kong-based Fung Retailing Limited held the remaining thirty-five percent
ownership interest. Macy's China Limited sold merchandise in China through an e-commerce presence on Alibaba Group's
Tmall Global. In January 2019, the Company ended the joint venture with Fung Retailing Limited after winding down the
operations of Macy's China Limited earlier in 2018. In conjunction with the termination of the joint venture, the Company
acquired the noncontrolling interest in Macy's China Limited from Fung Retailing Limited, resulting in one hundred
percent ownership. For the period of time prior to the acquisition of the noncontrolling interest, Fung Retailing Limited's
thirty-five percent proportionate share of the results of Macy's China Limited was reported as noncontrolling interest in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. All significant intercompany transactions were eliminated.

For 2018, the Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Macy's, Inc. and its 100%-owned
subsidiaries and, for the applicable periods, the majority-owned subsidiary, Macy's China Limited.

Certain reclassifications were made to prior years' amounts to conform with the classifications of such amounts in the
most recent years.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates and assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainties,
which may result in actual amounts differing from reported amounts.

Net Sales

Revenue is recognized when customers obtain control of goods and services promised by the Company. The amount
of revenue recognized is based on the amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for
those respective goods and services. See Note 2 "Revenue" for further discussion of the Company's accounting policies for
revenue from contracts with customers.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales consists of the cost of merchandise, including inbound freight, shipping and handling costs, and
depreciation. An estimated allowance for future sales returns is recorded and cost of sales is adjusted accordingly.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash
and cash equivalents includes amounts due in respect of credit card sales transactions that are settled early in the following
period in the amount of $114 million at February 2, 2019 and $102 million at February 3, 2018.

Investments

The Company from time to time invests in debt and equity securities, including companies engaged in
complementary businesses. All debt securities held by the Company are accounted for under ASC Topic 320, Investments —
Debt Securities, while all marketable securities held by the Company are accounted for under ASC Topic 321, Investments
— Equity Securities. Unrealized holding gains and losses on trading securities and equity securities with a readily
determinable fair value are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Equity securities without a readily
determinable fair value are generally recorded at cost. Unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale securities
are included as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of income tax effect, until realized.
At February 2, 2019, the Company did not hold any held-to-maturity or available-for-sale securities.

Receivables
Receivables were $400 million at February 2, 2019, compared to $363 million at February 3, 2018.

The Company and Citibank, the owner of most of the Company's credit assets, are party to a long-term marketing
and servicing alliance pursuant to the terms of a Credit Card Program Agreement (the “Program Agreement”). Income
earned under the Program Agreement is treated as credit card revenues, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Under the Program Agreement, Citibank offers proprietary and non-proprietary credit cards to the Company’s customers
through previously existing and newly opened accounts.

Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories are valued at lower of cost or market using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) retail inventory
method. Under the retail inventory method, inventory is segregated into departments of merchandise having similar
characteristics, and is stated at its current retail selling value. Inventory retail values are converted to a cost basis by
applying specific average cost factors for each merchandise department. Cost factors represent the average cost-to-retail
ratio for each merchandise department based on beginning inventory and the annual purchase activity. At February 2, 2019
and February 3, 2018, merchandise inventories valued at LIFO, including adjustments as necessary to record inventory at
the lower of cost or market, approximated the cost of such inventories using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) retail inventory
method. The application of the LIFO retail inventory method did not result in the recognition of any LIFO charges or
credits affecting cost of sales for 2018, 2017 or 2016. The retail inventory method inherently requires management
judgments and estimates, such as the amount and timing of permanent markdowns to clear unproductive or slow-moving
inventory, which may impact the ending inventory valuation as well as gross margins.

Permanent markdowns designated for clearance activity are recorded when the utility of the inventory has
diminished. Factors considered in the determination of permanent markdowns include current and anticipated demand,
customer preferences, age of the merchandise and fashion trends. When a decision is made to permanently markdown
merchandise, the resulting gross margin reduction is recognized in the period the markdown is recorded.

Physical inventories are generally taken within each merchandise department annually, and inventory records are
adjusted accordingly, resulting in the recording of actual shrinkage. Physical inventories are taken at all store locations for
substantially all merchandise categories approximately three weeks before the end of the year. Shrinkage is estimated as a
percentage of sales at interim periods and for this approximate three-week period, based on historical shrinkage rates.
While it is not possible to quantify the impact from each cause of shrinkage, the Company has loss prevention programs
and policies that are intended to minimize shrinkage, including the use of radio frequency identification cycle counts and
interim inventories to keep the Company's merchandise files accurate.



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Vendor Allowances

The Company receives certain allowances as reimbursement for markdowns taken and/or to support the gross
margins earned in connection with the sales of merchandise. These allowances are recognized when earned. The Company
also receives advertising allowances from approximately 800 of its merchandise vendors pursuant to cooperative
advertising programs, with some vendors participating in multiple programs. These allowances represent reimbursements
by vendors of costs incurred by the Company to promote the vendors’ merchandise and are netted against advertising and
promotional costs when the related costs are incurred. Advertising allowances in excess of costs incurred are recorded as a
reduction of merchandise costs and, ultimately, through cost of sales when the merchandise is sold.

The arrangements pursuant to which the Company’s vendors provide allowances, while binding, are generally
informal in nature and one year or less in duration. The terms and conditions of these arrangements vary significantly from
vendor to vendor and are influenced by, among other things, the type of merchandise to be supported.

Advertising

Advertising and promotional costs are generally expensed at first showing. Advertising and promotional costs and
cooperative advertising allowances were as follows:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)

Gross advertising and promotional costs $ 1,358  § 1,397 § 1,547
Cooperative advertising alloWances...........cocveverereeieienenenceee e 196 289 394
Advertising and promotional costs, net of

cooperative advertising allowances ............ecevrreriereneieneeee e $ 1,162  $ 1,108 § 1,153
NEE SALES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ae e $ 24971 $ 24,939 $ 25,908
Advertising and promotional costs, net of cooperative

advertising allowances, as a percent to net sales..........ccccecevvervecercnnene 4.7% 4.4% 4.5%
Property and Equipment

Depreciation of owned properties is provided primarily on a straight-line basis over the estimated asset lives, which
range from fifteen to fifty years for buildings and building equipment and three to fifteen years for fixtures and equipment.
Real estate taxes and interest on construction in progress and land under development are capitalized. Amounts capitalized
are amortized over the estimated lives of the related depreciable assets. The Company receives contributions from
developers and merchandise vendors to fund building improvement and the construction of vendor shops. Such
contributions are generally netted against the capital expenditures.

Buildings on leased land and leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their economic lives or the
lease term, beginning on the date the asset is put into use.

The carrying value of long-lived assets is periodically reviewed by the Company whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that a potential impairment has occurred. For long-lived assets held for use, a potential impairment
has occurred if projected future undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value of the assets. The estimate of cash
flows includes management’s assumptions of cash inflows and outflows directly resulting from the use of those assets in
operations. When a potential impairment has occurred, an impairment write-down is recorded if the carrying value of the
long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. The Company believes its estimated cash flows are sufficient to support the carrying
value of its long-lived assets. If estimated cash flows significantly differ in the future, the Company may be required to
record asset impairment write-downs.

If the Company commits to a plan to dispose of a long-lived asset before the end of its previously estimated useful
life, estimated cash flows are revised accordingly, and the Company may be required to record an asset impairment write-
down. Additionally, related liabilities arise such as severance, contractual obligations and other accruals associated with
store closings from decisions to dispose of assets. The Company estimates these liabilities based on the facts and
circumstances in existence for each restructuring decision. The amounts the Company will ultimately realize or disburse
could differ from the amounts assumed in arriving at the asset impairment and restructuring charge recorded.
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The Company classifies certain long-lived assets as held for disposal by sale and ceases depreciation when the
particular criteria for such classification are met, including the probable sale within one year. For long-lived assets to be
disposed of by sale, an impairment charge is recorded if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value less costs to
sell. Such valuations include estimations of fair values and incremental direct costs to transact a sale.

Leases

The Company recognizes operating lease minimum rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Executory
costs such as real estate taxes and maintenance, and contingent rentals such as those based on a percentage of sales are
recognized as incurred.

The lease term, which includes all renewal periods that are considered to be reasonably assured, begins on the date
the Company has access to the leased property. The Company receives contributions from landlords to fund buildings and
leasehold improvements. Such contributions are recorded as deferred rent and amortized as reductions to lease expense
over the lease term.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed at least annually for
possible impairment in accordance with ASC Subtopic 350-20, Goodwill, including the adoption of Accounting Standards
Update ("ASU") 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, in the fourth quarter of 2017. Goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite lives have been assigned to reporting units for purposes of impairment testing. The
reporting units are the Company’s retail operating divisions. Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are
tested for impairment annually at the end of the fiscal month of May. The Company evaluates qualitative factors to
determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value and whether it is
necessary to perform the goodwill impairment process. If required, the Company performs a quantitative impairment test
which involves a comparison of each reporting unit’s fair value to its carrying value and the Company estimates fair value
based on discounted cash flows. The reporting unit’s discounted cash flows require significant management judgment with
respect to sales, gross margin and SG&A rates, capital expenditures and the selection and use of an appropriate discount
rate. The projected sales, gross margin and SG&A expense rate assumptions and capital expenditures are based on the
Company’s annual business plan or other forecasted results. Discount rates reflect market-based estimates of the risks
associated with the projected cash flows directly resulting from the use of those assets in operations. The estimates of fair
value of reporting units are based on the best information available as of the date of the assessment. If the carrying value of
a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss will be recognized in an amount equal to such excess, limited to
the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. If the carrying value of an individual indefinite-lived intangible
asset exceeds its fair value, such individual indefinite-lived intangible asset is written down by an amount equal to such
excess.

Capitalized Software

The Company capitalizes purchased and internally developed software and amortizes such costs to expense on a
straight-line basis generally over three to five years. Capitalized software is included in other assets on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

Gift Cards

The Company only offers no-fee, non-expiring gift cards to its customers. At the time gift cards are sold or issued, no
revenue is recognized; rather, the Company records an accrued liability to customers. The liability is relieved and revenue
is recognized equal to the amount redeemed at the time gift cards are redeemed for merchandise. The Company records
revenue from unredeemed gift cards (breakage) in net sales on a pro-rata basis over the time period gift cards are actually
redeemed. At least three years of historical data, updated annually, is used to determine actual redemption patterns. The
Company records breakage income within net sales on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Loyalty Programs

The Company maintains customer loyalty programs in which customers earn points based on their purchases. Under
the Macy’s Star Rewards loyalty program, points are earned based on customers’ spending on Macy’s private label and co-
branded credit cards as well as non-proprietary cards during certain tender-neutral promotional events. Under the Macy’s
brand, the Company previously participated in a coalition program (Plenti) whereby customers could earn points based on
spending levels with bonus opportunities through various targeted offers and promotions at Macy's and other partners. The
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Company's participation in Plenti ended on May 3, 2018. Under the Bloomingdale’s Loyallist program, the Company
offers a tender neutral points-based program. The Company recognizes the estimated net amount of the rewards that will be
earned and redeemed as a reduction to net sales at the time of the initial transaction and as tender when the points are
subsequently redeemed by a customer.

Self-Insurance Reserves

The Company, through its insurance subsidiary, is self-insured for workers compensation and general liability claims
up to certain maximum liability amounts. Although the amounts accrued are actuarially determined based on analysis of
historical trends of losses, settlements, litigation costs and other factors, the amounts the Company will ultimately disburse
could differ from such accrued amounts.

Post Employment and Postretirement Obligations

The Company, through its actuaries, utilizes assumptions when estimating the liabilities for pension and other
employee benefit plans. These assumptions, where applicable, include the discount rates used to determine the actuarial
present value of projected benefit obligations, the rate of increase in future compensation levels, mortality rates, the long-
term rate of return on assets and the growth in health care costs. The Company measures post employment and
postretirement assets and obligations using the month-end that is closest to the Company's fiscal year-end or an interim
period quarter-end if a plan is determined to qualify for a remeasurement. The benefit expense is generally recognized in
the Consolidated Financial Statements on an accrual basis over the average remaining lifetime of participants, and the
accrued benefits are reported in other assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other liabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, as appropriate.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred income tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income in the period that includes the
enactment date. Deferred income tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some
portion of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized.

Stock Based Compensation

The Company records stock-based compensation expense according to the provisions of ASC Topic 718,
Compensation — Stock Compensation. ASC Topic 718 requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of
employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values. Under the provisions of
ASC Topic 718, the Company determines the appropriate fair value model to be used for valuing share-based payments and
the amortization method for compensation cost.

Comprehensive Income

Total comprehensive income represents the change in equity during a period from sources other than transactions
with shareholders and, as such, includes net income. For the Company, the only other components of total comprehensive
income for 2018, 2017 and 2016 relate to post employment and postretirement plan items. Settlement charges incurred are
included as a separate component of income before income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Amortization
reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive loss are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost
(income) and are included in benefit plan income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which established
principles to report useful information to financial statements users about the nature, timing and uncertainty of revenue
from contracts with customers. ASU No. 2014-09 along with various related amendments comprise ASC Topic 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and provide guidance that is applicable to all contracts with customers regardless
of industry-specific or transaction-specific fact patterns. The new standard and its related updates were adopted by the
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Company on February 4, 2018. On the effective date, the Company elected to apply the new guidance retrospectively to
each prior period presented.

Overall, the new standard did not have a material impact on the results of the Company's operations or consolidated
statements of financial position, but impacted the presentation and timing of certain revenue transactions. Specifically, the
changes included gross presentation of the Company's estimates for future sales returns and related recoverable assets,
presenting income from credit operations, gift card breakage income, and certain loyalty program income as separate
components of revenue and recognizing gift card breakage revenue over the period of redemption for gift cards associated
with certain returns. The Company's evaluation of the new standards included a review of certain vendor arrangements to
determine whether the Company acts as principal or agent in such arrangements and such evaluation did not result in any
material changes in gross versus net presentation as a result of the adoption of the new standards.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-07, Compensation-Retirement Benefits (ASC Topic 715), which
requires employers to disaggregate the service cost component from other components of net periodic benefit costs and to
disclose the amounts of net periodic benefit costs that are included in each income statement line item. The standard
requires employers to report the service cost component in the same line item as other compensation costs and to report the
other components of net periodic benefit costs (which include interest costs, expected return on plan assets, amortization of
prior service cost or credits and actuarial gains and losses) separately and outside a subtotal of operating income. The
Company adopted this standard effective February 4, 2018 on a retrospective basis to each prior period presented and has
recognized its net periodic benefit costs, excluding service costs, in benefit plan income, net on its Consolidated Statements
of Income.

In 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (ASC Topic 230): Restricted Cash, and ASU
No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (ASC Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments.
These standards were issued to resolve numerous diversities in practice with regard to the presentation and classification of
certain cash receipts and payments in the statement of cash flows. The standards were effective for the Company on
February 4, 2018, and were adopted using a retrospective transition method to each prior period presented. As of February
2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, restricted cash balances were primarily included within prepaid expenses and other current
assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The following summarizes the beginning-of-period and end-of-period restricted
cash balances included for 2018, 2017 and 2016 when reconciling the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows movement.

2018 2017 2016

(millions)
Beginning-of-period restricted cash balances............cccccoeveveieveieinerennne. $ 58 § 37§ 93
End-of-period restricted cash balances...........ccoocevveeieierienieninieieeseeee 86 58 37

In addition to these changes, the Company changed the classification of $34 million of cash payments for the
prepayment of debt from an operating outflow to a financing outflow for 2017.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-02, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic
220): Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, which allows for stranded
tax effects in accumulated other comprehensive income resulting from H.R. 1, originally known as the “Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act,” to be reclassified to retained earnings. The Company early adopted this standard during the first quarter of 2018 and,
as a result, reclassified $164 million of stranded tax effects to retained earnings.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which requires lessees to recognize
substantially all leases on-balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The new standard
establishes a right of use ("ROU") model that requires a lessee to recognize a ROU asset and lease liability on the balance
sheet for all leases with a term longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as finance or operating, with classification
affecting the pattern and classification of expense recognition in the income statement. The new standard is effective for
the Company on February 3, 2019 and will be adopted utilizing a modified retrospective approach that allows for transition
in the period of adoption, with certain practical expedients available.

The Company estimates the adoption of the standard will result in total assets and liabilities increasing by
approximately $2.4 billion to $3.0 billion as of February 3, 2019. The standard is not expected to materially affect
consolidated net income, which is expected to be impacted by changes to the timing of recognition of certain real estate
asset sale gains due to application of the new sale-leaseback guidance and ASU No. 2017-05, Other Income - Gains and
Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets (Subtopic 610-20).
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2. Revenue

Net sales

Revenue is recognized when customers obtain control of goods and services promised by the Company. The amount
of revenue recognized is based on the amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for
those respective goods and services. For 2018, 2017 and 2016, Macy's accounted for approximately 89% of the Company's
net sales. Disaggregation of the Company's net sales by family of business for 2018, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2018 2017 2016
Women’s Accessories, Intimate Apparel, Shoes, Cosmetics and Fragrances... $ 9,500 $ 9,483 $ 9,795
WOMEN’S APPATCL.....cccviiiieiieiiieiieie ettt et sae e enaeeeae e 5,675 5,807 6,009
Men’s and KIAS ......vviiiieieiieeieeee et 5,712 5,629 5,844
HHOME/ORET () -ververserssersserssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssesssessessesssesssessess s 4,084 4,020 4,260
Total $ 24971 $ 24939 § 25,908

(a) Other primarily includes restaurant sales, certain loyalty program income and breakage income from unredeemed gift cards.

The Company's revenue generating activities include the following:

Retail Sales

Retail sales include merchandise sales, inclusive of delivery income, licensed department income, sales of private
brand goods directly to third party retailers and sales of excess inventory to third parties. Sales of merchandise are recorded
at the time of shipment to the customer and are reported net of estimated merchandise returns and certain customer
incentives. Commissions earned on sales generated by licensed departments are included as a component of total net sales
and are recognized as revenue at the time merchandise is sold to customers. Service revenues (e.g., alteration and cosmetic
services) are recorded at the time the customer receives the benefit of the service. The Company has elected to present sales
taxes on a net basis and, as such, sales taxes are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities until remitted to the
taxing authorities.

Merchandise Returns

The Company estimates merchandise returns using historical data and recognizes an allowance that reduces net sales
and cost of sales. The liability for merchandise returns is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the
Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets and was $269 million as of February 2, 2019 and $291 million as of February 3,
2018. Included in prepaid expenses and other current assets is an asset totaling $188 million as of February 2, 2019 and
$201 million as of February 3, 2018 for the recoverable cost of merchandise estimated to be returned by customers.

Gift Cards and Customer Loyalty Programs

The liability for unredeemed gift cards and customer loyalty programs is included in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets and was $856 million as of February 2, 2019 and $906 million as
of February 3, 2018. During 2018, the Company recognized approximately $40 million in breakage income related to
changes in breakage rate estimates. Changes in the liability for unredeemed gift cards and customer loyalty programs are as
follows:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)
Balance, beginning of YEar..........ccoeivveveiiieiiiiieiiiereeeetee e $ 906 $ 911 $ 874
Liabilities issued but not redeemed (a) - eweeeereeereeererneiies 570 551 635
Revenue recognized from beginning liability .........cccocevinininiincnencnns (620) (556) (598)
Balance, €nd O YEaT ........ccoiiveuiieiceiceeeeeeeetee ettt $ 856 § 906 $ 911

(a) Net of estimated breakage income.
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Credit Card Revenues, net

In connection with the sale of most of the Company's credit card accounts and related receivable balances to
Citibank, the Company and Citibank entered into a long-term marketing and servicing alliance pursuant to the terms of an
amended and restated Credit Card Program Agreement ("Credit Card Program"). The Program Agreement expires March
31, 2025, subject to an additional renewal term of three years. The Program Agreement provides for, among other things,
(i) the ownership by Citibank of the accounts purchased by Citibank, (ii) the ownership by Citibank of new accounts
opened by the Company’s customers, (iii) the provision of credit by Citibank to the holders of the credit cards associated
with the foregoing accounts, (iv) the servicing of the foregoing accounts, and (v) the allocation between Citibank and the
Company of the economic benefits and burdens associated with the foregoing and other aspects of the alliance.

As part of the Program Agreement, the Company receives payments for providing a combination of interrelated
services and intellectual property to Citibank in support of the underlying Credit Card Program. Revenue based on the
spending activity of the underlying accounts is recognized as the respective card purchases occur and the Company’s profit
share is recognized based on the performance of the underlying portfolio. Revenue associated with the establishment of
new credit accounts and assisting in the receipt of payments for existing accounts is recognized as such activities occur.
Credit card revenues include finance charges, late fees and other revenue generated by the Company’s Credit Card
Program, net of fraud losses and expenses associated with establishing new accounts.

Pursuant to the Program Agreement, the Company continues to provide certain servicing functions related to the
accounts and related receivables owned by Citibank and receives compensation from Citibank for these services. The
amounts earned under the Program Agreement related to the servicing functions are deemed adequate compensation and,
accordingly, no servicing asset or liability has been recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amounts received under
the Program Agreement were $966 million for 2018, $929 million for 2017 and $912 million for 2016, and are included
within credit card revenues, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

The Company’s credit card revenues, net were $768 million for 2018, $702 million for 2017, and $656 million for
2016. This revenue was net of servicing and other credit related expenses, including new account originations and
fraudulent transactions incurred on the Company’s private label credit cards.
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3. Restructuring, Impairment, Store Closing and Other Costs

Restructuring, impairment, store closing and other costs (income) consist of the following:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)
RESEIUCTUIIIE ...ttt ettt eneen $ 80 $ 142 $ 168
ASSEt IMPAITMENES...c.vieiiieiieiieciierteeee ettt beesaeeae e 64 53 265
OhET ..ttt st s ®) ©) 46
$ 136 § 186 § 479

During 2018, the Company closed or announced the closure of ten Macy's stores. Additionally as part the Company's
commitment to increased productivity to fund investment in the business, in February 2019, the Company launched a
comprehensive, multi-year program focused on growing its profitability rate by improving productivity across the
enterprise. The program includes initiatives to improve margin through enhanced inventory planning and operations,
supply chain efficiencies, pricing optimization, improved private brand sourcing and customer acquisition and retention
strategies. As an initial step, the Company developed a plan in 2018 that reduces the complexity of the upper management
structure to increase the speed of decision making, reduce costs and respond to changing customer expectations.
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and other costs for 2018 included costs and expenses, including severance and
other human-resource related costs, primarily associated with the organizational changes and store closings announced in
January 2019. For 2018, the Company recorded expense of approximately $80 million of severance and other human
resource-related costs associated with these restructuring activities.

During 2017, the Company closed or announced the closure of sixteen Macy's stores, part of the approximately 100
planned closings announced in August 2016. During January 2018 and August 2017, the Company announced restructuring
efforts, including the consolidation of three functions (merchandising, planning and private brands) into a single
merchandising function as well as organizational changes for certain store and non-store functions. Restructuring,
impairment, store closing and other costs for 2017 included costs and expenses, including severance and other human-
resource related costs, primarily associated with the organizational changes and store closings announced in January 2018
and August 2017.

During January 2017, the Company announced a series of actions to streamline its store portfolio, intensify cost
efficiency efforts and execute its real estate strategy. These actions are intended to support the Company's strategy to
further invest in omnichannel capabilities, improve customer experience and create shareholder value. These actions
included the announced closure of sixty-eight Macy's stores, part of the approximately 100 planned closings announced in
August 2016, and the reorganization of the field structure that supports the remaining stores and a significant restructuring
of the Company's operations to focus resources on strategic priorities, improve organizational agility and reduce expense.
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and other costs for 2016 included costs and expenses, including severance and
other human-resource related costs, primarily associated with the organizational changes and store closings announced in
January 2017 and August 2016.

As a result of the Company’s projected undiscounted future cash flows related to certain store locations and other
assets being less than their carrying value, the Company recorded impairment charges, including properties that were the
subject of announced store closings. The fair values of these assets were calculated based on the projected cash flows and
an estimated risk-adjusted rate of return that would be used by market participants in valuing these assets or based on
prices of similar assets.

The Company expects to pay out the majority of the 2018 accrued severance costs, which are included in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, prior to the end of the second quarter of 2019. The
2017 and 2016 accrued severance costs, which were included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, were paid out in the year subsequent to incurring such severance costs.
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4. Properties and Leases

The major classes of property and equipment, net as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018 are as follows:

February 2, February 3,
2019 2018
(millions)
LLAINA 1.kttt ettt ettt et en e s et et ene et e s eneeneee $ 1,454 $ 1,494
Buildings on oWned 1and ...........ccceeciiiiiiiiiiec e 4,019 4,106
Buildings on leased land and leasehold improvements .............ccccecvevverieniniecienieneseeenene. 1,404 1,444
Fixtures and eqUIPIMENL...........ccierieriieieieierieeteee et ste et et eee et et eseesessesseeseenaessesseeneens 4,230 4,204
Leased properties under capitalized 1€aSes .........coovevueririeieniririeeeee e 25 34
11,132 11,282
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization..............eeveeeceerverreereeeeniesienseseennes 4,495 4,610
$ 6,637 $ 6,672

In connection with various shopping center agreements, the Company is obligated to operate certain stores within the
centers for periods of up to fifteen years. Some of these agreements require that the stores be operated under a particular
name.

The Company leases a portion of the real estate and personal property used in its operations. Most leases require the
Company to pay real estate taxes, maintenance and other executory costs; some also require additional payments based on
percentages of sales and some contain purchase options. Certain of the Company’s real estate leases have terms that extend
for significant numbers of years and provide for rental rates that increase or decrease over time. In addition, certain of these
leases contain covenants that restrict the ability of the tenant (typically a subsidiary of the Company) to take specified
actions (including the payment of dividends or other amounts on account of its capital stock) unless the tenant satisfies
certain financial tests.

As of February 2, 2019, minimum rental commitments (excluding executory costs) for noncancellable leases,
including executed leases not yet commenced, are as follows:

Capitalized Operating
Leases Leases Total
(millions)

Fiscal year
2019 e $ 38 325§ 328
2020 ettt ae e r et e e e te bt ene et e naeereeneens 3 315 318
2021 e et b ettt b e bt s beeaeene 3 309 312
2022 1ttt ettt ettt e 3 283 286
2023 ettt et ean 3 264 267
ATLET 2023 .. 31 2,758 2,789
Total minimum [€ase PAYMENLS............cccveveeriereeereeriereeereereeeee e 46 $ 4254 §$ 4,300
Less amount representing intereSt .........verveereereereereenieereenieenieeneeeneeenees 20
Present value of net minimum capitalized lease payments...................... $ 26

Capitalized leases are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as property and equipment while the related
obligation is included in short-term ($1 million) and long-term ($25 million) debt. Amortization of assets subject to
capitalized leases is included in depreciation and amortization expense. Total minimum lease payments shown above have
not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $1 million on operating leases.
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The Company is a guarantor with respect to certain lease obligations associated with The May Department Stores
Company and previously disposed subsidiaries or businesses. The leases, one of which includes potential extensions to
2070, have future minimum lease payments aggregating $240 million and are offset by payments from existing tenants and
subtenants. In addition, the Company is contingently liable for other expenses related to the above leases, such as property
taxes and common area maintenance, which are also payable by existing tenants and subtenants. Potential liabilities related
to these guarantees are subject to certain defenses by the Company. The Company believes that the risk of significant loss
from the guarantees of these lease obligations is remote.

Rental expense consists of:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)
Real estate (excluding executory costs)
Operating leases —
Minimum reNtalS ......c.ceeerriririeiereieiiererrreeeetee e $ 317§ 317 S 312
Contingent reNtalS ..........cevereiieieriereseeieiere e see e 11 11 12
328 328 324
Less income from subleases —
OPErating 18aSES .....evvveeeierierieiiesieeieree st (1) (€) &)
$ 327§ 325§ 319
Personal property — Operating leases.........o.coveevrereneeenenenneeneneeeenne $ 9 % 10 $ 11

Included as a reduction to the expense above is deferred rent amortization of $14 million for 2018 and 2017, and $9
million for 2016 related to contributions received from landlords.
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5. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following summarizes the Company’s goodwill and other intangible assets:

February 2, February 3,
2019 2018
(millions)
Non-amortizing intangible assets
GOOAWILL ...ttt sttt ettt s e b e e e e nan $ 9,290 $ 9,279
Accumulated iMPaIrMENt LOSSES ......eeveerieriierierieiierierteree ettt ee (5,382) (5,382)
3,908 3,897
TTAACNAIMNES ... eeveeiieiieiiiecieeete et et et et e ste e bt e be e be e be e teebeesseesseeseesseenseenseensaenseensas 403 403
$ 4311 § 4,300
Amortizing intangible assets
Favorable leases and other contractual assets.............ceevveveeririeierienenieieeeee e $ 136 § 136
TTAACNAIMNES ... eeveeiieiieiiieeieeeieest et et et et e e bt e be e be e beesteeseesseesseeseesseenseesseensaesseensas 43 43
179 179
Accumulated amortization
Favorable leases and other contractual assets.............cceeveveererieierienerceieiere e (95) &7
TTAACNAIMNES ... eevieeieiieiiiecieeeteestt et et et et e et e e be e be e be e teebeesseesseeseesseenseesseensaesseensas ) 7
(104) 94)
$ 75§ 85
Capitalized software
GTOSS DALANICE ...ttt $ 1,316 $ 1,364
Accumulated amMOTHZATION ........evierierierieriereereeree et et e st et et esaeesseenaee e (646) (663)
$ 670 $ 701

Finite lived tradenames are being amortized over their respective useful lives of 20 years. Favorable lease intangible
assets are being amortized over their respective lease terms (weighted average remaining life of approximately six years).

Favorable leases, other contractual assets, and tradenames amortization expense amounted to $10 million for 2018,
2017 and 2016. Capitalized software amortization expense amounted to $296 million for 2018, $301 million for 2017 and
$293 million for 2016.

Future estimated amortization expense for assets, excluding in-process capitalized software of $58 million not yet
placed in service as of February 2, 2019, is shown below:

Amortizing Capitalized
intangible assets Software
(millions)
Fiscal year
2009 et sttt b et e bbbt e s bee bt e naeenbee $ 9 3 254
2020 et bbbt b e b e a e b e b e sbeesbeenbeenbee 8 192
2021 e ettt ettt et sa et 6 123
2022 et s 6 41
20023 e ettt h e bbbt e s bt e bt e bt h e s beesbae bt e naeenhes 6 2
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6.

Financing

The Company’s debt is as follows:

February 2, February 3,
9 018
(millions)
Short-term debt:
8.5% Senior debentures due 2019 .........oovviioiiiiiieeee e $ 36 $ —
Capital lease and current portion of other long-term obligations...........c.ccccceeveueevrveenecnnennn. 7 22
$ 43 3 22
Long-term debt:
2.875% Senior notes due 2023 .......c..coriiiriiiririiiieeree e $ 750 $ 750
3.875% Senior NOteS dUE 2022........oouiieieieiieieeieeieriere ettt sttt 550 550
4.5% Senior NOtes dUE 2034 .......oouiriiriiieieieieeeeeee ettt 367 550
3.45% Senior NOtes dUE 2021 .......couiriiiiiiiiiriee et 500 500
3.625% Senior Notes AU 2024 .........couiuiiiiiirieirieieetet et 500 500
4.375% Senior NOtes AU 2023 .......oiiiiiiieeeiie ettt ettt e 400 400
5.125% Senior debentures due 2042 ........c.ccoviriririnienieieieeeeee et 250 250
4.3% Senior NOtes dUE 2043 ..ottt 250 250
6.7% Senior debentures due 2034 201 264
6.9% Senior debentures due 2029 192 397
6.375% Senior NOES AUE 2037 .....couiriiiiieieiieieeterterert ettt 192 269
6.65% Senior debentures due 2024 ..........cooiriririninirieiee s 122 296
7.0% Senior debentures due 2028 117 298
6.7% Senior debentures due 2028 103 197
6.79% Senior debentures dUe 2027 .......coeieiririirinienieieteeeeete ettt 71 165
6.9% Senior debentures due 2032 .........covveiieiiieieeree e 17 31
8.5% Senior debentures due 2019 ........coucuiviiiiriiiiiniiiniec et — 36
10.25% Senior debentures due 2021 ......oovveiiieiie ittt 33 33
7.6% Senior debentures due 2025 24 24
8.75% Senior debentures due 2029 .........cc.covviririnininiiieieesee e 13 18
7.875% Senior debentures due 2030 ..........cccvueirieiriiiinieineeee e 10 12
9.5% amortizing debentures due 2021 ...........ccccooiviiiiiiiiiiniis 6 10
9.75% amortizing debentures due 2021 ..........cccooeiiiiiiiiiniiice s 3 6
Unamortized debt issue costs (18) (25)
Unamortized debt diSCOUNL...........cciiiiiiiiiiiiiciire e ©) 13)
Premium on acquired debt, using an effective
interest yield 0f 5.542% t0 7.144%0 .....ocuovoieirieiiieeeeeeeeeeeee e 39 67
Capital lease and other long-term Obligations.............cccvueivieerieuieinicinieirieenee e 25 26
$ 4,708 $ 5,861
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Interest expense and losses (gains) on early retirement of debt are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)

INtErest ON AEDt......cuirieeeiieieirieieiete ettt $ 269§ 332§ 392
Amortization of debt Premium............coecveeierererieieiere e @) ) (22)
Amortization of financing costs and debt discount.............ccecererrreennns 7 7 5
Interest on capitalized 1€aSeS ........ccuevveerieriierieieieeeeee e 2 2 2

271 332 377
Less interest capitalized on CONStrUCtiON...........cccvvveeeierierererieiereeeeeeeans 10 11 10
INEETESE EXPEIISE ...vevvenieeitieieeietieieteeteteeteeeieeteste e sesteeeneesesbesseneesesseneeseen $ 261§ 321§ 367
Losses (gains) on early retirement of debt ............ccecvevveririncieiieneieennn, $ 33 8§ (10) $ —

During 2018, the Company repurchased $344 million face value of senior notes and debentures. The debt
repurchases were made in the open market for a total cost of $354 million, including expenses and other fees related to the
transactions. Such repurchases resulted in the recognition of expense of $5 million during 2018 presented as losses on early
retirement of debt on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

During December 2018, the Company completed a tender offer and purchased $750 million in aggregate principal
amount of certain senior unsecured notes and debentures. The purchased senior unsecured notes and debentures included
$164 million of 6.65% senior debentures due 2024, $155 million of 7.0% senior debentures due 2028, $114 million of
6.9% senior debentures due 2029, $103 million of 4.5% senior notes due 2034, $94 million of 6.79% senior debentures due
2027, $35 million of 6.7% senior debentures due 2034, $34 million of 6.375% senior notes due 2037, $34 million of 6.7%
senior debentures due 2028, $10 million of 6.9% senior debentures due 2032, $5 million of 8.75% senior debentures due
2029, and $2 million of 7.875% senior debentures due 2030. The total cash cost for the tender offer was $789 million. The
Company recognized $28 million of expense related to the recognition of the tender premium and other costs partially
offset by the unamortized debt premium associated with this debt. This expense is presented as losses on early retirement
of debt on the Consolidated Statements of Income during 2018.

During 2017, the Company completed a tender offer and purchased $400 million in aggregate principal amount of
certain senior unsecured notes and debentures. The purchased senior unsecured notes and debentures included $147
million of 6.9% senior debentures due 2032, $108 million of 6.7% senior debentures due 2034, $96 million of 6.375%
senior notes due 2037, $43 million of 8.75% senior debentures due 2029, and $6 million of 7.875% senior debentures due
2030. The total cash cost for the tender offer was $423 million. The Company recognized $11 million of income related to
the recognition of the unamortized debt premium partially offset by the tender premium and other costs associated with this
debt as gains on early retirement of debt. This income is presented as gains on early retirement of debt on the Consolidated
Statements of Income during 2017.

During 2017, the Company repurchased $247 million face value of senior notes and debentures. The debt
repurchases were made in the open market for a total cash cost of $257 million, including expenses related to the
transactions. Such repurchases resulted in the recognition of expense of $1 million during 2017 presented as losses on early
retirement of debt on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

During August 2016, the Company redeemed at par the principal amount of $108 million of 7.875% senior

debentures due 2036, pursuant to the terms of the debentures. Interest expense in 2016 benefited from the recognition of
unamortized debt premium associated with this debt.
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Future maturities of long-term debt, other than capitalized leases, are shown below:

(millions)
Fiscal year
2020 ettt bbbt h e bt ea et b b bt eue st st et ene e $ 539
2021 e e e a e et b et st ee 553
2022 et s —
2023 bttt h ettt h b bt e h et a bbb at e a ettt b bt et ebe et eae et a e eae e 1,150
2024 .. ettt h ettt e b et b bbbt sttt ae 622
ATEEI 2024 ..ot et 1,807

During 2017 and 2016, the Company repaid $300 million and $636 million, respectively, of indebtedness at maturity.

The following table shows the detail of debt repayments:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)

6.9% Senior debentures due 2029 ..........ccvevvievieeciieiieieee e $ 204 $ 3% —
4.5% Senior notes due 2034 ........cceevvieiieiieeeeee e 183 — —
7.0% Senior debentures due 2028 ..........cceeveevieeiieeiiieieeieeie e 182 2 —
6.65% Senior debentures due 2024 ..........coccvevveriieieienieneee e 175 4 —
7.45% Senior debentures due 2017 .....c.oevvieivievieeciieiieieee e — 300 —
6.7% Senior debentures due 2028 ..........cceevveeveeiiieciieeee e 94 3 —
6.79% Senior debentures due 2027 .......cccvevveevieerieeiiieieeie e 94 — —
6.375% Senior notes due 2037 .......covevvieiecienieiiee e 77 231 —
6.7% Senior debentures due 2034 ..........cceevvievieeciieciieieeie e 63 136 —
6.9% Senior debentures due 2032 .......c.cccvevieiieeiieeriieieee e 15 219 —
8.75% Senior debentures due 2029 ........ccoeveeveeiiieiiieieeieee e 5 43 —
7.875% Senior debentures due 2030 ..........cceverieiecienieneeieieee e 2 6 —
5.9% Senior notes due 2016.......ccueevvieeiieiiieieeieeie et — — 577
7.875% Senior notes due 2036.......ccueevveeiiieiieiieeieeie e — — 108
7.45% Senior debentures due 2016 ........ccvevveevieeeieeiiienieeieeieeieeee e — — 59
9.5% amortizing debentures due 2021 ........ccccevieieierieneeieieee e 4 4 4
9.75% amortizing debentures due 2021 ..........ccecerenereinineienieneneennens 2 2 2
Capital leases and other obligations...........ccceverereeieieneieeeee e 1 1 1

$ 1,101 $ 954 % 751

The following summarizes certain components of the Company’s debt:
Bank Credit Agreement

The Company entered into a credit agreement with certain financial institutions as of May 6, 2016 providing for
revolving credit borrowings and letters of credit in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1,500 million (which may be
increased to $1,750 million at the option of the Company, subject to the willingness of existing or new lenders to provide
commitments for such additional financing) outstanding at any particular time. The agreement is set to expire May 6, 2021
and replaced the prior agreement which was set to expire May 10, 2018.

As of February 2, 2019, and February 3, 2018, there were no revolving credit loans outstanding under this credit
agreement, and there were no borrowings under the agreement during 2018 and 2017. In addition, there were no standby
letters of credit outstanding at February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018. Revolving loans under the credit agreement bear
interest based on various published rates.
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The Company's credit agreement, which is an obligation of a 100%-owned subsidiary of Macy’s, Inc. (“Parent”), is
not secured. However, Parent has fully and unconditionally guaranteed this obligation. The credit agreement requires the
Company to maintain a specified interest coverage ratio for the latest four quarters of no less than 3.25 and a specified
leverage ratio as of and for the latest four quarters of no more than 3.75. The Company’s interest coverage ratio for 2018
was 11.22 and its leverage ratio at February 2, 2019 was 1.74, in each case as calculated in accordance with the credit
agreement. The interest coverage ratio is defined as EBITDA divided by net interest expense and the leverage ratio is
defined as debt divided by EBITDA. For purposes of these calculations EBITDA is calculated as net income plus interest
expense, taxes, depreciation, amortization, non-cash impairment of goodwill, intangibles and real estate, non-recurring
cash charges not to exceed in the aggregate $300 million and extraordinary losses less interest income and non-recurring or
extraordinary gains. Debt is adjusted to exclude the premium on acquired debt and net interest is adjusted to exclude the
amortization of premium on acquired debt and premium on early retirement of debt.

A breach of a restrictive covenant in the Company’s credit agreement or the inability of the Company to maintain the
financial ratios described above could result in an event of default under the credit agreement. In addition, an event of
default would occur under the credit agreement if any indebtedness of the Company in excess of an aggregate principal
amount of $150 million becomes due prior to its stated maturity or the holders of such indebtedness become able to cause it
to become due prior to its stated maturity. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the lenders could, subject to the
terms and conditions of the credit agreement, elect to declare the outstanding principal, together with accrued interest, to be
immediately due and payable. Moreover, most of the Company’s senior notes and debentures contain cross-default
provisions based on the non-payment at maturity, or other default after an applicable grace period, of any other debt, the
unpaid principal amount of which is not less than $100 million that could be triggered by an event of default under the
credit agreement. In such an event, the Company’s senior notes and debentures that contain cross-default provisions would
also be subject to acceleration.

Commercial Paper

The Company is a party to a $1,500 million unsecured commercial paper program. The Company may issue and sell
commercial paper in an aggregate amount outstanding at any particular time not to exceed its then-current combined
borrowing availability under the bank credit agreement described above. The issuance of commercial paper will have the
effect, while such commercial paper is outstanding, of reducing the Company’s borrowing capacity under the bank credit
agreement by an amount equal to the principal amount of such commercial paper. During 2016, the Company utilized
seasonal borrowings available under this commercial paper program. There were no borrowings under the program during
2018 and 2017. As of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, there were no remaining borrowings outstanding under the
commercial paper program.

This program, which is an obligation of a 100%-owned subsidiary of Macy’s, Inc., is not secured. However, Parent
has fully and unconditionally guaranteed the obligations.
Senior Notes and Debentures

The senior notes and the senior debentures are unsecured obligations of a 100%-owned subsidiary of Macy’s, Inc.
and Parent has fully and unconditionally guaranteed these obligations (see Note 16, “Condensed Consolidating Financial
Information”).

Other Financing Arrangements

At February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the Company had dedicated $37 million of cash, included in prepaid
expenses and other current assets, which is used to collateralize the Company’s issuances of standby letters of credit. There
were $28 million of other standby letters of credit outstanding at February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018.
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7.  Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

February 2, February 3,
2019 2018
(millions)

ACCOUNTS PAYADIE .......eouietiieieiiee ettt ettt st e e $ 983 § 735
Gift cards and CUStOMET TEWATAS .......ccueriririiriiiene ettt e 856 906
Accrued Wages and VACALION ..........c.cceeeverieriiriieieiesteeteeeetesessesseessesessesseessessessensesseessessens 268 229
Allowance for future Sales TEtUIMS .........ccuiriririeieieee ettt 269 291
Current portion of post employment and postretirement benefits...........c.ccecevevereneennene 194 194
Taxes other than INCOME TAKES ....c..eeueeiiriririirieiere ettt s nee 134 157
Lease related HabIlItIes .......cveeierieirinieieiiereceese ettt 180 189
Current portion of workers’ compensation and general liability reserves...........c.ccoeeenene. 112 108
Restructuring accruals, including SEVETance...........coooeeeeiereneieiieere e 67 93
ACCTUCH INEETESE ...ttt ettt sttt ettt sttt st s b et e et s sbeeaeenee 51 70
Deferred real eState GAINS......cc.eviivieieierieiiesiieietese e eetetetesre e esaesaesessesseessessensessesseessenes 24 65
OERET .ottt ettt et b ettt e b e st ettt e b es b s e besbeseese s enteseebennenene 228 234

$ 3,366 $ 3,271

Changes in workers’ compensation and general liability reserves, including the current portion, are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)
Balance, beginning of Year...........cocecirvivieinenieiee e $ 497 § 503 % 508
Charged to coStS and EXPENSES .......eevveerreerreereeneeriiesreeseesreesreesseesseenseenns 130 144 145
Payments, Net Of TECOVETIES.....ccuuiruieriieriieiierieieeieeteieeie e (140) (150) (150)
Balance, end Of YEAr ........c.covviveuiieieiiieteeeteeeeeee ettt $ 487 $ 497 $ 503

The non-current portion of workers’ compensation and general liability reserves is included in other liabilities on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. At February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, workers’ compensation and general liability
reserves included $112 million which are covered by deposits and receivables included in current assets on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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8. Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) is as follows:

2018 2017 2016
Current Deferred Total Current Deferred Total Current Deferred Total
(millions)
Federal .....oooo.coovvveenne.. $ 156 $ 79 $ 235 $ 367 $ (462) § (95 $ 433 $ (121) $ 312
State and local............... 53 34 87 16 40 56 37 3) 34

$ 209 $ 113 $ 322 $ 383 $ (422) $ (39) $ 470 $ (124) $ 346

On December 22, 2017, H.R. 1 was enacted into law. This new tax legislation, among other things, reduced the U.S.
federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018.

In applying the impacts of the new tax legislation to its 2017 income tax provision, the Company remeasured its
deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the rates at which they are expected to reverse in the future, which is generally a
21% federal tax rate and its related impact on the state tax rates. The resulting impact was the recognition of an income tax
benefit of $584 million in the fourth quarter of 2017. In addition, applying the new U.S. federal corporate tax rate of 21%
on January 1, 2018, resulted in a federal income tax statutory rate of 33.7% in 2017. Combining the impacts on the

Company’s current income tax provision and the remeasurement of its deferred tax balances, the Company’s effective
income tax rate was a benefit of 2.6% in 2017.

The income tax expense (benefit) reported differs from the expected tax computed by applying the federal income
tax statutory rate of 21% for 2018, 33.7% for 2017, and 35% for 2016 to income before income taxes net of noncontrolling
interest. The reasons for this difference and their tax effects are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)
EXPECIEA tAX 1.ttt ettt ve e s ens $ 300 § 515 $ 341
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit (a) -« 59 19 12
Federal tax reform deferred tax remeasurement .............ccceeeveevreenreennennne. (17) (584) —
Tax impact of eqUIty aWArdS (a) - eeeeerremeeieiienes — 14 —
Federal taX Credits ....cuirienierieriieieieereeicesceeeeeee et (16) (16) (12)
Change in valuation alloWance .............cceecvecveriereniecieniene e 10 18 9
(735 T<) OSSR (14) &) 4)
$ 322§ 39) $ 346

(a) 2017 included the recognition of approximately $15 million of net tax shortfalls associated with share-based payment awards due to the adoption of
Accounting Standards Update 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. Historically, the Company had recognized such
amounts as an offset to accumulated excess tax benefits previously recognized in additional paid-in capital.

The Company participates in the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS””) Compliance Assurance Program ("CAP"). As
part of the CAP, tax years are audited on a contemporaneous basis so that all or most issues are resolved prior to the filing
of the tax return. The IRS has completed examinations of 2016 and all prior tax years.
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities are as follows:

February 2, February 3,
2019 2018
(millions)
Deferred tax assets
Post employment and postretirement benefits ...........ccccveeeevieriiereeieeceeieeeeeenen $ 208 $ 188
Accrued liabilities accounted for on a cash basis for tax purposes.........cccceveerueenne 222 218
LONG-EIM @D ....oeieieieeiieiieeiee ettt ettt ettt sttt ae s reene e 18 25
Unrecognized state tax benefits and accrued interest.........oocoveeeeeeererercecienenenene 39 39
State operating loss and credit carryforwards .........c..ocvevveeeieeciiecieeiieeiie e eee e 103 101
ORET .ttt b ettt sttt ettt sttt ebe s 154 158
Valuation allOWANCE ........ccueeeviiiriiiiieieeie ettt ettt et ebeeveeaaeennas (75) (65)
Total deferred tax aSSELS......ueviirierieiieiieiee ettt ste e sbe et sre e 669 664
Deferred tax liabilities
Excess of book basis over tax basis of property and equipment..............cccevueeneenee. 987) (923)
MerchandiSe INVENTOTIES ......c..ccviiiuieereeirieirieiteere et ereeeteesaeeveebeebeereereenbeeseesseennes (398) (389)
INtANGIDIE ASSELS ....veeueeiiiiieiieeiet ettt ettt ettt sttt bt ne et st eeene (308) (276)
(071 1T TSSOSO (214) (224)
Total deferred tax Habilities .......cceevieriiereeniieiieieceeece e (1,907) (1,812)
Net deferred tax lability .......c.ccooeeieiierieieirieieeeeee e $ (1,238) $ (1,148)

The valuation allowance at February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018 relates to net deferred tax assets for state net
operating loss and credit carryforwards. The net change in the valuation allowance amounted to an increase of $10 million
for 2018. In 2017, the net change in the valuation allowance amounted to an increase of $29 million, which includes $11
million due to the impact of the deferred tax remeasurement associated with the U.S. federal tax reform.

As of February 2, 2019, the Company had no federal net operating loss carryforwards, state net operating loss
carryforwards, net of valuation allowances, of $374 million, and state credit carryforwards, net of valuation allowances, of
$11 million, which will expire between 2019 and 2038.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

February 2, February 3, January 28,
2019 2018 2017
(millions)
Balance, beginning of Year...........ccocueieirieiiriieieieeee e $ 140 §$ 167 §$ 178
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year.............ccc..... 17 7 16
Additions for taXx posSitions Of Prior YEars.......ccceevveeruierieereeiieeniieieerieeieeiens 13 —
Reductions for tax positions of Prior YEars..........eceeververieeeereenieneeneeeeeeeeenns (12) (23) (12)
T84 (1115 11 PRSP — 2) 4)
Statute EXPITALIONS ....eevveeeieeieiieeieeieeieeteeteeteetesresaeesaeeaessbessaeenseessesssennns 9 9 (11)
Balance, end 0f YEar.........ccocveieiiiiiiiieiiiecceeceeeree e $ 149 § 140 § 167
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
CUITENT INCOIME TAXES. .. eveeurereriereerieeeeteeteereeeestesteeteeseesessesseeseeneessessens $ 28 § 11 $ 6
Deferred iNCOME TAXES......eeuvertiririiriieierie ettt 4 4 4
Other HabIlIti€s (a) - wereereeerrseertmeiieiintitiisi e 117 125 157
$ 149 § 140 § 167

(a) Unrecognized tax benefits not expected to be settled within one year are included within other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Additional information regarding unrecognized benefits and related interest and penalties is as follow:

February 2, February 3,
2019 2018
(millions)
Amount of unrecognized tax benefits, net of deferred tax assets, that if recognized
would affect the effective taX Tate.........ooovvviiiiiiiiiiiceee e $ 120§ 111
Accrued federal, state and local interest and penalties...........cccveveeveevieenieneeneeneeniens 56 51
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
CUITENE INCOIMIE TAXES «..eeveeeereeenreeeeteeeeseeeeeteeeeaeeeeeeeeeseeeeseeeeseeenseeeeseeeeseeenseeeeneeas 28 27
Other Habilities. ......oooeuiiiieie e ettt 28 24

The Company classifies federal, state and local interest and penalties not expected to be settled within one year as
other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and follows a policy of recognizing all interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The accrued federal, state and local interest and penalties primarily relate
to state tax issues and the amount of penalties paid in prior periods, and the amount of penalties accrued at February 2,
2019 and February 3, 2018, are insignificant. Federal, state and local interest and penalties amounted to expense of $5
million for 2018, a credit of $3 million for 2017, and an expense of $2 million for 2016.

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and
local jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations by tax authorities for years
before 2015. With respect to state and local jurisdictions, with limited exceptions, the Company and its subsidiaries are no
longer subject to income tax audits for years before 2009. Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain, the
Company believes that adequate amounts of tax, interest and penalties have been accrued for any adjustments that are
expected to result from the years still subject to examination.

As of February 2, 2019, the Company believes it is reasonably possible that certain unrecognized tax benefits ranging
from zero to $55 million may be recognized by the end of 2019. It is reasonably possible that there could be other material
changes to the amount of uncertain tax positions due to activities of the taxing authorities, settlement of audit issues or the
reassessment of existing uncertain tax positions; however, the Company is not able to estimate the impact of these items at
this time.
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9. Retirement Plans

The Company has defined contribution plans which cover substantially all employees who work 1,000 hours or more
in a year. In addition, the Company has a funded defined benefit plan (“Pension Plan’) and an unfunded defined benefit
supplementary retirement plan (“SERP”), which provides benefits, for certain employees, in excess of qualified plan
limitations. Effective January 1, 2012, the Pension Plan was closed to new participants, with limited exceptions, and
effective January 2, 2012, the SERP was closed to new participants.

In February 2013, the Company announced changes to the Pension Plan and SERP whereby eligible employees no
longer earn future pension service credits after December 31, 2013, with limited exceptions. All retirement benefits
attributable to service in subsequent periods are provided through defined contribution plans.

Retirement expenses, excluding settlement charges, included the following components:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)
401(k) Qualified Defined Contribution Plan.............ccceeevevvervenvennene. $ 9% $ 93 § 94
Non-Qualified Defined Contribution Plan.............cccccooeeveiiieennnnen. 1 1 2
Pension Plan ..........ccooevieieieieiececcee e (64) (82) (83)
Supplementary Retirement Plan............coccoceeoeiiiiniiniineeeeeee. 31 31 31
$ 64 § 43 3 44

The Company estimates the service and interest cost components of net periodic benefit costs for the Pension Plan
and SERP. This method uses a full yield curve approach in the estimation of these components of net periodic benefit
costs. Under this approach, the Company applies discounting using individual spot rates from the yield curve composed of
the rates of return from a portfolio of high quality corporate debt securities available at the measurement date. These spot
rates align to each of the projected benefit obligation and service cost cash flows.

Defined Contribution Plans

The Company has a qualified plan that permits participating associates to defer eligible compensation up to the
maximum limits allowable under the Internal Revenue Code. Beginning January 1, 2014, the Company has a non-qualified
plan which permits participating associates to defer eligible compensation above the limits of the qualified plan. The
Company contributes a matching percentage of employee contributions under both the qualified and non-qualified plans.
Effective January 1, 2014, the Company's matching contribution to the qualified plan was enhanced for all participating
employees, with limited exceptions. Prior to January 1, 2014, the matching contribution rate under the qualified plan was
higher for those employees not eligible for the Pension Plan than for employees eligible for the Pension Plan.

The liability related to the qualified plan matching contribution, which is reflected in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, was $103 million at February 2, 2019 and $101 million at February 3, 2018.
Expense related to matching contributions for the qualified plan amounted to $96 million for 2018, $93 million for 2017
and $94 million for 2016.

At February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the liability under the non-qualified plan, which is reflected in other
liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, was $27 million and $25 million, respectively. The liability related to the
non-qualified plan matching contribution, which is reflected in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets, was $2 million at February 2, 2019 and $1 million at February 3, 2018. Expense related to matching
contributions for the non-qualified plan amounted to $1 million for 2018 and 2017, and $2 million for 2016. In connection
with the non-qualified plan, the Company had mutual fund investments at February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018 of $27
million and $25 million, respectively, which are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.
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Pension Plan

The following provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets, and funded status of the Pension Plan as
of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018:

2018 2017
(millions)
Change in projected benefit obligation
Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year ...........cccccevevveieiienesieieieieeeeee $ 3271 § 3,469
NS 0 (ST o7 ] SRS 5 6
TNEEIESE COST .ttt ettt ettt ettt e 109 104
Actuarial (AIN) LOSS .uvvevieiieriieriierieiteritereet ettt ettt ettt e e ebeenee 27 82
Benefits Paid......ccccvevieiiiiieieeee et sttt ne (347) (390)
Projected benefit obligation, end of Year .........ccccoovevieieiirinieeee e 3,011 3,271
Changes in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year..........cccccvevveviriiienieenieeieeeeeeeeeeeeee 3,409 3,374
Actual 1eturn On Plan @SSELS ........ecevierieriereiieieiere ettt sae e (44) 425
ComPaNy CONEIIDULIONS ....veeueeietieeieiestesieete e cete et esee e te st eneeeesteseeeseeneeneeseeseeene — —
Benefits Paid.....c.cecvieriieriieiieiieie ettt ettt et e b e eaeenns (347) (390)
Fair value of plan assets, end Of Year .........cccceeveriirriieiienieieeeieeeee e 3,018 3,409
Funded status at end 0f Year.......c.cceviriieriiricieieee e $ 7 $ 138
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at
February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018
ONET @SSELS ....eviveeieiietiieeiet et ettt et e b et te st et e st et e b eseeseesesent et esseneesessesseneesenean $ 7 $ 138
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss at
February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018
INEt ACTUATIAL LOSS ...ttt ettt e et saaesaaesaaeenee s $ 1,109 $ 992

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Pension Plan was $3,010 million as of February 2, 2019 and $3,268
million as of February 3, 2018.

F-31
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Net pension costs, settlement charges and other amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss for the Pension Plan
included the following actuarially determined components:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)
Net Periodic Pension Cost
SEIVICE COSL ..vrviuiriiireriteiieiiteeetese ettt es et esssses s s bbb ssseseseas $ 5 8 6 S 5
INEEIEST COST .ovtiuriiiriiiiieieicecete ettt 109 104 108
Expected return 0n @ssetS........ccooeeeeeecierienieneeieniesesie e eeeenes (206) (223) (227)
Amortization of net actuarial 10SS .........cccevieiiercieniienieiiecieceeeeee 28 31 31
Amortization of prior service credit........ccovvververcvenceenienienieneeneenns — — —
(64) (82) (83)
Settlement Charges........voveeriieriieniieieeee e 78 89 68
Other Changes in Plan Assets and Projected Benefit Obligation
Recognized in Other Comprehensive Loss
Net actuarial (ain) 10SS .....eecvevierieiiieieeieeie e 223 (120) (120)
Amortization of net actuarial 10SS ........cccccevveieciererenieieeeeee (28) 3D (€28)
Settlement Charges ........o.eeeeeeeririnieeere e (78) (89) (68)
117 (240) (219)
Total reCOGNIZEd .......c.covviiiiiiiiicicc s $ 131 $ (233) § (234)

The estimated net actuarial loss for the Pension Plan that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive
loss into net periodic benefit cost during 2019 is $30 million.

The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine the projected benefit obligations for the
Pension Plan at February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018:

2018 2017
DISCOUNE TALE ...ttt ettt sttt ettt ettt sttt s nenesae 4.03% 3.74%
Rate of cCOMPENSAtioN INCTEASES ......c..c.erverreieiriirieiietintetet ettt ettt ese s st seeneene 4.00% 4.00%

The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine the net periodic pension cost for the Pension
Plan:

2018 2017 2016
Discount rate used to measure SErvice Cost.........coveveenennn.. 3.77% - 4.46% 3.75% - 4.06% 3.79% - 4.26%
Discount rate used to measure interest Cost ..........cceeeenneee. 3.39% - 4.06% 3.12%-3.31% 2.96% - 3.30%
Expected long-term return on plan assets ..........cccceveeneenee. 6.75% 7.00% 7.00%
Rate of compensation iNCreases .........ccooeverereecrereeresennnns 4.00% 4.10% 4.10%

The Pension Plan’s assumptions are evaluated annually, and at interim re-measurements if required, and updated as
necessary. Due to settlement accounting and re-measurements during 2018, 2017 and 2016, the discount rate used to
measure service cost and the discount rate used to measure interest cost varied between periods. The table above shows the
range of rates used to determine net periodic expense for the Pension Plan.
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The discount rate used to determine the present value of the projected benefit obligation for the Pension Plan is based
on a yield curve constructed from a portfolio of high quality corporate debt securities with various maturities. Each year’s
expected future benefit payments are discounted to their present value at the appropriate yield curve rate, thereby
generating the overall discount rate for the projected benefit obligation.

The Company develops its expected long-term rate of return on plan asset assumption by evaluating input from
several professional advisors taking into account the asset allocation of the portfolio and long-term asset class return
expectations, as well as long-term inflation assumptions. Expected returns for each major asset class are considered along
with their volatility and the expected correlations among them. These expectations are based upon historical relationships
as well as forecasts of how future returns may vary from historical returns. Returns by asset class and correlations among
asset classes are combined using the target asset allocation to derive an expected return for the portfolio as a whole. Long-
term historical returns of the portfolio are also considered. Portfolio returns are calculated net of all expenses, therefore, the
Company also analyzes expected costs and expenses, including investment management fees, administrative expenses,
Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation premiums and other costs and expenses. As of February 2, 2019, the Company
lowered the assumed annual long-term rate of return for the Pension Plan's assets from 6.75% to 6.50% based on expected
future returns on the portfolio of assets.

The assets of the Pension Plan are managed by investment specialists with the primary objectives of payment of
benefit obligations to Plan participants and an ultimate realization of investment returns over longer periods in excess of
inflation. The Company employs a total return investment approach whereby a mix of domestic and foreign equity
securities, fixed income securities and other investments is used to maximize the long-term return on the assets of the
Pension Plan for a prudent level of risk. Risks are mitigated through asset diversification and the use of multiple investment
managers. The target allocation for plan assets is currently 30% equity securities, 63% debt securities, 2% real estate and
5% private equities.

The Company generally employs investment managers to specialize in a specific asset class. These managers are
chosen and monitored with the assistance of professional advisors, using criteria that include organizational structure,
investment philosophy, investment process, performance compared to market benchmarks and peer groups.

The Company periodically conducts an analysis of the behavior of the Pension Plan’s assets and liabilities under
various economic and interest rate scenarios to ensure that the long-term target asset allocation is appropriate given the
liabilities.
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The fair values of the Pension Plan assets as of February 2, 2019, excluding interest and dividend receivables and
pending investment purchases and sales, by asset category are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements

Quoted Prices in Significant Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(millions)
Short term INVEStMENtS...........c.cceevieveeeeirirrereereereeeenane $ 1 3 — 3 1 $ —
Money market funds..........cceceeviereneeiecieneneeeeeennn 33 33 — —
Equity securities:
ULS. StOCKS....uvieieeieeiecie ettt 117 117 — —
U.S. pooled funds.........ccoeevvevveeveeeciniieieeeeeeenn 398 398 — —
International pooled funds (a) 347 78 — —
Fixed income securities:
U.S. Treasury bonds ........ccccooerirerceneneneneecenen. 52 — 52 —
Other Government bonds ...........ccoecvevverveneeneeenne. 53 — 53 —
Agency backed bonds ..........ccooeviieieiienienieienen, 11 — 11 —
Corporate bonds .........cocevveeerinrenievnencneeinieeeenen 513 — 513 —
Mortgage-backed securities ..........ceceerereneenenee. 15 — 15 —
Asset-backed SECUTTHES .......cveveveeeerieiieeieeie e 11 — 11 —
Pooled funds..........oooovveeviiieiieeeeeee e 1,270 1,270 — —
Other types of investments:
Real €State (a) - eweereereesmessemnrmnriniineieisiiss 56 — — —
Private equity () +ereeereeemrenn e 185 — — —
Derivatives in a positive position.................eeee... 6 — 6 —
Derivatives in a negative position...............cc........ 2) — 2) —
TOtaAL..eeeeeeeeeeee e $ 3,066 $ 1,896 $ 660 $ _

(a) Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share as a practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value
hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in these tables are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented in the
fair value of plan assets.
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The fair values of the Pension Plan assets as of February 3, 2018, excluding interest and dividend receivables and
pending investment purchases and sales, by asset category are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements

Quoted Prices in Significant Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(millions)
Short term investments.. $ 5% — 5 8 —
Money market funds..........cceceeviereneeiecieneneeeeeennn 35 35 — —
Equity securities:
ULS. StOCKS....uvieieeieeiecie ettt 157 157 — —
U.S. pooled funds.........ccoeevvevveeveeeciniieieeeeeeenn 481 481 — —
International pooled funds (a) .. 447 114 — —
Fixed income securities:
U.S. Treasury bonds ........ccccooerirerceneneneneecenen. 44 — 44 —
Other Government bonds ...........ccoecvevverveneeneeenne. 59 — 59 —
Agency backed bonds ..........ccooeviieieiienienieienen, 13 — 13 —
Corporate bonds .........cocevveeerinrenievnencneeinieeeenen 538 — 538 —
Mortgage-backed securities ..........ceceerereneenenee. 15 — 15 —
Asset-backed SECUTTHES .......cveveveeeerieiieeieeie e 6 — 6 —
Pooled funds..........oooovveeviiieiieeeeeee e 1,310 1,310 — —
Other types of investments:
Real estate (a) 148 — — —
Private equity (a) 183 — — —
Derivatives in a positive position.................eeee... 9 — 9 —
Derivatives in a negative position...............cc........ 3) — 3) —
TOAL.c.eeeeieieceeeee e $ 3,447 $ 2,097 $ 686 $ —

(a) Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share as a practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value
hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in these tables are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented in the
fair value of plan assets.

Corporate bonds consist primarily of investment grade bonds of U.S. issuers from diverse industries.

The fair value of certain pooled funds including equity securities, real estate, hedge funds and private equity
investments represents the reported net asset value of shares or underlying assets of the investment as a practical expedient
to estimate fair value. International equity pooled funds seek to provide long-term capital growth and income by investing
in equity securities of non-U.S. companies located both in developed and emerging markets. There are generally no
redemption restrictions or unfunded commitments related to these equity securities.
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Real estate investments include several funds which seek risk-adjusted return by providing a stable, income-driven
rate of return over the long term with high potential for growth of net investment income and appreciation of value. The
real estate investments are diversified across property types and geographical areas primarily in the United States of
America. Private equity investments have an objective of realizing aggregate long-term returns in excess of those available
from investments in the public equity markets. Private equity investments generally consist of limited partnerships in the
United States of America, Europe and Asia. Private equity and real estate investments are valued using fair values per the
most recent financial reports provided by the investment sponsor, adjusted as appropriate for any lag between the date of
the financial reports and the Company’s reporting date.

Due to the nature of the underlying assets of the real estate and private equity investments, changes in market
conditions and the economic environment may significantly impact the net asset value of these investments and,
consequently, the fair value of the Pension Plan’s investments. These investments are redeemable at net asset value to the
extent provided in the documentation governing the investments. However, these redemption rights may be restricted in
accordance with the governing documents. Redemption of these investments is subject to restrictions including lock-up
periods where no redemptions are allowed, restrictions on redemption frequency and advance notice periods for
redemptions. As of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, certain of these investments are generally subject to lock-up
periods, ranging from one to nine years, certain of these investments are subject to restrictions on redemption frequency,
ranging from daily to four times per year, and certain of these investments are subject to advance notice requirements. As
of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, the Pension Plan had unfunded commitments related to certain of these
investments totaling $49 million and $64 million, respectively.

The Company does not anticipate making funding contributions to the Pension Plan in 2019.

The following benefit payments are estimated to be paid from the Pension Plan:

(millions)
Fiscal year
$ 325
287
269
260
235
1,018
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Supplementary Retirement Plan

The following provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of the supplementary
retirement plan as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018:

Change in projected benefit obligation

Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year ...........cccccevevveieiienesieieieieeeeee

SEIVICE COSt cuvvivieiieniieniieiie e
Interest COSt ..cooviririiiniieeieeiee e
Actuarial (gain) loSS .....ccceevveriverieerrenienns
Benefits paid.........cccooeeieieieneieeee

Projected benefit obligation, end of year
Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of Year..........cccccvevveveriiieniienieeieneeeeieeeeeee

Company contributions .............cceceevenens
Benefits paid........ccccooeiinieneieee
Fair value of plan assets, end of year ......
Funded status at end of year..........c.cccecveneene.

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at

February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Other liabiliti€S.....ccuvvvevveeeieeeiiiiieeieieeenen

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss at

February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018

Net actuarial 10SS ......cccveeveeevviieeeiieeeennen.
Prior Service CoSt.......oovvevrerevireeeireeeeineens

2018 2017
(millions)
703 $ 747
23 22
) 20
(73) (36)
644 703
73 86
(73) (86)
(644) 8 (703)
68) $ (69)
(576) (634)
(644) $ (703)
218 § 244
6 7
224§ 251

The accumulated benefit obligation for the supplementary retirement plan was $644 million as of February 2, 2019

and $703 million as of February 3, 2018.
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Net pension costs, settlement charges and other amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss for the
supplementary retirement plan included the following actuarially determined components:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)
Net Periodic Pension Cost
SETVICE COSL w.vrvivrriaiaieieieetetese ettt s s sssssasa st s et s s enenanaas $ — 3 — $ —
INEEIEST COST .ovtiuriiiriiiiieieicecete ettt 23 22 22
Amortization of net actuarial 10SS .........cocevvecerineiniencncnincceeee 7 8 9
Amortization of Prior SErViCe COSt ......everuerrrurrieierierieeeeeeereeseeeeeenes 1 1 —
31 31 31
Settlement Charges........cvovverierieriierieeeee e 10 16 30
Other Changes in Plan Assets and Projected Benefit Obligation
Recognized in Other Comprehensive Loss
Net actuarial (ain) 10SS .....eccveeveeiiiiieieeiecie e 9 20 26
Amortization of net actuarial 10SS .........ecceevveerieriieniienierieieeeeee @) ®) )
Amortization of Prior SErViCe COSt ......ecvrruerrrrieierierierieeeeierieseeeeeenes (1) €)) —
Settlement Charges ........o.eeeeeeeririnieeere e (10) (16) (30)
27 ©) 3)
Total TECOZNIZEA ....evevviiieiieeieie ettt sae e ennens $ 14 3 42 3 48

The estimated net actuarial loss and prior service cost for the supplementary retirement plan that will be amortized
from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic benefit cost during 2019 is $8 million.

The following weighted average assumption was used to determine the projected benefit obligations for the

supplementary retirement plan at February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018:

2018 2017
DIASCOUNT TALE ..ottt ettt e et e et e e e e e e e e e et e eaeeeeaeeeenseeenseeeneeeennesennesenneeas 4.10% 3.78%

The following weighted average assumption was used to determine net pension costs for the supplementary
retirement plan:

2018 2017 2016
Discount rate used to measure interest COSt.........ooovvvvvrevvvuveerrennnn. 3.39% - 4.09% 3.10% - 3.26% 2.65% -3.16%

The supplementary retirement plan’s assumptions are evaluated annually, and at interim re-measurements if required,
and updated as necessary. Due to settlement accounting and re-measurements during 2018, 2017 and 2016, the discount
rate used to measure interest cost varied between periods. The table above shows the range of rates used to determine net
periodic expense for the supplementary retirement plan.

The discount rate used to determine the present value of the projected benefit obligation for the supplementary
retirement plan is based on a yield curve constructed from a portfolio of high quality corporate debt securities with various
maturities. Each year’s expected future benefit payments are discounted to their present value at the appropriate yield curve
rate, thereby generating the overall discount rate for the projected benefit obligation.
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The following benefit payments are estimated to be funded by the Company and paid from the supplementary
retirement plan:

(millions)
Fiscal year
20T et e b e a et h e bt ebe e a e sae et ennennenae e $ 68
2020 ettt e ettt et e et et e aeeae e st et et e eheeneen s et e st ene et et eteeneens 48
202 et h b e et h e bt e ettt e bt bt s ettt bt e st et et e eas 47
2022 .ttt ettt b e bbbttt e ae et n et et eas 46
2023 ettt h et h e bt et et b e bt eb et ae b bt eaeennenae b eae 46
2024-2028......eeeeeee ettt ettt ettt a et et e teent et e aeateeneene e tenteeneeneeneenenee 211
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10. Postretirement Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits

In addition to pension and other supplemental benefits, certain retired employees currently are provided with
specified health care and life insurance benefits. Eligibility requirements for such benefits vary by division and subsidiary,
but generally state that benefits are available to eligible employees who were hired prior to a certain date and retire after a
certain age with specified years of service. Certain employees are subject to having such benefits modified or terminated.

The following provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets, and funded status of the postretirement
obligations as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018:

2018 2017
(millions)
Change in accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation, beginning of year......................... $ 156 § 186
TS 0 (ST o0 ] SRS — —
TNEETESE COST .ttt ettt et et 5 5
Plan amendment ..........cceevueeiieiiieiieeeie ettt ettt et beeaeennes — (10)
ACHUATIAL GAIN ... ettt saeenaas (11) ©)
Medicare Part D SUDSIAY .....cocvevueevirieieiesieeeeee e — 1
Benefits Paid.....c.cccuieiiieiiieiieieeie ettt ettt et et beeaeennes (13) (17)
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation, end of year..........cccceevververeennnene 137 156
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year...........coocveveveniiinieceeceeeeeeee — —
CompPany CONIIDULIONS ....e.veeueeiiiietieieiesteete et et ettt ettt ee e sbesbe e eneesaeseene 13 17
Benefits Paid.....c.cecieriieriieiieiieie ettt et e eaeennes (13) (17)
Fair value of plan assets, end Of Year .........ccvevvevierieieieieecceeeee e — —
Funded status at end 0f YEaT .........ccecieiirieieiiieieieeet ettt $ 137) $ (156)
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at
February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ...........cooeeerirereiirieeeee e $ (15) $ 17
Oher HaDIIITIES .....eueeueeieeiiet ettt (122) (139)
$ (137) $ (156)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss at
February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018
NEt ACTUATIAL GAIN ....eviieeieiieieieieteeeee ettt b et et seseese s esseseese s $ 41) $ (35)
Prior SEIVICE CTEAIL ...uvieiieiieiieiiecieeie ettt et te et e be et eeteebeesbeesbeenseesaeennas 9 (10)
$ (50) $ (45)

F-40



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Net postretirement benefit costs and other amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss included the following
actuarially determined components:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)
Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost
SETVICE COSL w.vrvivrriaiaieieieetetese ettt s s sssssasa st s et s s enenanaas $ $ $ —
INEEIEST COST .ovtiuriiiriiiiieieicecete ettt 5 5 6
Amortization of net actuarial ain ..........ccccceeveeierierereeieeeeeee 5) %) @)
Amortization of prior service Credit.........covvvvrreererereeieieereeeeene (1) — —
€)) 2
Other Changes in Plan Assets and Projected Benefit Obligation
Recognized in Other Comprehensive Loss
Net actuarial ZAIN .......ccveecveeiierieeie e (11) ) (13)
Amortization of net actuarial ain ..........ccccceevveveeriereneeieieeeeeene 5 5 4
Amortization of prior service Credit.........coovrreriererererieiereeeeeene 1 — —
Prior SErvice CIedit .......ocverieeierieiieeieeiecie e (10) _
) (1) ©)
Total TECOZNMIZEA ......o.vvieeeeeieeeeeeeeeeee et $ ©6) $ (14) $ @)
The estimated net actuarial gain and prior service credit that will be amortized from accumulated other
comprehensive loss into net periodic postretirement benefit cost during 2019 is $7 million.
The following weighted average assumption was used to determine the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligations at February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018:
2018 2017
DHSCOUNLE TALE ... eueeetitentet ettt ettt ettt ettt st ettt eb b e et eb et s bt e b e e e ene 4.02% 3.71%
The following weighted average assumption was used to determine the net postretirement benefit costs for the
postretirement obligations:
2018 2017 2016
Discount rate used to measure interest COSt ......vevirriereereerreereesieenreennes 3.28% 3.17% 3.14%

The accumulated postretirement benefit obligation assumptions are evaluated annually, and at interim re-
measurements if required, and updated as necessary.

The discount rate used to determine the present value of the Company’s accumulated postretirement benefit
obligations is based on a yield curve constructed from a portfolio of high quality corporate debt securities with various
maturities. Each year’s expected future benefit payments are discounted to their present value at the appropriate yield curve
rate, thereby generating the overall discount rate for the accumulated postretirement benefit obligations.

The Company estimates the interest cost component of net periodic benefit costs using a full yield curve approach in
the estimation of these components of net periodic benefit costs. Under this approach, the Company applies discounting
using individual spot rates from the yield curve composed of the rates of return from a portfolio of high quality corporate
debt securities available at the measurement date. These spot rates align to each of the projected benefit obligation and
service cost cash flows.
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The future medical benefits provided by the Company for certain employees are based on a fixed amount per year of
service, and the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation is not affected by increases in health care costs. However,

the future medical benefits provided by the Company for certain other employees are affected by increases in health care
costs.

The following provides the assumed health care cost trend rates related to the Company’s accumulated postretirement
benefit obligations at February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018:

2018 2017
Health care cost trend rates assumed for NEXt Year ........cccvevverveneeneenveneeneenieennes 538%-931%  5.50% - 10.50%
Rates to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline
(the ultimate trend TALe)..........cocveeueierieiieeeeeeeete ettt ettt ettt 4.5% 4.5%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate..........ccoceeeevviieeiiieeeeiiiieeeeeieeen, 2027 2027

The assumed health care cost trend rates have an impact on the amounts reported for the accumulated postretirement

benefit obligations. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following
effects:

1 — Percentage 1 — Percentage
Point Increase Point Decrease
(millions)
Effect on total of service and INterest COSt........oivimmimmriiriiiiieeieeeeeee e eree e e $ — 3 —
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligations ...........ccoeevevververeenennnne. $ 7 8 (6)

The following table reflects the benefit payments estimated to be funded by the Company and paid from the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligations and estimated federal subsidies expected to be received under the Medicare
Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003:

Expected Expected
Benefit Federal
Payments Subsidy
(millions)
Fiscal Year

2009 et et ettt et et ettt ettt et e bt eates $ 15 % —
2020 et e ettt ettt et ettt ettt et e aaeeats 14 —
2021 ettt h e bttt h e e he et e st bt s bt bt et be b ene 13
2022 1ottt et h ettt h e ettt e it nre st eae 13 —
2023 ettt e b ettt ettt ettt et e bt ettt et et et eates 12 —
2024-2028....eeeeeeee ettt ettt ettt sttt et eats 47 1
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11. Stock-Based Compensation

The following disclosures present the Company’s equity plans on a combined basis. The equity plans are
administered by the Compensation and Management Development Committee of the Board of Directors (the “CMD
Committee””). The CMD Committee is authorized to grant options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and restricted
stock units to officers and key employees of the Company and its subsidiaries and to non-employee directors. The equity
plans are intended to help the Company attract and retain directors, officers, other key executives and employees and is
also intended to provide incentives and rewards relating to the Company’s business plans to encourage such persons to
devote themselves to the business of the Company. There have been no grants of stock appreciation rights under the equity
plans.

Stock option grants have an exercise price at least equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the
date of grant, have ten-year terms and typically vest ratably over four years of continued employment. Restricted stock and
time-based restricted stock unit awards generally vest one to four years from the date of grant. Performance-based
restricted stock units generally are earned based on the attainment of specified goals achieved over the performance period.

As of February 2, 2019, approximately 20 million shares of common stock were available for additional grants
pursuant to the Company’s equity plans. Shares awarded are generally issued from the Company's treasury stock.

Stock-based compensation expense included the following components:

2018 2017 2016
(millions)
SEOCK OPLIONS ...ovvieiveeieeteet ettt ettt et $ 24§ 34 3 43
Restricted StOCK UNILS ..........ooveiiiieeeeieeeee et 39 24 18
$ 63 $ 58 % 61

All stock-based compensation expense is recorded in SG&A expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Stock Options

The fair value of stock options granted during 2018, 2017 and 2016 and the weighted average assumptions used to
estimate the fair value are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
Weighted average grant date fair value of stock options
granted during the period...........c.ccoeveveviviereirieeieeeeeee e $ 743 $ 584 $ 12.14
Dividend yield ......cocoveiriinieiiiniicince s 52% 6.2% 3.8%
Expected VOIatility......cccoevueiiinenieiiinicienecee e 41.1% 41.8% 42.7%
Risk-free INtEIeSt TatE .....c..evevrieuiririeirieieerieeertc ettt 2.7% 1.9% 1.4%
EXPECted Life.....ooiiieiiciieieieeceeeee e e 5.6 years 5.7 years 5.7 years

The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. The Company estimates the expected volatility and expected option life assumption consistent with ASC Topic 718,
Compensation — Stock Compensation. The expected volatility of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant is
estimated based on a historic volatility rate and the expected option life is calculated based on historical stock option
experience as the best estimate of future exercise patterns. The dividend yield assumption is based on historical and
anticipated dividend payouts. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on observed interest rates consistent with the
expected life of each stock option grant. The Company uses historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and
records stock-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected to vest. Compensation expense is
recorded for all stock options expected to vest based on the amortization of the fair value at the date of grant on a straight-
line basis primarily over the vesting period of the options.
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Activity related to stock options for 2018 is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Life Value
(thousands) (years) (millions)
Outstanding, beginning of period ...........ccccevervrrrennnn. 20,376 $ 38.80
Granted .......ocveeeeierieeeeieere e 1,495 29.53
Canceled or forfeited .........occoovrieieniiirieeceeee, (794) 47.93
EXEICiSed....c.ooviviiiiiiiiiciiccecce e (2,184) 21.02
Outstanding, end of period .........ccccoevrerieienencnceene 18,893 § 39.73
Exercisable, end of period ..........cccooeieineneininee 12,960 $ 41.93 45 § 18
Options expected t0 VESt........cceererereeerenieieereeenee 4937 $ 34.37 80 $ 3
Additional information relating to stock options is as follows:
2018 2017 2016
(millions)
Intrinsic value of Options EXErCiSEd..........ovvuruerrurreiiiiriririeteieieieeee et $ 27§ 38 12
Cash received from stock options exercised 45 6 35

As of February 2, 2019, the Company had $25 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to nonvested
stock options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2.0 years.

Restricted Stock Units

The weighted average grant date fair values of performance-based and time-based restricted stock units granted
during 2018, 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
Restricted stock units (performance-based) ...........ccccevveviiieievienniirneneans $ 30.64 $ 27.16 $ 43.72
Restricted stock units (time-based) .........cccvevvereerienieneenieniieeeeeieene 25.57 20.75 35.61

During 2018, 2017 and 2016, the CMD Committee approved awards of performance-based restricted stock units to
certain senior executives of the Company. Each award reflects a target number of shares (“Target Shares”) that may be
issued to the award recipient. These awards may be earned upon the completion of three-year performance periods ending
January 30, 2021, February 1, 2020, and February 2, 2019, respectively. Whether units are earned at the end of the
performance period will be determined based on the achievement of certain performance objectives over the performance
period. The performance objectives include achieving an EBITDA as a percent to sales ratio, owned plus licensed
comparable sales growth and a return on invested capital ratio. The performance-based restricted stock units also include a
performance objective relating to relative total shareholder return (“TSR”). Relative TSR reflects the change in the value
of the Company’s common stock over the performance period in relation to the change in the value of the common stock of
a twelve-company executive compensation peer group over the performance period, assuming the reinvestment of
dividends. Depending on the results achieved during the three-year performance periods, the actual number of shares that a
grant recipient receives at the end of the period may range from 0% to 150% of the Target Shares granted.
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The fair value of the Target Shares and restricted stock awards are based on the fair value of the underlying shares on
the date of grant. The fair value of the portion of the Target Shares that relate to a relative TSR performance objective was
determined using a Monte Carlo simulation analysis to estimate the total shareholder return ranking of the Company
among a twelve-company executive compensation peer group over the remaining performance periods. The expected
volatility of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant was estimated based on a historical average volatility rate
for the approximate three-year performance period. The dividend yield assumption was based on historical and anticipated
dividend payouts. The risk-free interest rate assumption was based on observed interest rates consistent with the
approximate three-year performance measurement period.

The fair value of a restricted stock unit award at the grant date is equal to the market price of the Company's common
stock on the grant date. Compensation expense is recorded for all restricted stock unit awards based on the amortization of
the fair market value at the date of grant over the period the restrictions lapse or over the performance period of the
performance-based restricted stock units. As of February 2, 2019, the Company had $48 million of unrecognized
compensation costs related to nonvested restricted stock units, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of approximately 2.5 years.

Activity related to restricted stock units for 2018 is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Shares Fair Value
(thousands)
Nonvested, beginning Of PEriod..........c.ecveriiririeienierieiieieere ettt se e ees 3,157 § 30.51
Granted — performance-based............cceirerieiriniiiineerercee et e 749 30.64
Performance adjuStment. ..........c.ooueiuieieierieiieee ettt (455) 43.72
Granted — tIME-DASEA ........cooouviiiiiiiie ettt e e e e et e eaaes 1,427 25.57
FOTTRIEEA. .. e eveeeeiiee ettt ettt ettt a e b e et e ete e st esbesbeesaeseensessenseeseensensens (203) 25.94
VESEEA. ...ttt ettt ettt ettt n et et et e n e et e tense e st eneenteeseereeneennennen (532) 40.43
Nonvested, end 0f PEriod ........cecveriiiiieee e e 4,143 $ 26.33
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12. Shareholders’ Equity

The authorized shares of the Company consist of 125 million shares of preferred stock (“Preferred Stock™), par value
of $.01 per share, with no shares issued, and 1,000 million shares of common stock, par value of $.01 per share, with 333.6
million shares of common stock issued and 307.5 million shares of common stock outstanding at February 2, 2019, and
with 333.6 million shares of common stock issued and 304.8 million shares of common stock outstanding at February 3,
2018 (with shares held in the Company’s treasury being treated as issued, but not outstanding).

The Company retired 8.0 million shares of common stock during 2016. No shares of common stock were retired
during 2018 and 2017.

Commencing in January 2000, the Company’s board of directors has from time to time approved authorizations to
purchase, in the aggregate, up to $18,000 million of common stock, which includes the Company's board of directors
approval of an additional authorization to purchase common stock of $1,500 million on February 26, 2016. All
authorizations are cumulative and do not have an expiration date. During 2016, the Company purchased approximately 7.9
million shares of common stock under its share repurchase program for a total of $316 million. As of February 2, 2019,
$1,716 million of authorization remained unused. The Company may continue or, from time to time, suspend repurchases
of its shares under its share repurchase program, depending on prevailing market conditions, alternative uses of capital and
other factors.

Common Stock

The holders of the common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a
vote of shareholders. Subject to preferential rights that may be applicable to any Preferred Stock, holders of common stock
are entitled to receive ratably such dividends as may be declared by the Board of Directors in its discretion, out of funds
legally available.

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock contains shares repurchased under the share repurchase program, shares repurchased to cover
employee tax liabilities related to stock plan activity and shares maintained in a trust related to deferred compensation
plans. Under the deferred compensation plans, shares are maintained in a trust to cover the number estimated to be needed
for distribution on account of stock credits currently outstanding.
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Changes in the Company’s common stock issued and outstanding, including shares held by the Company’s treasury,

are as follows:

Treasury Stock

Common Deferred Common
Stock Compensation Stock
Issued Plans Other Total Outstanding
(thousands)
Balance at January 30, 2016............. 341,606 (1,170) (30,180) (31,350) 310,256
Stock issued under stock plans......... (87) 1,612 1,525 1,525
Stock repurchases
Repurchase program ................. (7,874) (7,874) (7,874)
Other......ccoveveeieeeeee e %) 5) 5)
Deferred compensation plan
distributions ........cceceeeveeveecveennnnn. 161 161 161
Retirement of common stock ........... (8,000) 8,000 8,000 —
Balance at January 28, 2017............. 333,606 (1,096) (28,447) (29,543) 304,063
Stock issued under stock plans......... (119) 590 471 471
Stock repurchases
Other......covieieieeeee e, (38) (38) (38)
Deferred compensation plan
distributions .........ceceeeveeieecvennnenne, 269 269 269
Balance at February 3, 2018............. 333,606 (946) (27,895) (28,841) 304,765
Stock issued under stock plans......... (106) 2,756 2,650 2,650
Stock repurchases
Other......ccooivieieieeeeeeeee 6) (6) (6)
Deferred compensation plan
distributions .......c.cccceeeveeeieeiennnnn, 111 111 111
Balance at February 2, 2019............. 333,606 (941) (25,145) (26,086) 307,520

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

For the Company, the only component of accumulated other comprehensive loss for 2018, 2017 and 2016 relates to
post employment and postretirement plan items. The net actuarial gains and losses and prior service costs and credits
related to post employment and postretirement benefit plans are reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss
and included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost (income) and are included in benefit plan income, net in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. In addition, the Company incurred the pro-rata recognition of net actuarial losses
associated with an increase in lump sum distributions associated with store closings, organizational restructuring, and
periodic distribution activity as settlement charges in the Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 9, "Retirement
Plans," and Note 10, "Postretirement Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits," for further information.
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13. Fair Value Measurements and Concentrations of Credit Risk

The following table shows the Company’s financial assets that are required to be measured at fair value on a
recurring basis, by level within the hierarchy as defined by applicable accounting standards:

February 2, 2019

February 3, 2018

Fair Value Measurements

Fair Value Measurements

Quoted Prices Quoted Prices
in Active in Active
Markets for Significant Significant Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservable Identical Observable  Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(millions)
Marketable
equity and
debt securities....... $101 $ 27 % 74 $ — $117 $ 25 3 922 —

Other financial instruments not measured at fair value on a recurring basis include cash and cash equivalents,
receivables, certain-short term investments and other assets, short-term debt, merchandise accounts payable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt. With the exception of long-term debt, the carrying amount approximates
fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. The fair values of long-term debt, excluding capitalized
leases, are generally estimated based on quoted market prices for identical or similar instruments, and are classified as
Level 2 measurements within the hierarchy as defined by applicable accounting standards.

The following table shows the estimated fair value of the Company’s long-term debt, excluding capital leases and
other obligations:

February 2, 2019 February 3, 2018
Notional Carrying Fair Notional Carrying Fair
Amount Amount Value Amount Amount Value
(millions)
Long-term debt ........cocveevieviiiieiiereiceeeeee $ 4671 $ 4683 $ 4407 $§ 5806 $ 5835 $§ 5751

The following table shows certain of the Company’s long-lived assets, which includes tangible and intangible assets,
that were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis during 2018 and 2017:

February 2, 2019 February 3, 2018
Fair Value Measurements Fair Value Measurements
Quoted Prices Quoted Prices
in Active in Active
Markets for Significant Significant Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservable Identical Observable  Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(millions)
Long-lived assets ..... $24 % — 3 — 3 24 $24 3% — 3 — § 24

During 2018, long-lived assets with a carrying value of $84 million were written down to their fair value of $24
million, resulting in asset impairment charges of $60 million. During 2017, long-lived assets with a carrying value of $77
million were written down to their fair value of $24 million, resulting in asset impairment charges of $53 million. The fair
values of these assets were calculated based on the projected cash flows and an estimated risk-adjusted rate of return that
would be used by market participants in valuing these assets or prices of similar assets.
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Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of
temporary cash investments. The Company places its temporary cash investments in what it believes to be high credit
quality financial instruments.

14. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Macy's, Inc. Shareholders

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to Macy's, Inc.
shareholders:

2018 2017 2016

Net Net Net
Income Shares Income Shares Income Shares

(millions, except per share data)

Net income attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders

and average number of
shares outstanding ................. $ 1,108 306.8 $ 1,566 3045 $§ 627 307.6

Shares to be issued under
deferred compensation
and other plans..........cccceceeee. 0.9 0.9 0.9

§ 1,108 307.7 $ 1,566 3054 § 627 308.5

Basic earnings per share
attributable to Macy's,
Inc. shareholders............... $ 3.60 $ 5.13 $ 2.03

Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options, restricted
stock and restricted
stock units..........cceevveeeenns 3.7 1.4 2.3

$ 1,108 3114 $ 1,566 306.8 $ 627 310.8

Diluted earnings per share
attributable to Macy's,
Inc. shareholders............... $ 3.56 $ 5.10 $ 2.02

In addition to the stock options and restricted stock units reflected in the foregoing table, stock options to purchase
15.3 million shares of common stock and restricted stock units relating to 0.9 million shares of common stock were
outstanding at February 2, 2019, stock options to purchase 16.6 million of shares of common stock and restricted stock
units relating to 0.9 million shares of common stock were outstanding at February 3, 2018, and stock options to purchase
15.5 million of shares of common stock and restricted stock units relating to 1.1 million shares of common stock were
outstanding at January 28, 2017, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, because their inclusion would have been antidilutive or
they were subject to performance conditions that had not been met.
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15. Quarterly Results (unaudited)

Unaudited quarterly results for the last two years were as follows:

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

(millions, except per share data)

2018:

NEt SALES...coveeeeeeeeeeee e $ 5541 $ 5572 $ 5404 $ 8,455
Credit card revenues, Net .........ccocevvevvuveeeeiineeeennns 157 186 185 240
CoSt OF SALES....ceeieeeiieiiriieeeee e (3,382) (3,320) (3,226) (5,288)
Selling, general and administrative expenses........ (2,083) (2,164) (2,255) (2,538)
Gains on sale of real estate ..........ccceceevvenencnienne 24 46 42 278
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and

OthEr COSES ...oviiiiiiiieicicc e (19) 17 3) o7
Benefit plan income, net.........coccoceeeeveenencncncenne. 11 11 9 8
Settlement charges..........ccoeeeverereeenienenncneeenens — (50) (23) (15)
Net income attributable to Macy's, Inc.

shareholders ........c.ccoevevcienencniniinicncnncecene, 139 166 62 740
Basic earnings per share attributable to

Macy's, Inc. shareholders ..........ccccecevincnennnene 0.45 0.54 0.20 2.40
Diluted earnings per share attributable to

Macy's, Inc. shareholders ..........c.ccccevirenennnee 0.45 0.53 0.20 2.37

2017:

NEt SALES....viiiieiieieiecieeietee e $ 5350 $ 5,636 $ 5281 $ 8,672
Credit card revenues, Net...........ccoeveeeeveeeereeeenneenne.. 161 167 145 229
CoSt OF SALES...cecvivenieiriericeeeecce e (3,303) (3,403) (3,152) (5,323)
Selling, general and administrative expenses........ (2,057) (2,161) (2,188) (2,548)
Gains on sale of real estate ..........ccceceeverineeienens 68 43 65 368
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and

OthEr COSES ..ttt — — (33) (152)
Benefit plan income, net.........ccooeveeeeneneneecenee. 13 14 15 15
Settlement charges.........cocecveverererieneneneneenenn — (51) (22) 32)
Net income attributable to Macy's, Inc.

shareholders ...........coovieeiiieiiiccieeee e 78 111 30 1,347
Basic earnings per share attributable to

Macy's, Inc. shareholders ..........c.ccoeceeininennne. 0.26 0.36 0.10 441
Diluted earnings per share attributable to

Macy's, Inc. shareholders ..........c.ccoeceeinenennnne. 0.26 0.36 0.10 4.38

Note: Annual results may not equal the sum of the quarterly results for the respective periods due to rounding conventions.
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16. Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

Certain debt obligations of the Company described in Note 6, "Financing," which constitute debt obligations of
Parent’s 100%-owned subsidiary, Macy’s Retail Holdings, Inc. (“Subsidiary Issuer”), are fully and unconditionally
guaranteed by Parent. In the following condensed consolidating financial statements, “Other Subsidiaries” includes all
other direct subsidiaries of Parent, including Bluemercury, Inc., FDS Bank, West 34th Street Insurance Company New
York, Macy's Merchandising Corporation, Macy’s Merchandising Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries Macy's Merchandising
Group (Hong Kong) Limited, Macy's Merchandising Group Procurement, LLC, Macy’s Merchandising Group
International, LLC, Macy's Merchandising Group International (Hong Kong) Limited, and Macy's China Limited.
“Subsidiary Issuer” includes operating divisions and non-guarantor subsidiaries of the Subsidiary Issuer on an equity basis.
The assets and liabilities and results of operations of the non-guarantor subsidiaries of the Subsidiary Issuer are also
reflected in “Other Subsidiaries.”

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensive Income for 2018, 2017 and 2016, Consolidating Balance
Sheets as of February 2, 2019 and February 3, 2018, and the related Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
for 2018, 2017, and 2016 are presented on the following pages.
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MACY’S, INC.
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income
For 2018
(millions)
Subsidiary Other Consolidating
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net SAlES...couveiiriiiieieiecreee e $ — 3 9,051 $ 23720 $ (7,800) $§ 24,971
Credit card revenues (expense), Net.........ccoceerueenee — 3) 771 — 768
CoSt 0f SALES ... — (5,786) (17,229) 7,800 (15,215)
Selling, general and administrative expenses........ — (3,509) (5,530) — (9,039)
Gains on sale of real estate ...........cccceeverenrrennene — 141 248 — 389
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and
OthET COSES o, — (33) (103) — (136)
Operating income (10SS).......cccveereerierieneeneeneenne — (139) 1,877 — 1,738
Benefit plan income, net..........occoceveeievencncnenne — 15 24 — 39
Settlement Charges .........ccevevereeerienecneniereennne ®) (30) (53) — (88)
Interest (expense) income, net:
External........cccooveinincinncineceeceeeene 20 (260) 4 — (236)
Intercompany .........cccoceveciiiiinciiinciiine — (72) 72 — —
Losses on early retirement of debt........................ — (33) — — (33)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries..........c.cccecenee. 1,104 345 — (1,449) —
Income (loss) before income taxes ..........coeceeveenee 1,119 (174) 1,924 (1,449) 1,420
Federal, state and local income
tax benefit (€XPense) .....c.cocecevevererveerrieenerenene (11) 219 (530) — (322)
NEt INCOME...cuviviiieiieieierieeiieee e 1,108 45 1,394 (1,449) 1,098
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest..... — — 10 — 10
Net income attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders.............ccccoeveveveneann. $ 1,108 $ 45 8 1,404 § (1,449) §$ 1,108
Comprehensive income (10S8)........coceevvevererennene $ 1,045 $ 1s5) $ 1,353 § (1,348) $ 1,035
Comprehensive loss attributable to
noncontrolling iNterest ..........ocevvvereervereennenns — — 10 — 10
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders...........cccoceeuvvrinnnenne $ 1,045 § (15) § 1,363 ' §  (1,348) § 1,045
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MACY’S, INC.
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income
For 2017
(millions)
Subsidiary Other Consolidating
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
NEt SALES....ievieeieeieeiie ettt $ — 3 9,490 $§ 23,317 $ (7,868) $§ 24,939
Credit card revenues (expense), Net.........ccoceerueenee — 2) 704 — 702
CoSt OF SAIES ..c.veveeeieecieicecrerec e — (6,122) (16,927) 7,868 (15,181)
Selling, general and administrative expenses........ — (3,426) (5,528) — (8,954)
Gains on sale of real estate ...........cocoovvevevevereennns — 201 343 — 544
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and
OthET COSES ..venvinreiiriiieiieientee ettt — (40) (146) — (186)
Operating iNCOME........cceeuerrerueererenreenrinreeeennene — 101 1,763 — 1,864
Benefit plan income, net..........ccoooeveevierenenenenne — 22 35 — 57
Settlement charges..........cccoceveeveineneeinenccneinnns — (35) (70) — (105)
Interest (expense) income, net:
External.......cccccooivieieieieneeceeeeeee e — (313) 3 — (310)
Intercompany ......c..cocceceveneneneeeencnenicncne — (139) 139 — —
Gains on early retirement of debt ...........ccceenee — 10 — — 10
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries..........c..cccccennee. 1,574 773 — (2,347) —
Income before incCOmMe taxes .........ceeeeereereruennene 1,574 419 1,870 (2,347) 1,516
Federal, state and local income
tax benefit (EXPense) ........ccecveeeeveeecverenerennns ®) 356 (309) — 39
NEt INCOME.....enveuevirenieiinienieeeiertereeeeieeeneeeereseene 1,566 775 1,561 (2,347) 1,555
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest..... — — 11 — 11
Net income attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders...........coceeerenrnennen. $ 1,566 $ 775 $ 1,572 $ (2,347) $ 1,566
Comprehensive iNCOME .........ccveeruereeeeeeseeieenenes $ 1,738  $ 935 § 1,673 §  (2,619) §$ 1,727
Comprehensive loss attributable to
noncontrolling interest ............coceeveeeeereneeennen. — — 11 — 11
Comprehensive income attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders...........ccocevvevvnrrnennen. $ 1,738  $ 935 $ 1,684 $ (2,619) $ 1,738
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MACY’S, INC.
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income
For 2016
(millions)
Subsidiary Other Consolidating
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
NEt SAIES...oviviierieieeetieeeeeee e $ — $ 10,735 $ 23,508 $ (8,335 $§ 25908
Credit card revenues (expense), Net.........ccoceerueenee — 17 639 — 656
CoSt OF SAIES ..c.euveeieecieicceec e — (6,818) (17,183) 8,335 (15,666)
Selling, general and administrative expenses........ 2) (3,899) (5,356) — (9,257)
Gains on sale of real estate ...........cceceeeeiererennenne — 95 114 — 209
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and
OthET COSES ..euvvniieriirieieieie e — (295) (184) — (479)
Operating income (108s).........cccovrucurrreccnececnnnns ?2) (165) 1,538 — 1,371
Benefit plan income, net..........ccoooeeeeeierenenenene — 21 34 — 55
Settlement charges..........cccoceveeveinienieinenccneinnns — (34) (64) — (98)
Interest (expense) income, net:
External.......cccccooevieieieieeeceeeeeee e 2 (366) 1 — (363)
Intercompany ......c..cocceccevveneninceeencnenicncne — (200) 200 — —
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries..........c..c.cccenee. 627 267 — (894) —
Income (loss) before income taxes...........cocueeeen. 627 477) 1,709 (894) 965
Federal, state and local income
tax benefit (EXPense) ......ocevveeeervrvevereeneeeennnns — 278 (624) — (346)
Net income (10SS).....veeveeeeeieiieeieeiesieeeeeeeeieenne 627 (199) 1,085 (894) 619
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest..... — — 8 — 8
Net income (loss) attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders.........c.ccoeeceeencniecnnene $ 627 % (199) $ 1,093 $ (894) $ 627
Comprehensive income (10Ss).....c..coecevvevereennenne $ 774 % (52) $ 1,164 $  (1,120) $ 766
Comprehensive loss attributable to
noncontrolling interest ............cocveeveveererereennn. — — 8 — 8
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to
Macy's, Inc. shareholders.............ccceerrrinirinnnnne $ 774 $ (52) $ 1,172 '§  (1,120) § 774
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MACY’S, INC.
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of February 2, 2019
(millions)
Subsidiary Other Consolidating
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS:
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents...................... $ 889 $ 59 $ 214§ — 3 1,162
Receivables..........ccoeueincinnccincinnee — 68 332 — 400
Merchandise inventories ........................ — 2,342 2,921 — 5,263
Prepaid expenses and other current
ASSELS oo — 143 477 — 620
Total Current Assets........cocceeunne. 889 2,612 3,944 — 7,445
Property and Equipment —net...........c..c........ — 3,287 3,350 — 6,637
GOOAWIlL ...veiiiiiii e — 3,326 582 — 3,908
Other Intangible Assets — net.........c.c.ccceeuenee. — 38 440 — 478
Other ASSELS.....ccvvveveiriieieiieiereereseeeenees — 41 685 — 726
Deferred Income Taxes..........cccecveivenenennene. 12 — — (12) —
Intercompany Receivable..........c.cccevevieenene 1,713 — 1,390 (3,103) —
Investment in Subsidiaries...........c.ccccervrnenne. 4,030 3,119 — (7,149) —
Total ASSEtS....oeveverreeeerrieieieeenns $ 6,644 $§ 12423 $ 10,391 $ (10,264) $§ 19,194
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY:
Current Liabilities:
Short-term debt.........ccoeevvvviveiiieieeiiieas $ — 42 3 1 $ — 3 43
Merchandise accounts payable............... — 713 942 — 1,655
Accounts payable and accrued
LHabilities ....evevvrveeererreiieeeeerceeeene 170 950 2,246 — 3,366
Income taxes.......coceerveeveneeneenienneneene 14 52 102 — 168
Total Current Liabilities................ 184 1,757 3,291 — 5,232
Long-Term Debt.......ccccoverenininiiininininene — 4,692 16 — 4,708
Intercompany Payable ...........cc.coccevenenincne — 3,103 — (3,103) —
Deferred Income Taxes........cccevevererveieennnne — 679 571 (12) 1,238
Other Liabilities........ccoveveevieerieiieciesiieeneeane 24 406 1,150 — 1,580
Shareholders’ Equity:
Macy's, InC. .coeeveeieiciciceee 6,436 1,786 5,363 (7,149) 6,436
Noncontrolling Interest ...........cc.ccceneee. — — — — —
Total Shareholders’ Equity............ 6,436 1,786 5,363 (7,149) 6,436
Total Liabilities and
Shareholders’ Equity ................. $ 6,644 $ 12423 § 10,391 § (10,264) § 19,194
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

MACY’S, INC.
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of February 3, 2018
(millions)
Subsidiary Other Consolidating
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS:
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents...................... $ 1,109 § 58 $ 288 $ — 3 1,455
Receivables......c.ccoviveinineneiniicenenn — 85 278 — 363
Merchandise inventories ........................ — 2,344 2,834 — 5,178
Prepaid expenses and other current
ASSELS oo — 165 485 — 650
Total Current Assets...........ccoeuen... 1,109 2,652 3,885 — 7,646
Property and Equipment —net....................... — 3,349 3,323 6,672
GOOAWIlL ...veiiiiiii e — 3,315 582 3,897
Other Intangible Assets —net.......c..ccoceeueneene. — 44 444 488
Other ASSELS.....ccvvveveiriieieiieiereereseeeenees 1 89 790 — 880
Deferred Income Taxes..........ccoecveiveieenene. 11 — — (11) —
Intercompany Receivable..........c.cccevevieenene 884 — 2,381 (3,265) —
Investment in Subsidiaries...........c.ccccervrnenne. 4,032 4,119 — (8,151) —
Total ASSEtS....oeveverreeeerrieieieeenns $ 6,037 $ 13568 $ 11,405 $ (11,427) $§ 19,583
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY:
Current Liabilities:
Short-term debt.........ccoeevvvviveiiieieeiiieas $ — 6 $ 16 $ $ 22
Merchandise accounts payable............... — 653 937 1,590
Accounts payable and accrued
LHabilities ....evevvrveeererreiieeeeerceeeene 159 980 2,132 3,271
Income taxes.......coceerveeveneeneenienneneene 113 30 153 296
Total Current Liabilities................ 272 1,669 3,238 5,179
Long-Term Debt.......ccccoverenininiiininininene — 5,844 17 — 5,861
Intercompany Payable ...........cc.coccevenenincne — 3,265 — (3,265) —
Deferred Income Taxes........cccevevererveieennnne — 559 600 (11) 1,148
Other Liabilities........ccoveveevieerieiieciesiieeneeane 20 430 1,212 — 1,662
Shareholders’ EQUity: .......cccocevvecvvircnccnennee
Macy's, InC. .coeeveeieiciciceee 5,745 1,801 6,350 (8,151) 5,745
Noncontrolling Interest .........ccccccceveuennee — — (12) 12)
Total Shareholders’ Equity ............ 5,745 1,801 6,338 (8,151) 5,733
Total Liabilities and
Shareholders’ Equity ................. $ 6,037 $§ 13,568 $§ 11,405 $ (11,427) $ 19,583
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

MACY’S, INC.
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For 2018
(millions)
Subsidiary Other Consolidating
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Cash flows from operating activities:
NEt INCOME ...t $ 1,108 $ 45 $ 1,394 §  (1,449) § 1,098
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and
Other COSES..cuveuiiiiriiiiieieccee e — 33 103 — 136
Settlement charges ...........ccccceveeieverienienreeneene. 5 30 53 — 88
Gains on sale of real estate............coccceveeueuennnn — (141) (248) — (389)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries.................... (1,104) (345) — 1,449 —
Dividends received from subsidiaries.............. 1,040 200 — (1,240) —
Depreciation and amortization......................... — 334 628 — 962
Changes in assets, liabilities and other items
not separately identified ...............ccoevenennenn. 1) 198 (266) (1) (160)
Net cash provided by
operating activities ..........ccevveeeeereenneenne 958 354 1,664 (1,241) 1,735
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment and
capitalized software, net...........cccccuvevveennenne. — (135) (323) — (458)
Other, Net.......ooiiiiiieccc, — (16) (33) 51 2
Net cash used by investing activities........ — (151) (356) 51 (456)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Debt repaid.........ccocoeiiiiiiiiiiiiis — (1,098) (1 (50) (1,149)
Dividends paid ........ccceceverenirininieincneecnne (463) — (1,240) 1,240 (463)
Issuance of common stock, net of common
stock acquired..........cceeeeeecienieneeieiee e 45 — — — 45
Proceeds from noncontrolling interest............. — — 7 — 7
Intercompany activity, net...........cceceeererennnnne (767) 875 (108) — —
Other, NEL.....uvvieiieiieieeceeee s 7 5 4 - 16
Net cash used by
financing activities ...........cceevevvereereenenn (1,178) (218) (1,338) 1,190 (1,544)
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and
restricted Cash.........coooeeiiiiiiii (220) (15) 30) — (265)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
beginning of period..........cccoevevieievierienienienene. 1,109 79 325 — 1,513
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
end of period ........ccoevvveveieeeiiceiceeeee e $ 889 $ 64 $ 205§ — 3 1,248
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

MACY’S, INC.
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For 2017
(millions)
Subsidiary Other Consolidating
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Cash flows from operating activities:
NEt INCOME ...t $ 1,566 $ 775 $ 1,561 $§  (2,347) § 1,555
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and
Other COSES....ooviiiiiiiiriiicecceecee _ 40 146 _ 186
Settlement charges ..........cccoeveeveevveeerierresreeneene. — 35 70 — 105
Gains on sale of real estate...............cccoeeinn — (201) (343) — (544)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries.................... (1,574) (773) — 2,347 —
Dividends received from subsidiaries.............. 903 450 — (1,353) —
Depreciation and amortization...........c..ccceeee. — 354 637 — 991
Changes in assets, liabilities and other items
not separately identified ............c.ccoovveennee.. 14 79 (410) — (317)
Net cash provided by
operating activities ...........ccecververuereennnns 909 759 1,661 (1,353) 1,976
Cash flows from investing activities:
Disposition (purchase) of property and
equipment and capitalized software, net...... — 68 (417) — (349)
Other, Net.......oooiiiiicieceee e — 7 9) — (2)
Net cash provided (used) by
investing activities .........occceevevverueuenuene — 75 (426) — (351)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Debt repaid......c.cccovevveineneneinicicncecne — (987) 1) — (988)
Dividends paid..........ccccovciniiniiciniciiene (461) — (1,353) 1,353 (461)
Common stock acquired, net of
issuance of common stock...........cccccevirennen. 5 — — — 5
Proceeds from noncontrolling interest.............. — — 13 — 13
Intercompany activity, Net..........c.cceevveerveenenne. (427) 249 178 — —
Other, Net......c.ovieiiiriciciecceeeee 145 (98) (62) — (15)
Net cash used by financing activities ..... (738) (836) (1,225) 1,353 (1,446)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash...........ccccoooiiniin 171 ) 10 — 179
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
beginning of Period.........cccccveveerierienveniennenne 938 81 315 — 1,334
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
end of period .......c.ccvevviviiieieieei e $ 1,109 $ 79 $ 325 $ — 5 1,513
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

MACY’S, INC.
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For 2016
(millions)
Subsidiary Other Consolidating
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (1088) c...cvvevererrerenecreeieiererrerererenne $ 627 $ (199) $ 1,085 $ (894) $ 619
Restructuring, impairment, store closing and
OthET COSES..uviiiiiiiiiieieeeeeee e _ 295 184 _ 479
Settlement charges ..........ccoeeveeevevcieicieecieeieeene — 34 64 — 98
Gains on sale of real estate...........cccccceverenene — (95) (114) — (209)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries.................... (627) (267) — 894 —
Dividends received from subsidiaries.............. 957 575 — (1,532) —
Depreciation and amortization...........c.ccccecne. — 407 651 — 1,058
Changes in assets, liabilities and other items
not separately identified ............ccccerverrennenne. 138 (312) (70) — (244)
Net cash provided by
operating activities ......c..coceeceevuererennnene 1,095 438 1,800 (1,532) 1,801
Cash flows from investing activities:
Disposition (purchase) of property and
equipment and capitalized software, net ...... — 13 (252) — (239)
Other, Net.....cccoveevireiinieeirecreeeeeeeeeeene — (18) 14 — 4)
Net cash used by
investing activities.........oevveererecenenne. — ®)) (238) — (243)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Debt repaid......c.cccoevevveeneneniiinienceecene — (753) (1) — (754)
Dividends paid..........cccooeeinccnincinnciieene (459) — (1,532) 1,532 (459)
Common stock acquired, net of
issuance of common stockK............cccccvrueuenenn (280) — — — (280)
Proceeds from noncontrolling interest............. — — 6 — 6
Intercompany activity, net...........cceceeererennene (144) 233 (89) — —
Other, NEL......vvieiieeieeeeeceeee e (15) 27 49 — 61
Net cash used by
financing activities ........c.ccceverervecnnennee (898) (493) (1,567) 1,532 (1,426)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash...........ccocoveeniiiiiinicnnnn 197 (60) (5) — 132
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
beginning of period ........c.ccoceceveneriicninencnenne. 741 141 320 — 1,202
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at
end of period ........cocevvvveveivieiiceieeee e $ 938 $ 81 $ 315§ — 3 1,334
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Macy'’s is America’s store for life. The largest retail brand of Macy’s, Inc. (NYSE:M) delivers quality fashion at
affordable prices to customers at approximately 650 locations in 43 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico,
and Guam, as well as to customers in more than 100 international destinations through leading e-commerce site
macys.com. Macy’s inspires fashion exploration and discovery through the most desired family of exclusive and
curated brands for her, for him, for the home, and via our dynamic mobile and social platforms. We know the
power of celebration, demonstrated through decades of memorable experiences created during Macy’s 4th of July
Fireworks®and Macy’s Thanksgiving Day Parade®, as well as spectacular fashion shows, culinary events, flower
shows, and celebrity appearances. Macy'’s flagship stores — including New York City’s Herald Square — are
internationally renowned and preeminent destinations for tourists. With the collective support of our customers and
employees, Macy'’s builds community and helps make a difference in every market we serve, supporting local and
national charities by giving nearly $50 million each year, plus 146,000 hours of volunteer service. For more than
160 years, Macy'’s has, and continues to, make life shine brighter for our customers, colleagues, and communities.

Bluemercury is a luxury beauty retailer, which joined
Macy’s, Inc. through acquisition in 2015. Through 163
specialty stores, 20 stores within Macy’s, and online at
bluemercury.com, Bluemercury is widely recognized as
the nation’s largest and fastest growing luxury beauty
products and spa retail chain. Bluemercury offers a
unique shopping experience where clients receive
unparalleled technical product knowledge, expert
advice and friendly service. In addition to skincare,
makeup, haircare and fragrance products, clients can
be pampered by skincare experts in Bluemercury
spas. The spas are home to the ultimate results-
oriented treatments, including world-renowned oxygen
facials, glycolic peels, waxing and microdermabrasion.
In addition to growing its footprint, Bluemercury

has created two fast-growing private brands: M-61
Powerful Skincare and Lune+Aster Cosmetics.

Bloomingdale’s is America’s only nationwide,
full-line, upscale department store and is widely
recognized for its originality, innovation and fashion
leadership. It is a contemporary and “of the moment”
brand with an omnichannel approach focused on
providing a seamless customer experience from
in-store to online. Bloomingdale’s is truly “Like

no other store in the world” (the brand’s famous
tagline) and is a leading attraction for domestic and
international tourists. The brand operates 38 stores,
bloomingdales.com and 17 Bloomingdale’s The Outlet
locations. Bloomingdale’s stores in Dubai and Kuwait
are operated under license agreements with Al Tayer
Insignia, a company of Al Tayer Group LLC.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DAVID P. ABNEY
Chairman and CEO of
United Parcel Service, Inc.

FRANCIS S. BLAKE
Former Chairman and CEO of
The Home Depot, Inc.

JOHN A. BRYANT
Former Chairman, President and
CEO of Kellogg Company

DEIRDRE P. CONNELLY
Former President,
North American Pharmaceuticals
of GlaxoSmithKline

JEFF GENNETTE
Chairman of the Board &
CEO of Macy’s, Inc.

LESLIE D. HALE
President and CEO of
RLJ Lodging Trust

WILLIAM H. LENEHAN
President and CEO of
Four Corners Property Trust, Inc.

SARA LEVINSON
Co-Founder and Director
of Katapult

JOYCE M. ROCHE
Former President and CEO of
Girls Incorporated

PAUL C. VARGA
Former Chairman and CEO of
Brown-Forman Corporation

MARNA C. WHITTINGTON
Former CEO of
Allianz Global Investors Capital

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM

JEFF GENNETTE

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

HAL LAWTON
President

PAULA A. PRICE
Chief Financial Officer

ELISA D. GARCIA
Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

JOHN HARPER
Chief Stores Officer

CHERYL HEINONEN
Senior Vice President,
Corporate Communications
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DANIELLE KIRGAN
Chief Human Resources Officer

NAVEEN KRISHNA
Chief Technology Officer

RICHARD A. LENNOX
Chief Marketing Officer

PATTI ONGMAN
Chief Merchandising Officer

JILL RAMSEY
Chief Product and
Digital Revenue Officer

DOUGLAS W. SESLER
Senior Vice President, Real Estate

RACHEL SHECHTMAN
Brand Experience Officer,
Founder of STORY

TONY SPRING
Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, Bloomingdale’s

MARLA BECK
Chief Executive Officer,
Co-Founder of Bluemercury, Inc.

BARRY BECK
Chief Operating Officer,
Co-Founder of Bluemercury, Inc.



SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

CONTACT US:
macysinc.com/investors

Sign up to have Macy’s, Inc.’s news releases sent
to you via email by subscribing to News Direct.

Get the latest stock price and chart, or take
advantage of the historical price look-up feature.

CALL:

Macy’s, Inc. Investor Relations Department
1-513-579-7028

Macy’s, Inc. News & Information Request Hotline
1-800-261-5385

WRITE:

Macy’s, Inc. — Investor Relations Department
7 West Seventh Street
Cincinnati, OH 45202

Email: Investors@macys.com

MACY’S, INC. SHARES:

Macy’s, Inc.

c/o Computershare
Shareowner Services
P.O. Box 505000
Louisville, KY 40233-5000

1-866-337-3311
(Inside the United States and Canada)

1-201-680-6578
(Outside the United States and Canada)

For the hearing impaired
1-800-231-5469 (TDD)

computershare.com/investor

MIX

Paper from
responsible sources
FSC

wiscog  FSC® C110426
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